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FINANC

{Dollars in thousands, except per share daial)

AL HIGHUGHTS

Yeor Ended December 31 2003 2002 2001
Net Scles - Continving Operations $ 310,947 $ 258,767 $ 238,495
Income From Continuing Operations 15,106 3,864 14,628
loss From Discontinued Operations (20,947) (42,941} (9,265)
Net [Loss) Income {5,841) (39,077) 5,363
Basic Earnings Per Share:

Income From Continuing Operations 1.14 0.30 115

Loss From Discontinued Operations (1.58) (3.30) (0.73)

Net (Loss] Income {0.44) {3.00] 0.42
Diluted Earnings Per Share:

Income From Continuing Operations 1.10 0.28 1.10

Loss From Discontinued Operations {1.53) {3.13) (0.70)

Net {Loss) Income {0.43) {2.85) 0.40
Dividends Per Share 0.40 0.30 0.40
Stockholders” Equity 40,947 47 631 120,344
Stockholders' Equity Per Share 3.09 3.64 ©.35
Sales Backlog - Continuing Operations $ 323,000 $ 301,000 $ 207,000
Shares Ouitstanding 13,267,000 13,068,000 12,872,000
- SALES - INCOME FROM CONTINUING N BACKLOG $323,000
B $310,947 OPERATIONS _ $301,000
- - $14,628 ~

$207,000

$258,767
$238,495

$3,864
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United Industrial Corporation is a company focused on the design and production
of defense systems. Its products and services include unmanned aerial vehicle
systems, test and simulation systems, automated aircraft test and maintenance
equipment, and logistical/engineering services. The company also manufactures
combustion equipment for biomass equipment and refuse fuels.




1O OUR SHAREHOLDERS

The year 2003 was one of considerable strategic progress
for United Industrial Corporation as we moved forward with
our plan to deliver value to our shareholders by focusing on
our core defense businesses.

Over the course of the year, we have continued to align
our capabilities and product offerings to best meet the needs of
an evolving U.S. military agenda. We can proudly look back to
a broad range of operational achievements across our business
platforms that have served to bolster our company’s reputation
for Innovation That Works™

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
Financially, our performance continues to reflect solid

EXITING THE TRANSPORTATION BUSINESS

Importantly, we have substantially reached a long-standing
goal to exit the transportation business. Our AAI subsidiary
completed production deliveries to our affiliate, Electric Transit,
Inc. (ETD), under our last remaining production contract, and
during March 2004 ETI completed the final delivery of all elec-
tric trolley buses under its one remaining contract for the San
Francisco Municipal Railway (MUND.

In addition, in February 2004 an agreement was reached
among ETI, AAT, and MUNI to settle ETI's contract disputes
with MUNL This agreement was subsequently approved by
MUNT's board of directors in March 2004. This agreement
defines a specific scope of final

results from our core defense opera-
tions with significant sales and earn-
ings growth across these businesses.
However, the company’s bottom line
was adversely impacted over the
course of this year by a number of
special items and events discussed
below. Consistent with our account-

Financially, our performance
continues fo reflect solid results
from our core defense operations
with significant sales and earnings
growth across these businesses.

work to be completed by ETI and
releases it from all other perform-
ance and warranty obligations. In
exchange, MUNI received a release
from ETI claims and a cash payment,
offset by MUNI from payments
remaining due under the contract,

ing for our transportation business as a discontinued operation,
revenue and income figures from continuing operations include
only the results of our core defense businesses and Detroit
Stoker, our energy systems subsidiary.

United Industrial’s revenues from continuing operations for
2003 increased 20 percent to $311 million from $259 million in
2002. The company’s pre-tax income from continuing opera-
tions rose 430% to $23.5 million in 2003, including charges
associated with the closing of our former New York headquar-
ters of $0.9 million, pension expense of $6.1 million, and
ashestos-related consulting and legal fees of $0.7 million. Pre-
tax income from continuing operations in 2002 was $4.4 million,
including special charges totaling $17.3 million. Excluding all
special charges and pension-related expenses and income for
both years, the company’s 2003 pre-tax income from continu-
ing operations increased 44% to $31.3 million from $21.7 mil-
lion in 2002. The company’s net income from continuing oper-
ations in 2003 rose 291% to $15.1 million, or $1.10 per diluted
share, from $3.9 million, or $0.28 per diluted share, in 2002.

Reflecting the strong pipeline of business in place across
United Industrial’s core businesses, the company recorded new
bookings during the fourth quarter of $116.4 million, ending
the year with funded backlog of $323.1 million, up 7.2 percent
from $301.4 million at year-end 2002.

AAI guaranteed certain obligations
of ETI and made a cash payment to MUNI in exchange for a
release from its warranty and all other further obligations. This
settlement had no material adverse impact on the company,
and the financial obligations of our subsidiary, AAI, and our
affiliate, ETL, are capped.

Although the 2003 loss for this business was $20.9 million
net of tax, or $1.53 per diluted share, this was down 51.3%
from a loss in 2002 of $42.9 million, net of tax, or $3.13 per
diluted share. While we expect there will be some remaining
expenses associated with winding down the discontinued trans-
portation business, we are confident that the challenges we
have seen in recent years are now substantially behind us.

INITIATIVES TO ENHANCE SHAREHOLDER VALUE
In November 2003 we unveiled a range of initiatives

designed to enhance shareholder value for the long run:
W Stock Buyback - The company’s board of directors
authorized the repurchase of up to $10 million of United
Industrial’s common stock. As of December 31, 2003, a
total of 357,600 shares had been repurchased at an
average price of $10.88 per share, and in January 2004
we essentially completed this program. In total, 576,100
shares were repurchased at an average price of $17.36.



TO OUR SHAREHOLDERS continued

The board has authorized the continuation of the stock
buy-back program. The new authorization allows the
company to repurchase up to an additional $10 million
of common stock, continuing its efforts to enhance share-
holder value.

MW Potential Sale of Detroit Stoker - Consistent with our

ongoing strategy of focusing on our core defense businesses,

we hired an investment bank specializing in middle market
transactions to act as our financial

military into a more accurate, mobile, and technologically
advanced fighting force. We are proud of the technologies and
systems that we have developed, and we are already capitalizing
on steadily rising demand, particularly through our company’s
following platforms:

B Unmanned Aerial Vehicle (UAV) Business - Militaries
across the world increasingly recognize that UAVs can save
soldiers’ lives when deployed for vital surveillance, recon-

advisor in exploring a potential
sale of our Detroit Stoker energy
systems subsidiary. While there
can be no assurance given as to
whether Detroit Stoker will be
sold, the investment banker has
been contacting potential buyers,
and we are confident that this

United Industrial has been
a world-class developer
of tactical UAVs for decades,
and today our UAV business
is wellpositioned to capitalize
on this accelerating demand.

naissance, and target acquisition
tasks. United Industrial has been a
world-class developer of tactical
UAVs for decades, and today our
UAV business is well-positioned to
capitalize on this accelerating
demand. In addition, we have been
providing field service to the US.
soldiers and Marines who use our

process will proceed forward in a
timely and efficient manner.

B Consolidation of Corporate Headquarters - In order to
streamline operations at the corporate level, the company
has closed its New York office, relocating corporate func-
tions to Hunt Valley, Maryland, the home of the company’s
AAJ Corporation defense subsidiary. Although the company
initially absorbed some costs associated with the closure of
the New York office, it is expected that this headquarters
consolidation will generate long-term savings and opera-
tional efficiency.
DEFENSE BUSINESSES POSITIONED FOR
CONTINUING GROWTH
Underpinning the success of our company are our
defense businesses, which have turned in solid performances
over the past several vears and remain well-positioned for
growth in the future. We are focused on the delivery of
niche products and services that play a meaningful role in the
U.S. Defense Department’s vision for reshaping the nation’s

AAL’s new hand-beld Model 527 radar
stimulator, an innovative spin-off from
the company’s premier electronic
combat systems test technology, was

selected in 2003 by an international

customer for flight line testing its
F-15 fighter aircraft.

systems. Logistics support i a grow-
ing segment of our defense business and provides substantial
opportunity for us.

B Joint Service Electronic Combat Systems Tester (JSECST) -
Another key Defense Department program for the company
is the JSECST program. In 2003 we began deliveries of this
new standard in flight line electronic warfare test systems.
The flexibility, coordination, and cost efficiencies that come
with a common testing platform are increasingly essential




to the U.S. military, and we are proud of the vital role we
are plaving in providing this platform.

B Maintenance Training - The central growth program of
our Engineering Support, Inc. (ESD unit continues to be its
work in providing maintenance training products and serv-
ices to the U.S. Air Force in support of its C-17 transport
aircraft. In conjunction with this program, we have worked
with both the Air Force and various Air National Guard
units as well as major private

move quickly to resolve the issue in the best interests of all
parties.

Although we believe we have a strong position in these
matters, we have also been very active in supporting federal
asbestos legislation that would simplify the system of identify-
ing those who have been injured and providing appropriate
restitution. Proposed legislation would further give certainty
and finality to our liability and costs as well as ensure that
those who have been injured get quick assistance.

sector contractors, such as
Boeing. As rapid reaction
and force projection capabili-
ties continue o rise in
importance, we expect

our opportunities to grow
accordingly.

| am confident that,
fogether with our dedicated
and falented employee base,
we will continue to successfully
execute on our strafegies
and grow our core businesses.

SUCCESSFUL MANAGE-
MENT TRANSITION

This past year has been
transitional not only for the
defense industry but also for
the company in terms of its
management and board of
directors. I am pleased to say

Importantly, the above
are only a few of our targeted growth platforms in a strong
and diverse portfolio of technologies and systems. From ship-
board test and training systems in use by the U.S. Navy — and
increasingly adopted by navies abroad — to advanced technolo-
gy systems, such as the TDCue® Automatic Target Scoring
System and the PDCue® Gunfire Location System, United
Industrial has developed a world-class mix of cutting-edge
products and services that will allow the company to flourish in
a defense industry environment that continues to change.

ASBESTOS OVERVIEW

The company’s asbestos liability, a major topic in 2002 with
a rise in claims and large reserves taken to cover any estimated
costs, had minimal impact in 2003. The number of new claims
slowed to a trickle, many existing claims were dismissed, and
the company paid out only §78,000 to settle certain existing
suits, We believe our current reserves are adequate for our
estimate of future exposure through 2012.

The reason for our confidence in this matter is that we
believe we hold a fairly unique position: our Detroit Stoker
subsidiary had employed a small, confined amount of asbestos
as insulation in its industrial stokers up to 1980 and has excel-
lent records that prove where our products were used, the time
of use, and who could have come in contact with any asbestos
associated with our products. We also have sufficient insurance
that currently pays approximately 70 percent of the legal and
settlement costs in those small number of cases where it can be
proven that an individual came in contact with our products
and may have an asbestos-related injury. In those cases we

that the transition has been both smooth and seamless.

Under a succession plan first announced early last year,

I became the president and chief executive officer of United
Industrial in August 2003, In addition, in October Warren
Lichtenstein was elected chairman of the board and a new
board member with significant defense industry experience,
Thomas Corcoran, was added. Most recently another defense
industry veteran, Robert Mehmel, joined the board in the first
quarter of 2004 to help continue our transformation to a
focused defense company.

I would like to take this opportunity to thank both Richard
Erkeneff, who served as president and CEO of our company
for seven years, and Harold Gelb, who served as our company’s
chairman for eight years, for the strong legacy they have left
behind. :

I am confident that, together with our dedicated and
talented employee base, we will continue to successfully
execute on our strategies and grow our core businesses.

We look forward to keeping you apprised of our progress.

Sincerely,

Gt Gt

Frederick M. Strader
President and Chief Executive Officer



BUSINESS SEGMENTS

UNMANNED SYSTEMS

The year 2003 saw major achievements for AAI Corporation’s
Unmanned Systems unit. Production of our flagship RQ-7A
Shadow™ Tactical Unmanned Aerial Vehicle (TUAV) systems for
the U.S. Army continued its momentum as the company was
awarded its second full-raie production contract in the closing
days of the year. Furthermore, in January 2004 AAI received
an addition to its production order for another three Shadow
systems.

As one of the first corn-
panies to successfully field |
an operational tactical
unmanned aerial vehicle
(UAV) system for the U.S.
Department of Defense,
AAT is the only company 0
be selected to proceed into
full-rate production.

By the close of 2003,

30 TUAV systems had been
ordered and 14 delivered —
with full-rate production
running two months ahead of schedule in the company’s effort
to support U.S. Army demand.

Keeping pace with the demand, 16 systems were in produc-
tion by the close of 2003 with deliveries scheduled through
mid-2005.

During the year, the Army deployed four of its delivered
TUAV systems in support of U.S. and coalition forces in
Operation Iraqgi Freedom. Equipped with advanced electro-opti-
cal/infrared payloads that fully support mission requirements,
the Shadow TUAV air vehicles capably withstood Iraq’s hostile
environment, including extreme dust and high temperatures,
recording more than 1,000 sorties and 4,000 flight hours.

Building on the success of unmanned systems, the U.S.
Defense Department is vastly increasing its reliance on these
systems for the armed services, as outlined in its unmanned
aerial vehicles roadmap, by more than doubling its funding
profile from $1.5 billion in the 2003 budget to $3.5 billion by
2010.

Meanwhile, two variant tactical UAV systems from AAI

Corporation also were successfully deployed to Iraq during the
year — Pioneer® systems with the U.S. Marine Corps and a
Shadow 600 system with the Romanian Armed Forces fielded in
support of the Polish Army. It marks the first time that three
different unmanned aerial vehicle svstems from one company
concurrently took part in military operations in the same theatre.
AAT also had remarkable success in 2003 in expanding its
core business base by securing contracts for services related to

“\,/4‘7 IQ/J\A

The U.S. Army
bas ordered
Bts 53 Shadow

h TUAV systems
since 1999.

the U.S. Army TUAV program. In contracts valued at more than
$45 million, we provided an array of performance-based logis-
tics support, including on-site contractor personnel for the 14
systems delivered in 2003, plus spare materials and maintenance
suppott, yielding approximately $19 million in 2003 sales.

Our long-term goal is that these service contracts will rival
the production portion of the TUAV program in value,

There has been increased international interest in our UAV
systems as a result of the successful Shadow TUAV deployments

The U.S. Army deployed
Jour Shadow TUAV systems
in support of US. and
coalition forces in
Operation Iraqgi Freedom —
integral components of the
service’s new high-tech
digital warfare system.

By the end of 2003, Shadow systems had flown nearly 1,000
sorties and 4,000 operational flight hours in Iraq.

AATI's Shadow family was represented internationally as well:
a Shadow 600 UAV systemn operated by the Romanian Armed Forces
Sflew in support of another coalition military unit from Poland.




in Iraq, and we expect opportunities for systems and services
in the international marketplace in 2004 and beyond.

Finally, other markets began developing in 2003 for tactical
UAVs in non-military applications. For example, in the summer
of 2003, the U.S. Army operated a Shadow TUAV system in

support of a multi-agency federal drug smuggling interdiction
initiative along a U.S. border. Further, the Homeland Security
Department plans to evaluate unmanned aerial vehicles, includ-
ing our Shadow TUAV, in 2004 as it develops plans for possible
UAV contributions to anti-terrorism activities.

TEST SYSTEMS

AAI is recognized as a leading
designer and manufacturer of innovative
automated test systems in support of
numerous military aviation require-
ments.

In 2003 our Joint Service Electronic
Combat Systems Tester (JSECST) became
the most widely accepted joint-service
test equipment in its field with contracts
for new systems for use on an array
of U.S. Navy, Marine Corps, and Army
aircraft and rotorcraft.

Together with previcus U.S. Air
Force orders for JSECST systems, the
technology has now expanded across all U.S. military branches.

JSECST is an organizational level test system that tests and
isolates faulty systems and assures flight crews and ground
technicians that aircraft electronic warfare systems are ready
for duty. AAT's JSECST system has been designated by the
Defense Department as the standard flight line electronic
warfare test systeni.

The U.S. Navy production contract to AAl valued at nearly
$16 million, was for 68 JSECST units. AAI will provide JSECST
core test sets and test program sets for use by Navy and Marine
Corps technicians in support of F/A-18A/B, F/A-18C/D, F/A-
18E/F, AV-8B, F-14B/D, and EA-OB aircraft as well as spare
parts and technical data. Work on this order is scheduled
through the third quarter of 2003.

Also included in the Navy contract are test sets for the
U.S. Army, an expansion to that military branch in which AAI
will provide JSECST systems in support of Special Forces CH-47
and MH-60 helicopters.

With two previous significant production awards from the
U.S. Air Force in 2001 and 2002, valued at approximately $84

All four major
U.S. military
branches picked
JSECST units

§ from AAI to tesi
B iheir aircraft
electronic
combat and
avlonics systems.

million, AAI is under con-
tract to provide 236
JSECST units for delivery
to U.S. forces during 2004
and 2005

The Air Force order
includes test software and
interface hardware sets that
adapt the system to a range
of modern fighter aircraft,
including the F-16, F-15,
and A-10.

AAI expanded its
global JSECST customer
base in 2003 with a contract to provide test systems to The
Boeing Company for use on aircraft for an international cus-
tomer.

As part of that international order, AAT received its first
contract award for the Model 527 radar simulator, an initial
spin-off product from JSECST technology. This unique unit is
a hand-held tester that radiates threat patterns to stimulate
electronic warfare systems for pre-flight warning receiver
readiness on flight lines and flight decks.

Altogether, AAI received contracts totaling $5.7 million for
test sets and spare parts to international customers, bringing total
funded backlog for JSECST at year end 2003 to $51 million.

AAT's Advanced Boresight Equipment (ABE), which
features state-of-the-art technology for the precision alignment
of weapons and flight systems accuracy, further expanded its
business base both domestically and internationally in 2003.
Continued success of our ABE product business base is antici-
pated for 2004 as production continues for currently supported
aircraft and opportunities arise for new platforms.



BUSINESS SEGMENTS

TRAINING SYSTEMS

AAT’s leadership in the development of On-Board Training
and Air Defense Radar Simulator Training systems expanded in
2003 with key contracts awarded by U.S. Navy and international
customers.

The concept behind On-Board Training systems and sub-
systems relies on specialized training devices that allow naval
combat personnel to “train where they
fight” onboard their ships. Our number one
priority continued to be the U.S. Navy’s
Total Ships Training (TST) program.

AAT’s Generic Navy Stimulator/
Simulator (GNSS) radar stimulators have
already been installed on 95 U.S Navy
ships and are scheduled for installation
on an additional 50 U.S and six Royal
Australian Navy ships by 2006.

Since the first award in 1998, we have
produced more than 400 GNSS units and
designed 25 variants, with sales in excess
of $70 million, including $6 million in 2003.

In addition, we continued development on a Tactical Data
Link Stimulator for the TST program, for which the Navy has a
requirement for up to 150 systems.

We also continued to support the TST program in develop-
ment of the Virtual At Sea Training (VAST) System, which
allows a ship to practice and train gunfire support in a virtual
environment rather than by firing live ammunition into
a range. Because environmental issues have forced the closure
of several of the U.S Navy live ranges, the VAST system promises
to become an important next-generation training system.

The U.S Navy in 2003 transitioned from Battle Force
Tactical Training (BFTT) to its TST system, extending the num-
ber of ship crew members who train in integrated environments.

Looking ahead, we envision a growing requirement under
TST for expansion of realistic training to bridge watch standers,
damage control personnel, engineers, navigators, and weapons
operators, further preparing ships’ crews for combat.

We are heavily engaged in this transition and have begun
work on a new architecture to support TST in 2004.

In 2003 we expanded our On-Board Training marketplace
to air defense systems. Our product interfaces with an air
defense radar to provide operators a realistic display of any
possible encounter. Two systems were provided to the manu-

facturer of air defense radar for international sale. In 2004 we
expect to expand the market to the U.S. Marine Corps, which
might generate modest sales over the next five years.

In another innovative training technology, we received
important international orders for next-generation Advanced
Moving Target Simulator (AMTS) systems for air defense training.

The U.S. Navy
transitioned to a
Total Ships Training
program in 2003,
and AAI is keeping
pace with neuw,
realistic, on-board
training technologies.

The AMTS system is a simulation technology that provides
superior training results for air defense weapon students while
eliminating the need to actually fire weapons — a very signifi-
cant cost-savings in a virtual training environment.

In a contract valued at $2.5 million, AAI has teamed with
an Italian firm to build, install, and test advanced technology
components to modernize the ltalian Army’s existing MTS II
trainers. The new AMTS product will be delivered in 2004.

Also in 2003, AAI received a $2.2 million order for an AMTS
system in a teaming arrangement with an Australian defense
company. The contract calls for incorporating core AMTS com-
puter graphics and simulation technologies to meet Australia’s
Advanced Air Defence Simulator (AADS) program requirements.
The new AADS AMTS trainer is scheduled for completion and
installation in Australia in the fall of 2004.

In a remarkable 2003
milestone, United Industrial’s
AAI Corporation subsidiary
achieved Level 4 of the

| Software Engineering Institute
Capability Maturity Model,
sponsored by the

U.S. Defense Department,

only 10 montbs after
attaining Level 3.




AIRCRAFT MAINTENANCE TRAINERS

The Defense Department’s requirement for greater mobility
and rapid reaction capabilities continued to increase demand in
2003 for our specialized engineering and logistics services.

With Air Force C-17 Globemaster 1II heavylifter and C-130
Hercules transport aircraft central to these capabilities,
Engineering Support Inc. (ESI) — our engineering and mainte-
nance service business — had a record year, totaling $97.5
million in bookings.

Our six-year-old C-17 program continues to be the single
largest program in ESI's 22-year history, with total contract
value of $275 million by the end of 2003, up from $200 million
the previous year. Backlog stood at $66 million at the end of
2003.

The increase was mainly due to a new $37.7 million

contract for production and delivery of additional C-17 mainte-
nance training devices and engineering support for the Air
Force’s Training System Acquisition 1T (TSA ID program. In
addition, ESI won an $18.9 million design, production, and
modification contract to upgrade all three suites of C-17 trainers.

Upgrade work for the Mississippi Air National Guard
Aircraft Engine Trainer continued with an additional $3.5 million
contract award.

In addition, ESI continued to support the C-130 fleet, the
primary Air Force aircraft for tactical aidlift. ESI is a subcontrac-
tor to The Boeing Company for the Avionics Modernization
Program with an option award of nearly $1 million that has
significant potential for additional C-130 maintenance trainer
work.

SUPPORT SERVICES

Some of our most interesting opportunities have
been unfolding in the support services arena where
many of the same customers who buy our quality
flagship products, such as Shadow TUAV and JSECST
systems, require knowledgeable logistics and mainte-
nance support when those products are deployed
and fielded.

We are already providing an expanding network
of performance-based logistics (PBL) support for
Shadow TUAVs deployed in Iraq and elsewhere by
the U.S. Army and for Pioneer TUAVs deployed with
the Navy and Marine Corps. As more and more
Shadow systems are deployed in coming years, we anticipate
that our support services will grow. In 2003 our tactical UAV
logistics support recorded $19 million in sales.

In addition, we have more than 20 technicians supporting
C-17 maintenance trainer suites at three primary U.S. Air Force
bases, services work worth $2.1 million a year, as well as
another 45 technicians supporting T-45 aircraft requirements at
two U.S. locations, a services contract valued at $3.5 million
annually.

Further, ESI was awarded 2 $5.4 million contract in 2003
for the Navy’s T-45 Ground Based Training Systems logistics
support program. Four additional option years of support serv-
ices are expected to follow for a total value of $27.5 million.

The 6-year-old
atrcraft maintenance
training program for
U.S. Air Force C-17
transport technicians
has a backlog of
approximately $66
million at the end

of 2003.

Also in 2003 we entered into a long-term PBL support con-
tract with the U.S. Navy for fielded JSECST units. The two-year
first stage of the intended 10-year agreement is valued at $4.7
million when completely funded.

EST continues to see growth in engineering and mainte-
nance services opportunities. Factors affecting positive growth
include potential to win training contracts in the new U.S. Air
Force 767 tanker program and our ability to branch out into
other aircraft programs, such as the U.S. Air Force F-22 Raptor
tactical fighter.

As the Defense Department continues to outsource work
it has have traditionally performed itself, we plan to position
ourselves to win additional work.
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D SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION

Transfer Agent, Registrar and Dividend
Disbursing Agent
Shareholders may obtain information relating to
their share position, dividends, transfer require-
ments, lost certificates, and other related matters
by contacting:
American Stock Transfer and Trust Company
6201 151 Avenue
Brooklyn, New York 11219
800-937-3449
www.amstock.com
For information about the company’s Dividend
Reinvestment and Share Purchase Plan, contact:
American Stock Transfer and Trust Company
800.278-4353
www.amstock.com

Shareholder Relations
Security analysts, investment professionals, and
shareholders should direct their inquiries to:
Investor Relations
United Industrial Corporation
P. O. Box 126
Hunt Valley, MD 21030-0126

Independent Auditors
KPMG LLP

1660 International Drive
McLean, VA 22102

Annual Meeting
The Annual Meeting of Shareholders will be held
at 9:00 a.m. on June 10, 2004, at:

Marriott Hunt Valley Inn

245 Shawan Road

Hunt Valley, Maryland 21031

Available Information

United Industrial Corporation’s Annual Reports on
Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q,
Current Reports on Form 8-K, proxy statements and
amendments to those reports are available free of
charge on our Internet Web site at www.unitedin-
dustrial.com as soon as practicable after they are
electronically filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission.

Stock Listing

United Industrial Corporation common stock s
traded on the New York Stock Exchange (Ticker
Symbol: UIO).

Innovation That Works is a service mark of AAI Corporation.
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PART 1

Forward-Looking Statements and Important Factors

This Annual Report contains “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of the Private Securities
Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Such forward-looking statements are based on management’s expectations,
estimates, projections and assumptions. Words such as “expects,” “anticipates,” “intends,” “plans,” “believes,”
“estimates,” and variations of such words and similar expressions are intended to identify such forward-looking
statements which include, but are not limited to, projections of revenues, earnings, segment performance, cash flows
and contract awards. These forward-looking statements are subject to risks and uncertainties which could cause
the actual results or performance of United Industrial Corporation (“United” or the “Company”) to differ materially
from those expressed or implied in such statements. These risks and uncertainties include, but are not limited to,
the following: the Company’s successful execution of internal performance plans; performance issues with key
suppliers, subcontractors and business partners; the ability to negotiate financing arrangements with lenders;
outcome of current and future litigation; the accuracy of the Company’s analysis of its potential asbestos related
exposure and insurance coverage; product demand and market acceptance risks; the effect of economic conditions;
the impact of competitive products and pricing; product development, commercialization and technological
difficulties; capacity and supply constraints or difficulties; legislative or regulatory actions impacting the Company’s
defense segment, energy segment and discontinued transportation operation; changing priorities or reductions in
the U.S. Government defense budget; contract continuation and future contract awards; and U.S. and international
military budget constraints and determinations.

The Company intends that all forward-looking statements it makes will be subject to the safe harbor protection
of the federal securities laws found in Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21E of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934,

These statements speak only as to the date when they are made. The Company makes no commitment to update
any forward-looking statement or to disclose any facts, events or circumstances after the date hereof that may affect
the accuracy of any forward-looking statements. See “Risk Factors” under Item 7 herein for important factors that
could cause the Company’s actual results to differ materially from those suggested by the Company’s forward-
looking statements contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

ITEM 1. BUSINESS

At December 31, 2003, the continuing operations of United Industrial Corporation consisted of two business
segments: defense and energy. These operations are conducted principally through two wholly-owned subsidiaries,
AAI Corporation (“AAI”) and Detroit Stoker Company (“‘Detroit Stoker”). During 2003, the Company continued
its strategy to focus its efforts on the defense business. The Company’s transportation operation is treated as a
discontinued operation. Although production in .the discontinued transportation operation ceased in 2003, the
Company will continue to have its own warranty obligations and may continue funding the operations and warranty
obligations of its 35% owned affiliate through 2014.

Defense Segment

Defense is the Company’s largest business segment and consists of the continuing operations of its wholly-owned
subsidiary, AAL The U.S. Government, principally the U.S. Department of Defense, is the Company’s main customer.

AAI engineers, develops, manufactures and supports unmanned aerial vehicle (“UAV”) systems, electronic warfare
("EW?”) test and training systems, military and commercial training simulators for combat systems, avionics and aircraft
maintenance and automated test systems for avionics and boresight systems. In addition, AAI provides sophisticated
engineering, logistics, and maintenance services to the U.S. Department of Defense and international customers, which
complement AAI’s key product platforms, as well as those of other original equipment manufacturers.

AAT’s advanced products designed for military customers include:
¢ The Shadow 200 Tactical Unmanned Aerial Vehicle (“TUAV”) system, the U.S. Army’s TUAV platform

¢ The AN/USM-670 Joint Services Electronic Combat Systems Tester (“JSECST”), which is employed by
all U.S. military branches to ensure optimal airborne electronic warfare operations



e Permanently installed radar stimulator/simulators for naval ships

o Specialized engineering and logistics services for the defense and aerospace industry like those designed
by the Company to increase the flexibility and mobility of the U.S. Air Force’s C-17 aircraft Maintenance
Training System ‘

AAT’s other aerospace products, which are utilized by numerous military and commercial customers worldwide,
offer superior test and maintenance capabilities for the F-16 aircraft, many Boeing airframes, various General Electric
and Pratt & Whitney aircraft engines, and other aviation equipment. AAT also supplies its high quality aerospace test
equipment to provide depot maintenance services to domestic and foreign military aviation customers.

In 2003 and 2002, approximately 80% and 77%, respectively, of AAI’s sales volume consisted of research,
development and production of military items under contracts with the U.S. Government. International defense contracts,
including foreign military sales through the U.S. Government, accounted for 12% of AATI’s sales in 2003 as compared
to 20% in 2002. These contracts generally related to UAYV, test, and training systems for foreign governments.

Sales to the U.S. Government normally carry a smaller profit margin than domestic and international
commercial military sales. Under certain circumstances as prescribed by the Federal Acquisition Regulations
(“FAR”), the U.S. Government may be entitled to a price re-determination and may also terminate contracts at its
option. These risks are mitigated by protections on AAl’s intellectual property, substantial requirements on the
Government to meet certain specific criteria in the FAR and by AAI working closely with its customers to ensure
AAI meets their expectations.

Unmanned Aerial Vehicles

In the UAV business area, AAI is one of the few companies to have successfully fielded operational UAV
systems for the U.S. Department of Defense. AAI first began development work in the UAV product line in 1986,
producing the highly successful RQ-2 Pioneer UAV (“Pioneer”) through a joint venture with Israel Aircraft
Industries. The Pioneer has been employed by the United States in Operation Desert Storm and in the conflicts
in Somalia and Bosnia. In 1999, AAI was awarded a contract to provide the next generation of tactical UAVs to
the U.S. Army, the RQ-7 Shadow 200 TUAYV. Since then, AAI has been awarded two additional production contracts
and various support services contracts. Recently, the RQ-7 Shadow 200 TUAYV has been deployed in support of
military units in Afghanistan as well as in Iraq. In addition, AAT has other UAV systems and products that it markets
internationally. Major competitors in this area include Northrop-Grumman Corporation, General Atomics, Sagem
SA and Israel Aircraft Industries.

Test Systems

AAUD’s principal products in test systems are the JSECST, the Model 527 Radar Simulator and the Advanced
Boresight Equipment system (“ABE”). The Company also offers development services to support the application
of these products to specific aircraft or applications.

The JSECST is an organizational level (flight line) test system that assures aircraft electronic warfare systems
are ready for use. AAI’s JSECST product enjoys the benefit of having been selected as one of the U.S. Department
of Defense’s Family of Testers. As a result, the JSECST is currently planned to support all U.S. military fighter
aircraft. JISECST is a dominant product in the flight line electronic warfare test market area. The U.S. Department
of Defense has already ordered over 300 JSECST systems to be delivered through 2005. This creates a significant
barrier to cornpetitors who may aspire to enter the electronic warfare test equipment niche.

~ The Model 527 Radar Simulator is a portable radio frequency signal generator that realistically simulates threat
signals to verify the operational status of radar warning receivers and the associated cockpit displays and controls.
During 2003, AAI made an initial sale of this JSECST derivative to an international customer.

The ABE is a gyro-stabilized, electro-optical, angular measurement system that is used to align avionics and
weapon systems on-board military aircraft and helicopters. The boresight equipment marketplace is very
competitive and is dominated by AAI and its primary competitor DRS Technologies, Inc. The Company’s
gyroscopic based boresight equipment market share is increasing as new aircraft requirements evolve such as the
C-17 Globemaster, EF2000 Eurofighter, MH-60 Seahawk, AH-1Z Super Cobra and others that are currently
supported by AAI’'s ABE.




In the area of test systems, AAT competes with many large and small organizations that develop equipment
for the U.S. Government and foreign military customers. The Company’s major competitors in the military test
market include BAE Systems PLC, DRS Technologies, Inc. and EDO Corporation.

Training Systems

AAI has been a leader in shipboard training. and simulation systems for over 30 years, having produced its
first systems, the 20B4 and 20BS Pierside trainers, in the 1970’s. AAI currently provides the permanently installed
radar stimulator/simulators for all ships in the U.S. Navy’s Battle Force Tactical Training (“BFTT”) System as well
as the BFTT compatlble portable Carry-On Combat Systems Trainers (“COCST”) that are configurable to any
combat ship.

AAT provides training systems to the U.S. Navy and international customers that allow for the training of
Combat Information Center personnel and operators on their real equipment. The sub-systems initerface to the ship’s
equipment to provide the stimulus needed to make the equipment behave as it would in real world situations.

AAT has developed 27 separate training: subsystems for the U.S: Navy to date and is currently producing these
training sub-systems as needed for installation on U.S. Navy ships. AAl has produced approximately 350
sub-systems, which have been installed on 95 ships. Each training sub-system consists of mostly commercially
available components and one custom interface, designed and built by AAL AAI’s patented design dramatically
reduces the costs of productlon and improves performance of the product. AAI is a sole-source provider of on-board
training sub-systems for the radars, navigation equipment and tactical data link equipment currently in the U.S.
Navy’s inventory. There are no known competitors in this area.

AAI also has a leading position in the development of aircraft maintenance simulators for the U.S. Air Force,
having produced trainers for the Boeing E-3 Airborne Warning and Control System, Northrop-Grumman E-8 Joint
STARS wide-area surveillance aircraft and Boeing C-17 Globemaster cargo aircraft. Major competitors in this area
include Northrop-Grumman Corporation, L-3 Communications, Rockwell Collins and CAE Inc. '

AAI provides- a wide range of engineering, maintenance, and services to various military and Government
customers through its subsidiary, AAIl Engineering Support Incorporated (“ESI”). These services include
engineering and modifications, operation and maintenance, logistics, and training. In' the engineering and
modifications area, ESI’s flagship program is the C-17 aircraft Maintenance Trainer System-program-AAl continues
to modify two trainer suites to maintain concurrency with the C-17 aircraft production line. AAI has also built an
additional suite for the Mississippi Air National Guard and is currently building a fourth suite for the Air Force
at McGuire Air Force Base. In addition, ESI provides operation and maintenance services to the Air Force, Navy,
Marine Corps, and the Army for a wide variety of operational systems including AAI's Shadow 200 TUAV and
the Pioneer UAV systems as well as training systems such as the C-17 Maintenance Trainer System, T-45 Ground
Based Training System, Simulator for Electronic Combat Training (“SECT”), and Compass Call Mission Crew
Simulator (“CCMCS™). In addition, ESI continues to expand into the training arena with additional maintenance
training support for the United Kingdom’s Royal Air Force C-17 aircraft and maintenance training studies for the
U.S. C-130 Avionics Modernization Program (“AMP”). Major competitors include L-3 Communications, DynCorp,
Cublc Corporation and Camber Corporanon

AAT’s administrative offices and its principal manufacturing and engmeermg facilities are located in Hunt
Valley, Maryland. : :

Energy Segment

The Company’s energy segment is conducted through the continuing operations of its wholly-owned subsidiary
Detroit Stoker. Detroit Stoker is a leading supplier of stokers and related combustion equipment for the production
of steam used in heating, industrial processing and electric power generation around the world. Detroit Stoker offers
a full line of stokers for burning bituminous and lig‘nite‘coals as well as biomass, municipal solid waste and industrial
by-products. Detroit Stoker also provides auxiliary equipment and services including fuel feed and ash removal
systems, gas/oil burners and complete aftermarket services for its products, Detroit Stoker’s principal markets
include the pulp and paper industry, public utilities industry, independent power producers industry, industrial
manufacturing, and institutional and cogeneration facilities. Detroit Stoker’s products compete with those of several
other manufacturers. '




Detroit Stoker’s waste to energy technology is used extensively in both public and private plants that generate
steam and power from municipal waste. Its solid fuel combustion technologies are particularly well suited for
biomass fuels that generate power from waste products such as bark, sugar cane husks, sawdust, sunflower hulls
and poultry litter. The combustion of biomass fuels is gaining worldwide popularity, as it does not contribute to
global warming.

Detroit Stoker is a market leader in North America and exports its products to Europe, Asia, South America
and Australia. Detroit Stoker’s globalization strategy is to further expand both its customer and supplier base in
each of these regions.

Detroit Stoker’s administrative offices and its principal manufacturing operations are located in Monroe,
Michigan.

On May 17,2002, Detroit Stoker ceased its foundry operation conducted by Midwest Metallurgical Laboratory,
Inc., a former wholly-owned subsidiary. Detroit Stoker has since been purchasing its necessary castings from lower
cost sources. This decision has improved operating margins. During 2002, Detroit Stoker incurred severance and
other cash charges totaling $1,286,721. In addition, Detroit Stoker wrote off the net book value of the assets related
to its foundry facility of $3,420,245 during 2002.

During the fourth quarter of 2003, the Company engaged Imperial Capital, LLC an investment-banking firm,
to assist the Company in evaluating strategic alternatives concerning Detroit Stoker, including its possible sale. No
assurances can be given regarding whether Detroit Stoker will be sold nor as to the timing or proceeds from any
such sale.

Transportation

The Company’s transportation operation is being accounted for as a discontinued operation. See Note 17 to
the Financial Statements included in Item 8 of this Annual Report. During 2003, the remaining obligations of this
operation involved the completion of a subcontract to support the execution of a program to design and deliver
273 electric trolley buses (“ETB”) to the San Francisco Municipal Railway (“MUNI") by Electric Transit, Inc.
(“ETI”). AAI owns 35% of ETI, and Skoda, a.s. (“Skoda”), a Czech Republic company, owns the remaining 65%,
although during 2001 Skoda declared bankruptcy in the Czech Republic and has been unable to fund its obligations
to ETI pursuant to the shareholders’ agreement. Currently, ETI is in the process of completing the final assembly
and delivery of the remaining ETBs. In addition, ETT is completing a retrofit program that incorporates final design
changes for many of the previously delivered buses. For a more complete description of the Company’s
transportation operation, see Note 16 to the Financial Statements included in Item 8 of this Annual Report.

Additional information about the Company is set forth under the heading “Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” under Item 7 of this Annual Report.

General -

Employees

As of March 1, 2004, United and its subsidiaries had approximately 1,600 employees. In the defense segment,
a union représents approximately 35 employees under two separate collective bargaining agreements each expiring
September 30, 2006. Additionally, a union represents approximately 40 other employees in the energy segment
under a collective bargaining agreement expiring January 26, 2005. United considers its relations with employees
to be satisfactory.

Patents

The Company’s subsidiaries own more than 35 active United States patents, in addition to numerous foreign
patents, relating to various product lines, including electronics, electro-mechanical systems, unmanned aerial
vehicles, ordnance, training and simulation systems, test equipment, hydraulics and stokers. In addition, there are
many patents pending, both in the United States and internationally. There can be no assurance, however, as to how
many of these patents will be issued as a result of these pending applications. No individual patent is considered
to be of material importance to the Company.




Research and Development

During 2003, 2002 and 2001, the Company’s defense segment expended approximately $4,865,000,
$4,431,000 and $5,041,000, respectively, on the independent research and development of new products and
improvements of existing products. In addition to the above amounts, the defense segment is under contract,
primarily with the U.S. Government, to conduct research and development. During 2003, 2002 and 2001, the energy
segment expended approximately $148,000, $157,000 and $479,000, respectively, on research and development
of new products and improvements of existing products. All of the programs and funds to support such programs
are sponsored by the subsidiary involved. -

Funded Backlog

The funded backlog (orders placed for which funds have been appropriated or purchase orders received) of
orders by industry segment at December 31, 2003 and 2002 was as follows:

2003 ' 2002
Defense SEZMENE .. ..vveurenrietteeit ettt ae e $318,307,000  $296,117,000
ENEZY SEEMENE ..\ vutveneintttnetaeeitattaiaaenerneraeeaenss $ 4,880,000 $ 5,299,000

There was no backlog in the discontinued transportation operations at December 31, 2003 as those operations
had completed their deliveries of their one remaining contract. The backlog was $17,811,000 at December 31, 2002.

Except for about $65,685,000, substantially all of the backlog orders at December 31, 2003 are expected to
be filled in 2004.

During 2003 and 2002, fixed price contract sales comprised 67% and 69% of defense segment sales and cost
plus fee type contracts comprised 33% and 31% of such sales.

Government Contracts

No single customer other than the U.S. Government, principally the Department of Defense, accounted for
10% or more of net sales during the year. Sales to the U.S. Government normally carry a lesser margin of profit
than commercial sales and may be subject to price re-determination under certain circumstances. The U.S.
Governmeiit can terminate contracts for such sales at its option.

Financial Information Relating to Industry Segments

For financial segment information, see Note 12 of the Notes to Financial Statements included in Item 8 of
this Annual Report.

. Foreign Operatzons and Export Sales

United and its subsxdlarles have no significant foreign operations. During 2003, 2002 and 2001, export sales
by Un;ted and its subsidiaries amounted to approximately $40,064,000, $66,366,000 and $54,670,000, respectively.

Available Information

The Company’s annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K,
proxy statements and amendments to those reports, are available at http:/www.unitedindustrial.com free of
charge as soon as reasonably practicable after such reports are electronically filed with or furnished to the Securities
and Exchange Commission.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

The Company closed its New York City office on October 31, 2003. The investor relations, corporate secretary
and certain accounting functions previously performed in New York have been relocated to United’s headquarters
at Hunt Valley, Maryland. The Maryland facility is the home of United’s defense subsidiary, AAI Corporation. The
new address of its executive and administrative offices is 124 Industry Lane, Hunt Valley, MD 21030. The lease
related to the facility at 570 Lexington Avenue, New York, New York has been terminated. The following table
sets forth the principal properties owned or leased by United’s subsidiaries as of March 1, 2004.




Approximate . Owned

Location Principal Use Area or Leased
1510 East First Street Machine shop, steel fabrication, 194,910 sq.ft. © Owned in fee
Monroe, MI . engineering and sales facilities floor space on
: of Detroit Stoker . 14.4 acres of land
. 4 ‘ , - (East Building)
1426 East First Street Assembly, shipping and 101,000 sq.ft. : Owned in fee
Monroe, MI administrative facilities of floor space on ' .
Detroit Stoker 2.2 acres of land

(West Building)

Industry Lane Manufacturing, engineering and 429,750 sq.ft. "Owned in fee
Hunt Valley, MD administrative facilities of AAI floor space on 64 ,
acres of land

318 Clubhouse Road . Office space 22,400 sq.ft. . Leased to .
Hunt Valley, MD _— _ ) May_,31, 2009
300 Clubhouse Road Manufacturing, engineering and 82,400 sq.ft. Leased to
Hunt Valley, MD administrative facilities of AAI ‘ ‘April 30, 2005
3200 Enterprise Street Manufacturing, engineering and 131,500 sq.ft. Leased to
Brea, CA~ administrative facilities of ACL April 2009
Technologies ’
1213 Jefferson Davis Office space _ 2,200 sq.ft. ' ~ Leased to
Highway ' ' February 28, 2006
Arlington, VA 22202
1601 Paseo San Luis Office space 3,400 sq.ft. Leased to
Sierra Vista, AZ : - June 30, 2007
13501 ingé;nuity Drive Office space ‘ 2,000 sq.ft. . Leased to
Orlando, FL : .February 28, 2005
4141 Colonel Glenn Hwy Office space 1,500 sq.ft. Leased to
Beavercreek, OH July 31, 2004
555 Sparkman Drive - Office space - 2,700 sq.ft. ‘ Leased to
Huntsville, AL Janiraty 14, 2005
Kenai, AK Training school Approximately Leased to
’ 1 acre of land November 6, 2027
2850 West 5 North Office space 15,100 sq.ft. . ‘ Leased to
Street ' October 31, 2004
Summerville, SC ) .
- 2745 West 5™ North . Warehouse. . .. 12,000 sq.ft. Leased to
_ Street ‘ o ' . November 30, 2005
" Summerville, SC _ B ‘ . ‘
1327 West 2550 South Office space and light 7,500 sq.ft. . Leased to
Ogden, UT manufacturing August 1, 2004
2735 West 5th Assembly and administrative 59,000 sq.ft. Lea‘ééd to

. North Street : facility of AAI ‘ December 31, 2006
Summerville, SC o s

For information with respect to obligations for lease rentals, see Note 8 of the Notes to Financial Statements
included in Item 8 of this Annual Report. United considers its properties to be suitable and adequate for its present
needs. The properties are being substantially utilized. )




ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

Information relating to various commitments and contingencies is described in Item 7—Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of ‘Financial Condition and Results of Operations, of this Annual Report and Note 16 of
the Notes to Financial Statemems included in Itém 8 of this Annual Report.

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

Reference is made to Item 4 of Part II to the Company’s quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended"
September 30, 2003, which information is hereby incorporated by reference.

SPECIAL ITEM. EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

The following table sets forth the executive ofﬁcers of the Company. Annual elections are held following the
annual meeting of shareholders to elect officers for the ensuing year. Interim elections are held as required. Except
as otherwise indicated, all of the named executive officers have held their current positions with the Company for
the past five years.

Name ) Position A Age

Frederick M. Strader .................. President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company (since 50
August 2003); President (since January 2003) and Chief '
Executive Officer (since August 2003) of AAI; Chief Operating
Officer of AAI (January 2003 to August 2003); Executive Vice
President of AAI and Vice President and General Manager of
AAT’s Defense Systems unit and Engineering Services unit
(May 2001 to December 2002); Vice President of United
-Defense LP, Armament Systems Division (1994 to April 2001),
a designer and producer of large caliber armaments for the
Navy, Army and Marine Corps.

Robert W. Worthing ................... Vice President and General Counsel (since July 1995) and 58
Corporate Secretary (since October 2003) of the Company;’
General Counsel of AAJ (since April 1992).

James H. Perry ....... e e Vice President (since May 1998), Chief Financial Officer- 42,
. (since October 1995) and Treasurer (since December 1994)
of the Company; Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer
(since July 2000) and Vice President (since 1997) of AAL




PART 1

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR THE REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS AND ISSUER REPURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

United Industrial Corporation’s common stock currently trades on the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE)
under the symbol UIC. Per share high and low sales prices for the quarterly periods during 2003 and 2002 as reported
by NYSE were as follows:

March 31, June 30, September 30, December 31,

2003
LOW ettt e $11.36 $12.10 $14.80 $15.90
High oo $16.15 $16.90 $17.86 $18.25
2002 h
LOW o« $15.04 $21.30 $16.60 $12.02
High oo, . $22.96 $26.05 $23.90 $21.00

The number of stockholders of record of the common stock on February 15, 2004 was 1,752. However, based
on available information, the Company believes that the total number of stockholders, including beneficial
stockholders, is approximately 5,800.

Dividend Policy

The Board of Directors of the Company declared quarterly dividends of $0.10 per share to stockholders of
record during each of the calendar quarters in 2003. The Board of Directors of the Company declared quarterly
dividends of $0.10 per share to stockholders of record during the first, third and fourth quarters in 2002, and no
dividend was declared during the second quarter of 2002. The payment of any future dividends will be at the
discretion of the Board of Directors and will depend upon, among other things, future earnings, operations, capital
requirements, the general financial condition of the Company and general business conditions.

Repurchases of Equity Securities

In November 2003 the Board of Directors of the Company authorized the repurchase of up to $10,000,000
of common stock. At December 31, 2003, the Company had repurchased 357,600 shares of common stock for an
aggregate amount of $6,036,000 or $16.88 per share. On January 27, 2004 the purchases under this plan were
completed with approximately $1,000 remaining available under the authorization. At that date, the Company had
repurchased 576,100 shares for an aggregate amount of $9,999,000 or $17.36 per share. On March 10, 2004 the
Company’s Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of up to an additional $10,000,000 of common stock
pursuant to this plan.

ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES
@

Maximum

(c) Number (or
(a) (b) Total Number Approximate Dollar
Total Average of Shares (or Value) of Shares (or

Number of Price Units) Purchased Units) that May Yet
Shares (or  Paid per  as Part of Publicly Be Purchased Under

Units) Share Announced Plans the Plans or
Period Purchased  (or Unit) or Programs Programs
November 21, 2003~November 30, 2003 ........ 286,000 $16.80 286,000 $5,195,200
December 1, 2003-December 31, 2003 .......... 71,600  $17.20 71,600 $3,963,603
January 1, 2004-January 31, 2004 ............... 218,500 $18.14 218,500 $ 1,182
TOtal .ot 576,100  $17.36 576,100 $ 1,182




ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

Five-Year Selected Financial Data

(Dollars in thousands, except per share data)

Operating Data
Continuing Operations
NetSales ...
Operating Costs
Interest (Income) Expense—net
Income Before Income Taxes
Income Taxes .................cciiiiiiii
Income from Continuing Operations
Loss From Discontinued Operations
Net (Loss) Income ............cccoiiiiiiiiinn...
Basic Earnings (Loss) per Share
Income From Continuing Operations
Loss From Discontinued Operations
Net (Loss) Income .......................ooial
Diluted Earnings (Loss) per Share
Income From Continuing Operations
Loss From Discontinued Operations
Net (Loss) Income ..................ccoviiinnit,
Cash Dividends Paid on Common Stock ............
Cash Dividends Declared per Common Share
Shares Outstanding as of Year End
(in thousands)

..............

Financial Position
Total ASSEIS ...t
Property and Equipment—Continuing Operations ...
Shareholders’ Equity
Shareholders’ Equity per Share

Financial Ratios
Return on Shareholders’ Equity

(Net INCOME) . .oviviet i ereianns
Income from Continuing Operations as

a Percentage of Sales

Statistical Data—Continuing Operations
Funded Sales Backlog as of Year End
Capital Expenditures ..............cooviiiinoni
Depreciation and Amortization
Number of Employees

..............................

Year Ended December 31,

2003 2002 2001 2000 1999
$310947 $258,767 $238.495 $236283 $207.683
287.690 253304 217844 213900  187.749
(371) 716 601)  (1.469)  (1.903)
23517 4438 22011 32861 22210
8.411 574 7383 11675 7712
15106 3864 14628 21186  14.498
(20.947)  (42.941) (9265 (13407)  (8.221)
(5.841)  (39.077) 5363 1779 6277
114 0.30 115 171 118
(158)  (330) (073  (108)  (0.67)
044)  (3.00) 042 063 051
110 0.28 1.10 1.68 116
(153 (.13 (070 (106  (0.66)
043) (285 040 0.62 0.50
5315 3912 5069 4954 4910

$ 040 S 030 $ 040 $ 040 $ 040
13267 13068 12872 12435 12294
$151.168 $159,245 S$253575 $249.435 $202.842
22216 21,196 24514 28581  32.329
40047 . 47631 120344 114893 111,055
3.09 3.64 9.35 9.24 9.03
9 —%  45%  68%  57%
49%  15%  61%  90%  7.0%
$323.000 $301,000 $207.000 $195.000 $158,000
6213 5219 2028 4921 10563
5415 8763 6413 8086 6780
1.600 1500 1400 1500

1,600



ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Management Overview

Defense

During 2003, the defense segment revenue increased in comparison to 2002. This increase can generally be
attributed to the commencement of the Shadow 200 Tactical Unmanned Aerial Vehicle (“Shadow 200 TUAV”) full-
rate production program with the U.S. Army and increased production of the Joint Service Electronic Combat
System Tester (“JSECST”). The defense segment’s funded backlog increased from $296,117,000 at December 31,
2002 to $318,307,000 at December 31, 2003. The increase was generally due to the timing of the Shadow 200 TUAV
full-rate production contract award and the timing of production on the JSECST program as well as additional orders
received associated with the Company’s C-17 Maintenance Trainer System program.

During 2003, the Company’s Shadow 200 TUAYV along with other Shadow family configurations, the Shadow
400 and Shadow 600 Unmanned Aerial Vehicle (“UAV”) systems, and the Company’s Pioneer UAV system
experienced increased interest from both domestic and international customers primarily as a result of the
performance of the Company’s UAVs deployed in support of U.S. forces in many areas of the world, including
Afghanistan and Iraq. At December 31, 2003, the Company had delivered 14 Shadow 200 TUAV systems to the
U.S. Army. At December 31, 2003, backlog includes 16 Shadow 200 TUAV systems that are scheduled for delivery
through 2005.

Although gross profit for the Company and the defense segment increased during 2003 compared to 2002,
the gross profit as a percent of sales of the Company and the defense segment decreased. During 2002, the program
mix in the defense segment included higher gross profit international sales. However, during 2003, the defense
segment did experience improved gross profit on domestic programs. The decrease in defense gross profit as a
percentage of sales in 2003 was also due to higher pension plan expense in 2003, as well as an insurance recovery
of $271,000 which favorably impacted gross profit in the first quarter of 2002.

The U.S. Department of Defense UAV marketplace has expanded over the last several years. As UAVs have
gained rapid acceptance within the military, and plans to reduce manned aircraft purchases are announced, the
Company has experienced larger manufacturers entering the Company’s marketplace. Some of these new
competitors are the major aircraft manufacturers, including Northrop-Grumman and Boeing. However, the
Company continues to invest in internal research and development initiatives to maintain the Company’s superior
track record and technological edge over its competitors in the Company’s niche markets.

The Company intends to maintain a strong focus on U.S. Department of Defense opportunities and believes:
it is well positioned over the long term to benefit from the demand for advanced technological systems by the U.S.
and foreign governments.

Energy

Sales in the energy segment decreased during 2003 due to the timing of orders and deliveries to customers.
The. Company recognized increased profit in the energy segment in 2003, This was primarily because of higher
cost of sales during 2002, which included costs for accelerated depreciation of assets related to the closing of
Midwest Metaliurgical Laboratory, Inc. (“Midwest”), a former indirect subsidiary of the Company in the energy
segment engaged in foundry operations. Lower cost castings also contributed to the profit increase during 2003
as a result of the Company outsourcing the manufacturing of castings after the closure of Midwest during 2002.
In 2003, the energy segment results continued to be negatively affected by the ongoing defense of its asbestos claims.

Discontinued Transportation Operations

As previously discussed, the Company’s transportation operations have been accounted for as a discontinued
operation. During 2003, these operations primarily included completion of a subcontract and secunded services
arrangement to support the execution of a program to design and deliver 273 electric trolley buses (“ETB”) to the
San Francisco Municipal Railway (“MUNI") by Electric Transit, Inc. (“ETI”). AAI owns 35% of ETI and Skoda,
a.s. (“Skoda”) owns the remaining 65%, although during 2001 Skoda declared bankruptcy in the Czech Republic

10




and has been unable to fund its obligations to ETI pursuant to the shareholders’ agreement. The Company believes
it has provided for ETI's estimated MUNI program losses through completion.

During the fourth quarter of 2003, it became apparent that ETI would be unable to satisfy its obligations to
AAI as a subcontractor to ETI under ETI’s MUNI contract as well as the secunded services arrangement.
Consequently, AAI filed a claim under MUNTI’s labor and materials bond that ensures subcontractors and others
are paid. The timing and amount, if any, of the recovery under AAI’s labor and materials bond claim cannot be
determined at this time. AAI believes it has adequately reserved for the non-payment of its receivables from ETIL

In February 2004, an agreement in principle was reached among ETI1, AAl'and MUNI to settle ETI’s contract
disputes with MUNI. Pursuant to the proposed settlement, MUNI would relieve ETI of its warranty and bonding
obligations, as well as other obligations under the contract, except for delivery of all electric trolley buses ordered
and performance of a defined scope of work related to the deliveries. In exchange, MUNI would receive a release
from any claims that ETI might assert, a cash payment (to be offset by MUNI from payments remaining due under
the contract), and certain other consideration. AAI would agree to guaranty certain obligations of ETI, make a cash
payment to MUNI, and provide other consideration, in exchange for a release from its warranty and all further
obligations under its subcontract with ETL. As a result of the release of ETI from its performance bonding obligation,
AAI would be released from its indemnification of the surety. The proposed settlement is subject to the approval
of the Board of Directors of San Francisco’s Municipal Transportation Agency and the Company’s Board of
Directors. Management believes that these agreements, if executed, will not have a material adverse effect on the
Company’s liquidity or results of operations. No assurances can be given as to whether the settlement will be
executed or its timing.

Results of Operations

The Company’s operating cycle-is long-term and involves various types of production contracts and varying
production delivery schedules. Accordingly, operating results of a particular year, or year-to-year comparisons of
recorded revenues and earnings, may not be indicative of future operating results. The following comparative
analysis should be viewed in this context.

Year Ended December 31, 2003 Cdmpg_feﬂ With ‘Yea_r Ended December 31, 2002
The following information relates to the continuing operations of the Company and its consolidated
subsidiaries, except where references are made to discontinued operations. The transportation operations are

reflected as discontinued operations in the Company’s consolidated financial statements as of and for the years ended
December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001.

Sales

.2003 2002 Increase/(Decrease)
Defense ........coooiviiiiiiiiiii... $282,425,000-  $229,215,000 - .$53,210,000  23.2%
Energy ......cccoiiiiiiiint Lo T 28,522,000 29,552,000 (1,030,000) (3.5%)
Total ... $310,947,000  '$258,767,000  $52,180,000  20.2%

As illustrated in the above table, the Cdmpaﬁy’s éonsolidatéd sales in 2003 increased by $52,180,000, or 20.2%,
in comparison to the Company’s consolidated sales in 2002,

The increased sales in the defense segment during 2003 was generally due to the commencement of the Shadow
200 TUAV full-rate production program and increased production of the JSECST. Additionally, the defense segment
recorded revenues of $9,247,000 related to deployment of the Shadow 200 TUAV in support of Operation
Iragi Freedom. ’

Sales to agencies of the U.S. Government by the defense segment were $249,327,000 in 2003 compared to
$161,406,000 in 2002. Export sales by the defense segment were $33,881,000 in 2003 compared to $60,910,000
in 2002, a decrease of $27,029,000, or 44.4%. The decrease in export sales was due to lower international UAV
procurement activity during 2003. .

The decreased sales in the energy segment during 2003 were due to the timing of orders and deliveries
to customers.
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Gross Profit
2003 % of Sales 2002 % of Sales Increase/(Decrease)

Defense ............... e $55,312,000 19.6% $47.589,000 20.8% $ 7,723,000 16.2%
Energy ......ooooiviiiiiiiiiiiinn, 12,046,000 42.2% _ 8,528,000 28.9% 3,518,000 41.3%
Total .....oovvviiiiii $67,358,000 21.7% $56,117,000 21.7% $11,241,000 20.0%

The Company’s gross profit in the year ended December 31, 2003 increased $11,241,000, or 20.0%, to
$67,358,000 in 2003 compared to $56,117,000 in 2002. However, as a percentage of sales, gross profit was
unchanged at 21.7% in 2003 and 2002,

The defense segment gross profit increase was primarily attributable to increased sales volume in the UAV
and Test Systems product lines. The defense segment gross profit percentage of sales decreased to 19.6% in 2003
from 20.8% in 2002. During 2002, the program mix in the defense segment included higher profit international
sales, favorably impacting earnings. During 2003 the defense segment did experience improved profits on domestic
programs. The decrease in defense profits as a percentage of sales in 2003 was also due to higher pension plan
expense in 2003, as well as an insurance recovery of $271,000, which favorably impacted earnings in 2002. The
pension expense included in cost of sales in the defense segment for 2003 was $6,662,000 compared to the pension
expense of $2,952,000 included in the cost of sales in 2002. The increase in pension expense was due primarily
to the downward trends in interest rates and net pension assets losses as of the pension plans’ measurement date

on December 31, 2002.
The gross profit percentage of sales in the energy segment during 2003 increased to 42.2% from 28.9% in 2002.
The energy segment cost of sales for 2002 included a charge of $3,420,000 for accelerated depreciation of assets related

to the closing of Midwest. Lower cost castings also contributed to the 2003 gross profit increase, as the Company
outsourced the manufacturing of castings in connection with the decision to close Midwest during 2002.

Selling and Administrative Expenses

2003 % of Sales 2002 % of Sales Increase/(Decrease)
Defense ...........cvveviviiinnn $34,408,000 12.2% $30,411,000 13.3% $3,997,000 13.1%
Energy ......coooiiiiil, 7,618,000 26.7% 6,769,000 22.9% 849,000 12.5%
Other ......cvviiviiiiiiinnin. 691,000 —% 1,352,000 —% (661,000) (48.9%)
Total ..o $42,717,000 13.7% $38,532,000 14.9% $4,185000 10.9%

As indicated in the table above, selling and administrative expenses in 2003 increased $4,185,000, or 10.9%,
from 2002. However, as a percentage of sales, general and administrative expenses decreased to 13.7% during 2003
from 14.9% in 2002.

The overall increase in selling and administrative expenses occurred primarily in the defense segment. This
increase in the defense segment is generally attributable to increased bid and proposal costs and research and
development expenses of $1,824,000 and reallocated corporate expenses primarily caused by a reduction in such
expenses allocated to the discontinued transportation operations of $1,788,000.

Selling and administrative expenses in the energy segment increased primarily due to a reduction in pension
income partially offset by reduced payroll and payroll related expenses.

Selling and administrative expenses in the other segment decreased $661,000 due primarily to professional
fees incurred during 2002 associated with a proxy fight, fees related to environmental issues and fees incurred in
connection with the proposed sale of the Company, partially offset by increased costs related to the closing of the
New York City office in October 2003.

Asbestos Litigation Expense

The asbestos litigation expense provision in 2003 was $717,000, representing a decrease of $10,792,000 or
93.8% from $11,509,000 in 2002. The asbestos litigation provision in 2003 relates primarily to legal and other
professional fees associated with studies performed to evaluate the extent of potential asbestos liability and related
available insurance coverage. The asbestos litigation provision in 2002 was related to the accrual of potential claims
including defense costs reduced by expected related insurance recoveries.
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Other Operating Expenses—Net

2003 % of Sales 2002 % of Sales Increase/(Decrease)

Defense ..........covvveeeeeainnn. $429,000 0.2% $ 506,000 02% $ (77,000) (15.2%)
Energy .....oooooiiiiiinn — 0.0% 425,000 14%  (425,000) (100.0%)
Other ................cooeiis e 238,000 —%- _(228,000) —% 466,000 204.4%
Total .......cooviiiiii $667,000 0.2% $ 703,000 0.3% § (36,0000 (5.1%)

The $77,000 decrease in other operating expenses in the defense segment during 2003 compared to 2002 was
due primarily to the favorable settlement of a contract dispute for $100,000. The energy segment’s other operating
expenses decreased as a result of $425,000 in expenses related to the closing of Detroit Stoker’s foundry during
2002. The increase in the other segment’s other operating expenses resulted from an increase in a deferred
compensation liability.

Non-Operating Income and Expense&

Interest income increased $336,000, or 264.6%, to $463,000 in 2003 from $127,000 in 2002 due to increased
investments resulting principally from a $16,822,000 tax refund received from the Internal Revenue Service during
2003 related to losses incurred by the discontinued transportation operations in 2002 that were carried back to
prior years.

Other income from the continuing operations increased $325,000, or 507.8%, to $389,000 in 2003 from
$64,000 in 2002. The increase in 2003 is due primarily to increases in royalty income, rental income, foreign
currency exchange rate fluctuations and other income.

Interest expense decreased to $92,000 in 2003 from $843,000 in 2002, primarily due to lower borrowings
in 2003 and interest paid to the Internal Revenue Service during 2002 that resulted from increased profits on long-
term contracts.

Other expenses increased $175,000, or 45.8%, to $557,000 in 2003 from $382,000 in 2002 due primarily to
$214,000 of an uncollectible interest receivable.

Income before Income Taxes from Continued Operations

) 2003 % of Sales 2002 - % of Sales  Increase/(Decrease)
Defense ..........ovveeinnin, $21,980,000 7.8% $ 17,113,000 7.5% $ 4,867,000 28.4%
Energy ......ccoovvviiiiins 3,897,000 13.7% (10,108,000) (34.2%) 14,005,000 138.6%
Other ......ccovviviniinennn, (2,360,000) —% (2,567,000) —% 207,000 8.1%
Total ... $23,517,000 76% $ 4,438,000 1.7% $19,079,000 429.9%

During 2003, income from continuing operations before income taxes in the defense segment increased
$4,867,000, or 28.4%, compared to 2002. Included in that increase is pension expense of $6,662,000 in 2003 as
compared to a pension expense of $2,952,000 in 2002. In addition, changes in the program mix in the defense
segment included higher profit international sales in 2002 that favorably impacted earnings when compared to 2003.
However, during 2003 the defense segment did experience improved profits on domestic programs.

During 2003, income from continuing operations before income taxes in the energy segment was $3,897,000
compared to a loss from continuing operations before income tax benefit of $10,108,000 in 2002. The increase in
2003 was primarily due to the provision recognized for asbestos litigation expenses and the closing of Midwest
in 2002. The 2002 loss included an asbestos litigation provision of $11,509,000 and $4,707,000 of expenses related
to the closing of Midwest.

Other segment income from continuing operations before income taxes increased in 2003 due primarily to
professional fees associated with a proxy fight, environmental issues and fees incurred in connection with the
proposed sale of the Company during 2002, partially offset by increased costs related to the closing of the New
York City office in October of 2003.

Income after taxes from continuing operations was $15,106,000, or $1.10 per diluted share in 2003, an increase
of $11,242,000, or $0.82 per diluted share, from $3,864,000, or $0.28 per diluted share in 2002. The increase in
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income after taxes from continuing operations was primarily due to the increase in sales and the reduction in the
asbestos litigation expense, partially offset by increases in the pension expenses and the expense related to the
closing of the New York City office. In 2003, the asbestos litigation expense, net of tax, was $465,000, the expenses
related to the closing of the New York City office, net of tax, was $595,000 and the net pension expenses, net of
tax, were $3,932,000. In 2002, the asbestos litigation expense, net of tax, was $7,330,000, the expenses related to
the closing of Midwest, net of tax, was $3,100,000 and the net pension expenses, net of tax, were $911,000.

Discontinued Transportation Operations .

Sales in the discontinued transportation operations decreased $14,243,000, or 51.9%, to $13,204,000 from
$27,447,000 in 2002, This was due to the planned cessation of operations and the sale of AAI’s contracts with the
New Jersey Transit Corporation and Maryland Transit Administration in 2002,

The 2003 loss before income tax benefit of the discontinued transportation operations was $32,221,000
(320,947,000 net of tax, or $1.53 per diluted share) compared to a loss of $66,053,000 ($42,941,000 net of tax,
or $3.13 per diluted share) in 2002, The 2003 results include a pre-tax loss of $24,879,000 primarily related to the
loss estimated to be incurred by ETI to completé the production and warranty phases of its one remaining contract
with MUNIL. This pre-tax loss consists of $23,800,000 related to estimated future contract costs of ETI. This increase
in estimated future contract costs resulted from delivery delays caused by inventory shortages, and higher labor
and material costs due to existing and likely engineering changes, amongst other factors. Also contributing to the-
increase was a revision of estimated warranty costs based upon the actual warranty claims experienced on a
significant number of buses that were placed into revenue service. Further, ETT incurred $1,058,000 of general and
administrative expenses during 2003, which could not have been accrued in prior periods. Additionally, the
Company’s 2003 pre-tax loss includes (2) $4,314,000 of costs related to idle capacity at AAT’s facility that cannot
be -allocated to the Company’s now substantially completed MUNI subcontract, and (b) $3,028,000 of the

Company’s general and administrative expenses.

The amounts recorded as ETI losses during 2003 and 2002 represent 100%, instead of 35%, of the losses
expected to be incurred by ETI in completing its MUNI contract because AAI and the Company have agreed to
partially indemnify a surety for certain of ETI’s performance and payment obligations under the MUNI contract
and these potential indemnity obligations exceed the amount of the losses recorded. These indemnity obligations
are described in further detail in Note 16 to the Financial Statements included in Item 8 of this Annual Report.
The additional pre-tax losses recorded by the Company for Skoda a.s.” 65% share of ETI’s losses totaled $16,171,000
in 2003 and $17,264,000 in 2002, while the losses related to the Company’s 35% equity share were $8 708,000

in 2003 and $9,296,000 in 2002.

At December 31, 2003, ETI had delivered 255 of the 273 ETBs in the MUNI contract. In addition, ETI is
completing a retrofit program that incorporates final design changes for many of the previously delivered ETBs.
The Company expects ET’s retrofit program to be completed during the third quarter of 2004.

Included in the 2002 pre-tax loss from discontinued transportation operations was a $21,500,000 provision
related to the sale to ALSTOM Transportation, Inc (“ALSTOM"”) of the Company’s two overhaul contracts with
the New Jersey Transit Corporation and the Maryland Transit Administration, as well as related assets and liabilities.
Also included in the 2002 pre-tax loss was an increase of $7,818,000 in estimated costs to complete contracts,
$4,799,000 of general and administrative expenses, and $5,376,000 of other disposition costs related to the sold
contracts. Further, the Company recorded a pre-tax loss of $26,560,000 related to the estimated losses of ETI
primarily due to material issues that substantially impacted ETI’s production line and technical issues with some
major subassemblies that contributed to an extension of the program schedule.

During the completion of the discontinued transportation operations, the Company anticipates that the amount
of overhead to be expensed is expected to approximate $1,000,000 subsequent to December 31, 2003. Further,
general and administrative expenses related to the discontinued transportation operations that likewise will be
expensed as incurred subéequent to December 31, 2003 are expected to approximate $3,000,000. Including the
unabsorbed overhead, general and administrative expenses, and operating lease costs described above, as well as
funding future anticipated ETI losses that have been periodically provided for, the Company expects that it may
fund the discontinued transportation operations about $17,000,000 over the next 10 years. No assurances can be
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given, however, as to the actual amount of the Company’s liability concerning ETI’s obligation to complete its
MUNI contract and exit the discontinued operations.

" On March 3, June 5 and November 5, 2003, and on January 15, 2004, ALSTOM made certain indemnification
claims to the Company to be discussed by ALSTOM’s and the Company’s respective managements. ALSTOM’s
claims currently total approximately $8,500,000. The Company has requested further documentation from
ALSTOM regarding its claims. Because the requested documentation has not been provided, the Company is
currently unable to determine whether and to what extent the Company may have any liability with respect to these
claims and therefore no accrual has been recorded for any future settlement.

Pension
2003 2002 Increase/(Decrease)
Minimum Pension Liability .......................... $ 6,755,000 $ 8,276,000  $(1,521,000)
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss ............ $ 42,284,000 $ 49,595,000  $(7,311,000)
Less Deferred Tax Benefit ................ G (14,172,000) (17,333,000} 3,161,000
$ 28,112,000 $ 32,262,000  $(4,150,000)
Intangible Pension Asset ..........cooviveeireeeeannnn $ 4,085,000 $ 4,268,000 $ (183,000)

Even though interest rates continued to decline during 2003, overall stock market values improved in
comparison to 2002. Consequently, the Company’s minimum pension liability was reduced $1,521,000 to
$6,755,000 at December 31, 2003, compared to a minimum pension liability of approximately $8,276,000 as of
December 31, 2002. The 2003 adjustment resulted in a non-cash credit to stockholders’ equity of approximately
$4,150,000, net of a deferred tax benefit of $3,161,000. At December 31, 2003 the Accumulated Other
Comprehensive Loss in stockholders’ equity related to the minimum pension liability was $28,112,000, net of
deferred taxes of $14,172,000. The Company also recorded a related intangible asset of $4,085,000 at December 31,
2003. The 2002 adjustment resulted in a non-cash charge to Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss in
stockholders’ equity of approximately $32,262,000, net of a deferred tax benefit of $17,333,000 and an intangible
asset of $4,268,000. These adjustments do not directly affect the Company’s income statement or earnings for
either year.

Backlog

Since December 31, 2002, the funded backlog, which are orders placed for which funds have been appropriated
or purchase orders received, related to continuing operations increasedv$21,771,000, or 7.2%, to $323,187,000 in
2003 from $301,416,000 in 2002. The defense segment’s funded backlog was $318,307,000 at December 31, 2003
compared to $296,117,000 at December 31, 2002. The increase was generally due to the timing of the Shadow
200 TUAV full-rate production contract award and the timing of production on the JSECST program and by the
receipt of additional orders associated with the Company’s C-17 Maintenance Trainer System program. The energy
segment’s funded backlog was $4,880,000 at December 31, 2003 compared to $5,299,000 at December 31, 2002.
Backlog represents products or services that the Company’s customers have committed by contract to purchase from
the Company. Cancellation of purchase orders or reductions-of product quantities in existing contracts could
substantially and materially reduce backlog and, consequently, future revenues. Moreover, the Company’s failure
to replace canceled or reduced backlog could result in lower revenues.

Year Ended December 31, 2002 Compared With Year Ended December 31, 2001

Sales

2002 2001 Increase/(Decrease)
Defense ..o $229,215,000  $208,575,000  $20,640,000 9.9%
Energy ... 29,552,000 29,920,000 (368,000) " (1.2%)
Total .. $258,767,000  $238,495,000  $20,272,000 8.5%

As set forth in the above table, the Company’s consolidated sales in 2002 increased $20,272,000 or 8.5% from
the Company’s consolidated sales in 2001.
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The sales growth in the defense segment was driven by increases in the UAV and Test Systems product areas.
Sales to agencies of the U.S. Government by the defense segment were $161,406,000 in 2002 and $148,732,000
in 2001, an increase of $12,674,000 or 8.5%. Export sales by the defense segment were $60,910,000 in 2002 and
$50,455,000 in 2001, an increase of $10,455,000 or 20.7%.

Net sales in the energy segment decreased $368,000 or 1.2% from 2001. This decrease was due to decreased
spending by Detroit Stoker’s customers in the pulp and paper industry.

Gross Profit

2002 % of Sales 2001 % of Sales Increase/(Decrease)
Defense .........c..coeiennn $47,589,000 20.8% $43,966,000 21.1% $ 3,623,000 8.2%
Energy ......cooveviiiiiin.n. 8,528,000 28.9% 9,999,000 334% (1,471,000) (14.7%)
Total ....ccoviviiiiie $56,117,000 21.7% $53,965,000 22.6% $2,152,000 4.0%

The gross profit for 2003 increased $2,152,000 or 4.0% to $56,117,000 in 2002 from $53,965,000 in 2001.
The gross profit percentage of sales was 21.7% in 2002 and 22.6% in 2001.

The defense segment gross profit percentage of sales decreased to 20.8% in 2002 from 21.1% in 2001. Included
in the defense segment’s cost of sales is a pension expense of $2,952,000 in 2002 and pension income of $566,000
during 2001. Also included in the 2001 defense segment’s cost of sales is a curtailment gain of $1,933,000 resulting
from changes the Company made to its post-retirement benefits plan that reduced the Company’s future liabilities.
During 2002, the defense segment benefited from higher profits on certain foreign contracts.

The energy segment gross profit percentage of sales decreased to 28.9% in 2002 from 33.4% in 2001 due to
a charge of $3,420,000 for accelerated depreciation of assets related to the closing of the foundry operated by
Midwest. The energy segment’s increase in 2002 is attributable to lower cost castings, the manufacturing of which

was outsourced in connection with the decision to close the foundry.

Selling and Administrative Expenses

2002 % of Sales 2001 % of Sales Increase/(Decrease)
Defense ..........cviviennn. $30,411,000 13.3% $25,650,000 12.3% $4,761,000 18.6%
Energy .......cooiiiiiil 6,769,000 22.9% 7,252,000 24.2% (483,000) (6.7%)
Other ........ooovviiinennnns 1,352,000 —% (22,000) —% 1,374,000 6,245.5%
Total ......ovvieiinieenn $38,532,000 149% $32,880,000 13.8% $5,652,000 17.2%

Selling and administrative expenses in 2002 increased $5,652,000 or 17.2% from 2001. Selling and
administrative expenses as a percentage of net sales was 14.9% in 2002 and 13.8% in 2001.

The defense segment’s selling and administrative expenses increased due to approximately $1,930,000 of
reallocated corporate expenses primarily caused by a reduced allocation base in the discontinued transportation
operations. The remainder of the cost growth was generally due to higher insurance costs and salary increases.

The decrease in the energy segment was due to a reduction in research and development expense and the closing
of the foundry.

The increase of $1,374,000 in the other segment resulted primarily from increased professional and consulting
fees. Generally, these fees related to matters concerning the Company’s environmental issues, sale process, and

proxy contest.

Other Operating Expenses—Net
2002 % of Sales 2001 % of Sales Increase/(Decrease)

Defense ........covvviiiininioin. $ 506,000 02% $ 646,000 03%  $(140,000) 21.7%
Energy .......ooovviviiiiiii . . 425000 14% — 0.0% 425,000 —%
Other ...........coiiiiiiiiiiiannn. (228,000) —% _(212,000) —% (16,000) (7.5%)

$ 703,000 03% $ 434,000 1.5% § 269,000 62.0%
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Other operating expenses—net, increased $269,000 or 62.0% to $703,000 in 2002 from $434,000 primarily
due to the expenses related to the closmg of the foundfy operated by Midwest.

During 2002, the Company also recorded a provision of $31,852,000 for estimated asbestos related defense
and indemnity costs, offset by estimated insurance recoveries of $20,343,000.

Other income decreased $1,021,000 or 94.1% to $64,000 in 2002 from $1 085,000 in 2001. The decrease was
pnmanly due to an insurance recovery in 2001 of $842,000.

" Other expenses decreased $30,000 or 7.3% to $382 OOO in 2002 from $412,000 in 2001.

Interest expense increased to $843,000 or 4,858.8% in 2002 from $17,000 in 2001 primarily due to interest
paid on borrowings and interest paid to the Internal Revenue Service resulting from increased profits on long-term
contracts.

Interest income-decreased $491,000 in 2002 from $618',000>in 2001 due to lower investments.

Income Before Income Taxes from Continuing Operations

. 2002 % of Sales 2001 - % of Sales Increase/(Decrease)
Defense ........... e $ 17,113,000 7.5% $18,422,000 ‘8.8% $ (1,309,0000 (7.1%)
“ Energy ...l (10,108,000) (34.2%) 3,042,000 102%  (13,150,000) (432.3%)
Other ........ e (2,567,000): —% . 547,000. —% (3,114,000) (569.3%)
Total .........oviviiinin, $ 4438000 = 1.7% $22,011,000 9.2% $(17,573,000) (79.8%)

Income from continuing operations before income ﬁaxes in 2002 decreased $17,573,000 Aor 79.8% to
$4,438,000 from $22,011,000 in 2001.

The defense segment income from continuing operations before income taxes in 2002 decreased $1,309,000
in 2002 compared to 2001. However, the Company recorded a pension expense of $2,952,000 in 2002 and pension
income as well as a post-retirement curtailment gain of $566,000 and $1,933,000, respectively in 2001.

The energy segment loss from continuing operationé before income taxes was $10,108,000 in 2002 compared
to a profit of $3,042,000 in 2001. The decrease of $13,150,000 in 2002 was primarily due to an asbestos litigation
provision to cover the estimated liability through 2012 net of estimated probable insurance recoveries, of
$11,509,000, and $4,707,000 of expenses related to the closing of the energy segment’s foundry, partially offset
by other efficiencies in gross profit and selling and administrative expenses.

In 2002, the other segment income from continuing operations before income taxes decreased $3,114,000
primarily due to an increase in professional and consulting fees related to matters concerning the Company’s
environmental matters, sale process and proxy contest. Included in 2001 is a reduction of a reserve for local taxes
of $1,000,000 related to the favorable settlement of a tax issue and an $842,000 insurance recovery.

Income After Taxes from Continuing Operations

-Income after taxes from continuing operations was $3,864,000 or $0.28 per diluted share in 2002, a decrease
of $10,764,000 or $0.82 per diluted share from $14,628,000 or $1.10 per diluted share in 2001. The 2002 results
include a net charge for asbestos litigation of $7,330,000 or $0.53 per diluted share, a restructuring charge of
$3,100,000 or $0.23 per diluted share and a decrease of $3,721,000 or $0.27 per diluted share in pension results
and curtailment gain. These were partially offset by operating efficiencies.

Discontinued Transportanon Operations

~ Sales in the discontinued transportation operations decreased $19,992,000 during 2002 to $27,447,000 from
$47,439,000 during 2001. This was due prlmarlly to reduced production on the San Francisco electnc trolley bus
contract of $16,458,000. : :

. The loss, before taxes, during the year ended December 31, 2002 of the discontinued transportation operations
was $66,053,000 (or a loss of $42,941,000 net of tax, or $3.13 per diluted share) compared to a loss of $14,886,000
(or a loss of $9,265,000 net of tax, or $0.70 per diluted share) during 2001. Included in the 2002 pre-tax loss was
a $21,500,000 provision related to the sale of the Company’s two overhaul contracts with the New Jersey Transit
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Corporation and the Maryland Transit Administration, as well as related assets and liabilities, to ALSTOM. The
transaction closed on July 26, 2002. Also included in the 2002 pre-tax loss was an increase of $7,818,000 in
estimated costs to complete contracts, $4,799,000 of general and administrative expenses, and $5,376,000 of other
disposition costs related to the conveyed contracts. Further, the Company recorded a pre-tax provision of $9,296,000
related to its 35% equity share of estimated losses by ETI, which AAI (a Company subsidiary) owns jointly with
Skoda,. a.s. In addition, although ETT is owned 35% by AAI and 65% by Skoda, during 2002 the discontinued
transportation operation recorded 100% of the ETI loss. AAI and the Company have agreed to partially indemnify
the surety for certain of ETI’s performance and payment obligations under the MUNI contract and these potential
indemnity obligations exceed the amount of the losses recorded. These indemnity obligations are described in
further detail in Note 16 to the Financial Statements included in Item 8 of this Annual Report. The additional losses
recorded by the Company for Skoda’s-65% share of ETI ‘s pre-tax losses totaled $17,264,000 during 2002.

Included in the $7,818,000 increase for the 2002 year in estimated costs to complete contracts is a loss provision
of $4,730,000 recorded in the fourth quarter of 2002 regarding a higher estimate to complete the Company’s San
Francisco electric trolley bus subcontract from ETL This increase is generally due to a four-month schedule delay
caused by production material issues and shortages.

Also included in the 2002 year results are provisions resulting from cost growth concerning ETI’s final
assembly scope of work on the San Francisco electric trolley bus program. During the fourth quarter, material issues
started to substantially impact the production line and technical issues with some of the major subassemblies
contributed to an extension of the program schedule. These events resulted in a replanning of the production line
and the related cost increases. Consequently, during the fourth quarter the Company recorded pre-tax provisions
of $6,155,000 and $11,432,000, representing the Company’s 35% equity share of the additional loss and Skoda’s
65% equity share in ETI, for the reasons noted above.

Pension

As a result of the decline in overall stock market values and interest rates, the Company was required, under
accounting regulations, to record a minimum pension liability of approximately $8,276,000 as of December 31,
2002, compared to a net pension asset of $46,901,000 at December 31, 2001. The adjustment resulted in a non-cash
charge to Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss in stockholders’ equity of approximately $32,262,000, net of
a deferred tax benefit of $17,333,000 and an intangible asset of $4,268,000. The adjustment does not affect the
Company’s income statement or earnings. B . ,

Backlog

The Company’s funded backlog related to continuing operations was $301,416,000 at December 31, 2002
compared to $207,343,000 at December 31, 2001. Funded backlog in the defense segment increased $94,896,000
or 47.2% to $296,117,000 at December 31, 2002 from $201,221,000 at December 31, 2001. Funded backlog in
the energy segment decreased $823,000 or 13.5% to $5,299,000 at December 31, 2002 compared to $6,122,000
at December 31, 2001. Backlog represents products or services that the Company’s customers have committed by
contract to purchase-from the Company. Cancellation of purchase orders or reductions of product quantities in
existing contracts could substantially and materially reduce backlog and, consequently, future revenues. Moreover,
the Company’s failure to replace canceled or reduced backlog could result in lower revenues.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Cash and cash equivalents increased $20,503,000, or 564.0%, to $24,138,000 at December 31, 2003 from
. $3,635,000 at December 31, 2002. Operating cash flow from continuing operations was $40,835,000. Income from
continuing operations increased $11,242,000 to $15,106,000. In 2003, income from continuing operations included
higher non-cash pension expense in 2003 caused by lower interest rates and stock market values. Also, the Company
received a tax refund of $16,822,000 related to the Company’s 2002 net loss from discontinued operations. Further,
depreciation and amortization decreased in 2003 mainly due to the accelerated depreciation associated with the
closure of the foundry in the energy segment in 2002, The discontinued transportation operations used net cash
of $7,946,000 for its operating activities primarily related to work performed for ETI under its MUNI subcontract
and secunded labor arrangement for which payment has not been made.
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The following analysis relates only to continuing operations. Trade receivables decreased $4,311,000 at
December 31, 2003 from December 31, 2002. Included in trade receivables are U.S. Government receivables, which
decreased $1,970,000. Inventories were $3,983,000 lower at December 31, 2003 than at December 31, 2002. The
inventory decrease was primarily in the defense segment and resulted from higher inventory levels at December 31,
2002 in preparation for Shadow 200 TUAV full-rate production. Accounts payable decreased $1,594,000. Customer
advances decreased $3,759,000 at December 31, 2003 from December 31, 2002, in accordance with the contractual
terms of certain defense contracts.

Cash used for investing activities was $6,213,000 in 2003, primarily due to the acquisition of equipment and
tooling in the defense segment in order to support increased production associated with various government
contracts. In 2002 the cash provided by investing activities was $15,166,000 primarily due to proceeds from the
sale of two contracts for the discontinued transportation operations partially offset by the acquisition of property
and equipment. In 2001 cash used by investing activities was $2,594,000. The Company currently has no significant
fixed commitment for capital expenditures, however, the Company currently is considering the acquisition of about
$6,600,000 in capital assets and $1,700,000 of other costs over the next four years related to the implementation
of a new enterprise resource planning (“ERP”) information system.

Net cash used for financing activities was $6,173,000. This was primarily due to dividend payments of
$5,315,000 and the repurchase of the Company’s common stock of $6,036,000, partially offset by the receipt of
$5,178,000 from the exercise of stock options. Cash received from the exercise of stock options in 2002 was
$1,825,000 as cash dividends paid were $3,912,000.

In November 2003 the Board of Directors of the Company authorized the repurchase of up to $10,000,000
of common stock. At December 31, 2003, the Company had repurchased 357,600 shares of common stock for an
aggregate amount of $6,036,000 or $16.88 per share. On January 27, 2004 the purchases under this plan were
completed with approximately $1,000 remaining available under the authorization. At that date, the Company had
repurchased 576,100 shares for an aggregate amount of $9,999,000 or $17.36 per share. On March 10, 2004 the
Company’s Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of up to an additional $10,000,000 of common stock
pursuant to this plan.

As of December 31, 2003, the Company has recorded net deferred tax assets of approximately $17,643,000.
Management believes the Company will generate sufficient taxable income in future years to realize this benefit
based upon the historical performance of the Company’s defense and energy segments, existing backlog, and the
anticipated near term exit from the discontinued transportation operations.

Although the Company experienced higher pension plan expense in 2003 generally due to the downward trend
in interest rates and pension asset losses in the securities markets as of the measurement date at December 31, 2002,
which was the basis for the expense in 2003, the Company does not anticipate having to contribute cash to its pension
plan during 2004. However, it plans to contribute $259,000 to the union pension plan that covers certain employees
in the energy segment. The Company also expects to contribute $2,744,000 to the other postretirement benefits plans
for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2004.

On June 28, 2001, the Company and certain of its subsidiaries entered into a Loan and Security Agreement
(the “Credit Agreement”) with Fleet Capital Corporation (“Fleet”). The Credit Agreement has a term of three years
and provides for letters of credit and cash borrowings, subject to a borrowing base. The Credit Agreement provides
for up to $25,000,000 of credit advances, with a sub limit of $10,000,000 for cash borrowings. Credit advances
may increase to-$32,000,000 provided that amounts in excess of $25,000,000 are cash-collateralized. At
December 31, 2003 there were no cash borrowings under the Credit Agreement. The letter of credit obligations
outstanding at December 31, 2003 under the Credit Agreement were $3,627,000. During 2003, amendments to the
Credit Agreement were entered into whereby, among other things, the financial covenants were modified, the amount
of the Company’s common stock that may be repurchased during the term of the Credit Agreement was increased
from $5,000,000 to $20,000,000, and a borrowing base reserve of $6,000,000 on the total credit facility was
instituted, with a $3,000,000 reserve being applied to the $10,000,000 cash sub limit. The covenants that the
Company agreed to included a minimum ratio of total liabilities to tangible net worth, a limitation to the pre-tax
losses of the discontinued transportation operations and a minimum amount of tangible net worth. The Credit
Agreement is scheduled to expire on June 28, 2004, however, management is in discussions with Fleet to extend
and expand its existing facility as well as other potential lenders in order to obtain a new facility. The Company
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believes that it will be successful in its ability to negotiate an extended or new credit agreement with Fleet or to
enter into a new credit agreement with another party. :

Detroit Stoker also has a $2,000,000 line of credit with a bank that may be used for cash borrowings or letters
of credit. This agreement expires May 1, 2004. The Company believes that it will be able to obtain an extension
of such agreement. At December 31, 2003, Detroit Stoker had no cash borrowings and $395,000 of letters of
credit outstanding.

Based on the existing Credit Agreement and current initiatives and operations, the Company expects that
available cash and existing lines of credit will be sufficient to meet its cash requirements for the next twelve months.

In accordance with its previously disclosed strategic initiatives, the Company intends to sell non-core assets,
maximize efficiency, evaluate a recapitalization, and consider select acquisitions to grow its core defense businesses.
Accordingly, in October 2003 the Company engaged Imperial Capital LLC to assist the Company in a potential
sale of the Detroit Stoker energy segment. No assurances can be given regarding whether Detroit Stoker will be
sold nor as to the timing or proceeds from any such sales.

The Company conducts a significant amount of business with the U.S. Government. Sales to agencies of the
U.S. Government were $249,327,000, $161,569,000 and $149,047,000 for 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.
Although there are currently no indications of a significant change in the status of government funding of certain
programs, should this occur, the Company’s results of operations, financial position and liquidity could be materially
affected. Such a change could have a significant impact on the Company’s profitability and stock price. This could
affect the Company’s ability to acquire additional funds from our revolving credit facility or from other sources.

The Company paid cash dividends of $0.40 per share in 2003, $0.30 per share in 2002 and $0.40 per share
in 2001. Aggregate dividend payments amounted to $5,315,000 in 2003, $3,912,000 in 2002 and $5,069,000
in 2001.

The ratio of current assets to current liabilities was 1.9 at the end of 2003 and 2.0 at the end of 2002.

The following table sets forth the contractual obligations of the Company at December 31, 2003:
Payments due by period

Less than More than
Contractual Obligations Total 1 year 1-3 years 3-5 years 5 years
Long Term Debt ............... — — — — —
Capital Lease Obligations ...... — — — — —
Operating Leases .............. $ 8,812,000 $2,996,000 $3,281,000 $2,193,000 $342,000
Purchase Obligations ........... 1,064,000 1,064,000 — — —
Severance Obligations ......... 605,000 605,000 — — —
Other Long Term Liabilities ... — — — — —
Total ....oovvvviiiiieiiinn $10,481,000 $4,665,000 $3,281,000 $2,193,000 $342,000

Restructuring Charges

Detroit Stoker ceased its foundry operation conducted by its formerly wholly-owned subsidiary, Midwest,
effective May 17, 2002. During 2002, Detroit Stoker incurred severance and other cash charges totaling
approximately $1,287,000 related to the restructuring, including operating losses of Midwest. In addition, the
Company accelerated depreciation of its foundry facility assets during the foundry’s operating period in 2002.
Depreciation of this facility was $3,420,000 during 2002. No additional expenses were incurred in 2003.

On October 31, 2003, the Company closed its New York City office and relocated the administrative activities
conducted at that location to its headquarters in Hunt Valley, Maryland. Accordingly, the Company recorded acharge
of $546,000 during 2003 related to severance costs for the former employees at that location and an additional
$355,000 related to lease termination expenses and other closure costs.
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Contingent Matters

Off Balance Sheer Arrangements

In connection with certain of its contracts, the Company commits to certain performance guarantees. The ability
of the Company to perform under these guarantees may, in part, be dependent on the performance of other parties,
including partners and subcontractors. If the Company is unable to meet these performance obligations, the
performance guarantees could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s results of operations, liquidity
or financial position. The Company monitors the progress of its partners and subcontractors and does not believe
that their performance will adversely affect these contracts as of December 31, 2003. No assurances can be
given, however, as to the Company’s liability if the Company’s partners or subcontractors are unable to perform
their obligations.

For a discussion of AAI’s and the Company’s indemnity obligations relating to ETI, 35% of which is owned
by AAI see Notes 16 and 18 to the Financial Statements included in Item 8 of this Annual Report.

Other Contingent Matters

On July 26, 2002, the Company sold two transportation overhaul contracts with the New Jersey Transit
Corporation and Maryland Transit Administration and related assets and liabilities to ALSTOM. The Company
agreed to indemnify ALSTOM against certain breaches by AAI of representations and covenants pursuant to the
Master Agreement (“Agreement”). Certain of such indemnity claims are subject to a requirement that notice be
given within nine months of the closing and are subject to a maximum exposure of $4,250,000. Other
indemnification claims are not so limited. On March 3, June 5 and November 5, 2003, and on January 15, 2004,
ALSTOM made certain indemnification claims to the Company to be discussed by ALSTOM’s and the Company’s
respective managements. ALSTOM’s claims currently total approximately $8,500,000. The Company has requested
further documentation concerning ALSTOM’s claims. These matters are still pending and the Company is unable
to determine whether and to what extent the Company may have any liability with respect to such claims.

The Company is involved in various lawsuits and claims, including asbestos-related litigation and
environmental matters. For further information, refer to Note 16 to the Financial Statements included in Item 8
of this Annual Report.

Critical Accounting Policies

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires
management to make estimates and assumptions. These estimates and assumptions affect the reported amounts of
assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements as well
as reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from these
estimates. Judgments and assessments of uncertainties are required in applying the Company’s accounting policies
in many areas. For example, key assumptions are particularly important in developing the Company’s projected
liabilities for pension and other postretirement benefits. Other areas in which significant uncertainties exist include,
but are not limited to, projected costs to be incurred in connection with legal matters. The Company recognizes
a liability for legal indemnification and defense costs when it believes it is probable a liability has been incurred
and the amount can be reasonably estimated. The liabilities are developed based on currently available information.
The accruals are recorded at undiscounted amounts if the Company cannot reliably determine timing of the cash
payments, and the amounts are classified as liabilities on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. The
Company also has insurance that covers certain losses and records a receivable to the extent that the claim can be
reasonably estimated and realization is deemed probable. This receivable is recorded at undiscounted amounts and
is classified as a non-current receivable in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

The Company generally follows the percentage-of-completion method of accounting for its long-term
contracts. Sales and gross profit are principally recognized as work is performed based on the relationship between
actual costs incurred and total estimated costs, at completion. Alternatively, certain contracts provide for the
production of various units throughout the contract period, and sales and gross profit on these contracts are accounted
for based on the units delivered. Amounts representing contract change orders, claims or other items are included
in sales only when they can be reliably estimated and realization is probable. Incentives or penalties, estimated
warranty costs and awards applicable to performance on contracts are considered in estimating sales and profit rates,
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and are recorded when there is sufficient information to assess anticipated contract performance. When adjustments
in contract value or estimated costs are determined, any changes from prior estimates are reflected in earnings in
the current period. Anticipated losses on contracts or programs in progress are charged to earnings when identified.
Although management believes that the profits are fairly stated and that adequate provisions for losses on certain
of the fixed price contracts have been recorded in the financial statements, revisions to such estimates do occur
and at times are material to the Company’s results of operations and financial position.

Inventory is recorded at the lower of cost or market. Inventoried costs associated with long-term contracts
include costs and earnings of incomplete contracts not yet billable to the customer. These amounts represent the
difference between the percentage-of-completion method of accounting for long-term contracts used to record
operating results by the Company’s defense segment and the amounts billable to the customer under the terms of
the specific contracts. Estimates of final contract costs and earnings (including earnings subject to future
determination through negotiation or other procedures) are reviewed and revised periodically throughout the lives
of the contracts.

The Company files income tax returns and estimates income taxes in each of the taxing jurisdictions in which
it operates. The Company is subject to tax audits in each of these jurisdictions, which could result in changes to
the estimated taxes. The amount of these changes would vary by jurisdiction and would be recorded when known.
Management has recorded valuation allowances to reduce its deferred tax assets to the amount that is more likely
than not to be realized. In doing so, management has considered future taxable income and on-going tax planning
strategies in assessing the need for a valuation allowance.

New Accounting Pronouncements

In January 2003, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 46, “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities” which
requires the consolidation of variable interest entities, as defined. This interpretation is applicable to variable interest
entities created after January 31, 2003. Variable interest entities created prior to February 1, 2003, must be
consolidated effective December 15, 2003. The adoption of Statement No. 148 did not have a material effect on
the Company’s financial position or results of operations.

In December 2002, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued FASB Statement No. 148, Accounting
for Stock-Based Compensation—Transition and Disclosure. Statement No. 148 amends FASB Statement No. 123,
Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation, to provide alternative methods of transition to Statement No. 123’s
fair value method of accounting for stock-based employee compensation. Statement No. 148 also amends the
disclosure provisions of Statement No. 123 and APB Opinion No. 28, Interim Financial Reporting, to require
disclosure in the summary of significant accounting policies of the effects of an entity’s accounting policy with
respect to stock-based employee compensation on reported net income and earnings per share in annual and interim
financial statements. While Statement No. 148 does not amend Statement No. 123 to require companies to account
for employee stock options using the fair value method, the disclosure provisions of Statement No. 148 are
applicable to all companies with stock-based employee compensation, regardless of whether they account for that
compensation using the fair value method of Statement No. 123 or the intrinsic value method of Opinion No. 25.
The adoption of Statement No. 148 did not have a material effect on the Company’s financial position or results
of operations.

Risk Factors

Important risk factors that could cause the Company’s actual results to differ materially from those suggested
by the Company’s forward-looking statements contained herein include:

The Company depends on government contracts for substantially all of its sales.

The Company derives approximately 77% of its revenue from sales to the U.S. Government and its agencies.
The Company expects that the U.S. Government sales will continue to be the primary source of its revenue for
the foreseeable future. The loss of U.S. Government contracts or a delay or decline in funding of existing and future
U.S. Government programs are subject to uncertain future funding levels, which can also result in the deferral or
termination of programs. The Company’s business is also highly sensitive to changes in national and international
priorities and the U.S. Government budgets.
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In addition, U.S. Government contracts typically contain provisions and are subject to laws and regulations
that give the government agencies rights and remedies not typically found in commercial contracts, including
providing the government agency with the ability to unilaterally terminate, reduce the value of and modify some
of the terms and conditions of existing contracts, suspend or permanently prohibit the Company from doing business
with the U.S. Government or with any specific government agency, control and potentially prohibit the export of the
Company’s products, and claim rights in technologies and systems invested, developed or produced by
the Company.

If a U.S. Government agency terminates a contract with the Company for convenience, the Company generally
may recover only its incurred or committed costs, settlement expenses and profit on the work completed prior to
termination. If an agency terminates a contract with the Company for default, the Company is denied any recovery
and may be liable for excess costs incurred by the agency in procuring undelivered items from an alternative source.
The Company may receive show-cause or cure notices under contracts that, if not addressed to the agency’s
satisfaction, could give the agency the right to terminate those contracts for default or to cease procuring the
Company’s services under those contracts.

In the event that any of the Company’s contracts were to be terminated or adversely modified, there may be
significant adverse effects on the Company’s revenues, operating costs and income that would not be recoverable.

AsaU.S. Government contractor, the Company is subject to a number of procurement rules and regulations.

The Company must comply with and is affected by laws and regulations relating to the formation,
administration and performance of U.S. Government contracts. These laws and regulations, among other things,
require certification and disclosure of all cost and pricing data in connection with contract negotiations, define
allowable and unallowable costs and otherwise govern the Company’s right to reimbursement under certain cost-
based U.S. Government contracts, and restrict the use and dissemination of classified information and the
exportation of certain products and technical data.

These laws and regulations affect how the Company does business with its customers and in some instances,
impose added costs on our businesses. A violation of specific laws and regulations could result in the imposition
of fines and penalties or the termination of our contracts.

The Company’s businesses could be adversely affected by a negative audit by the U.S. Government.

U.S. Government agencies such as the Defense Contract Audit Agency (“DCAA”™) routinely audit and
investigate government contractors. These agencies review a contractor’s performance under its contracts, cost
structure and compliance with applicable laws, regulations and standards. The DCAA also reviews the adequacy
of, and a contractor’s compliance with, its internal control systems and policies, including the contractor’s
purchasing, property, estimating, compensation and management information systems. Any costs found to be
improperly allocated to a specific contract will not be reimbursed, while such costs already reimbursed must be
refunded. If an audit uncovers improper or illegal activities, the Company may be subject to civil and criminal
penalties and administrative sanctions, including termination of contracts, forfeiture of profits, suspension of
payments, fines and suspension or prohibition from doing business with the U.S. Government. In addition, the
Company could suffer serious harm to its reputation if allegations of impropriety were made against it.

The Company’s revenues will be adversely affected if the Company fails to receive renewal or follow-on
contracts.

Renewal and follow-on contracts are important because the Company’s contracts are for fixed terms. These
terms vary from shorter than one year to over five years, particularly for contracts with options. The typical term
of the Company’s contracts with the U.S. Government is between one and three years. The loss of revenues from
the Company’s possible failure to obtain renewal or follow-on contracts may be significant because the Company’s
U.S. Government contracts account for a substantial portion of the Company’s revenues.

Cost over-runs on the Company’s contracts could subject it to losses and adversely affect its future business.

Approximately 70% of the Company’s contracts in 2003 were firm fixed-price contracts. Under firm fixed-price
contracts, the Company performs services under a contract at a stipulated price. If the Company’s initial estimates
used for calculating the contract price are incorrect, the Company can incur losses on those contracts because any
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costs in excess of the fixed price are absorbed by the Company. Under time and materials contracts, the Company
is paid for labor at negotiated hourly billing rates and for certain expenses. Under cost reimbursement contracts,
which are subject to a contract-ceiling amount, the Company is reimbursed for allowable costs and paid a fee, which
may be fixed or performance based. However, if costs exceed the contract ceiling or are not allowable under the
provisions of the contract or applicable regulations, the Company may not be able to obtain reimbursement for all
such costs. The Company’s ability to manage costs on each of these contract types may materially and adversely
affect its financial condition. Cost over-runs also may adversely affect the Company’s ability to sustain existing
programs and obtain future contract awards.

Due to the size and nature of many of the Company’s contracts, the estimation of total revenues and cost at
completion is complicated and subject to many variables. Assumptions have to be made regarding the length of
time to complete the contract because costs also include expected increases in wages and prices for materials.
Incentives or penalties related to performance on contracts are considered in estimating sales and profit rates, and
are recorded when there is sufficient information for the Company to assess anticipated performance. Estimates
of award fees are also used in estimating sales and profit rates based on actual and anticipated awards.

Because of the significance of the judgments and estimation processes described above, it is likely that
materially different amounts could be recorded if the Company used different assumptions or if the underlying
circumstances were to change. Changes in underlying assumptions, circumstances or estimates may adversely affect
future period financial performance. For additional information on accounting policies we have in place for
recognizing sales and profits, see Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations—Critical Accounting Policies in Item 7 of this Annual Report and Note 2 of the Notes to Financial
Statements included in Item 8 of this Annual Report.

Failure to perform by one of the Company’s subcontractors, partners or suppliers could materially and
adversely affect the Company’s performance and the Company’s ability to obtain future business.

Many of the Company’s contracts involve subcontracts or partnerships with other companies upon which the
Company relies to perform a portion of the services the Company must provide to its customers. There is a risk
that the Company may have disputes with the Company’s subcontractors, including disputes regarding the quality
and timeliness of work performed by the subcontractor, customer concerns about the subcontractor, the Company’s
failure to extend existing task orders or issue new task orders under a subcontract or the Company’s hiring of
personnel of a subcontractor. A failure by one or more of the Company’s subcontractors to satisfactorily provide
on a timely basis the agreed-upon services may materially and adversely impact the Company’s ability to-perform
the Company’s obligations as the prime contractor. Subcontractor performance deficiencies could expose the
Company to liability and have a matenal adverse effect on the Company'’s ‘ability to compete for future contracts
and orders.

In addition, in connection with certain of its contracts, the Company commits to certain performance
guarantees. The ability of the Company to perform under these guarantees may in part, be dependent on the
performance of other parties, including partners and subcontractors. If the Company is unable to meet these
performance obligations, the performance guarantees could have a material adverse effect on product margins and
the Company’s results of operations, liquidity or financial position. The Company monitors the progress of its
partners and subcontractors and does not believe that their performance will adversely affect these contracts as of
December 31, 2003. No assurances can be given, however, as to the Company’s liability if the Company’s partners
or subcontractors are unable to perform their obligations. :

In addition, although the Company can obtain materials and purchase components generally from a number
of different suppliers, several suppliers are the Company’s sole source of certain components. If a supplier should
cease to deliver such components, the Company would probably find other sources; however, this could result in
added cost and manufacturing delays, which may affect the Company’s ability to meet customer needs and may
have an adverse impact on the Company’s profitability.

The Company operates in highly competitive and rapidly changing markets.

The defense industry in which the Company primarily participates is highly competitive and characterized by
rapid technological change. If the Company does not continue to improve existing product lines and develop new
products and technologies, the Company’s business could be materially and adversely affected. In addition, the

24




Company’s competitors could introduce new products with greater capabilities which could also have a material
adverse effect on the Company’s business. In addition, in connection with certain of its contracts, the Company
commits to certain performance guarantees. The ability of the Company to perform under these guarantees may,
in part, be dependent on the performance of other parties, including partners and subcontractors. If the Company
is unable to meet these performance obligations, the performance guarantees could have a material adverse effect
on product margins and the Company’s results of operations, liquidity or financial position. The Company monitors
the progress of its partners and subcontractors and does not believe that their performance will adversely affect
these contracts as of December 31, 2003. No assurances can be given, however, as to the Company’s liability if
the Company’s partners or subcontractors are unable to perform their obligations.

The Company competes primarily for government contracts against many companies that are larger than the
Company, devote greater resources to research and development, and generally have greater financial and other
resources. Consequently, these competitors may be better positioned to take advantage of economies of scale and
develop new technologies. In order to remain competitive, the Company must keep the Company’s capabilities
technically advanced and compete on price and on value added to its customers. The Company’s ability to compete
may be adversely affected by limits on its capital resources and its ability to invest in maintaining and expanding
the Company’s market share. If the Company is unable to compete effectively, its business and prospects will be
adversely affected.

In addition, the Company’s international business is subject to changes in import and export policies,
technology transfer restrictions, limitations imposed by U.S. law that are not applicable to foreign competitors, and
other legal, financial and governmental risks.

The Company and its subsidiaries are subject to asbestos-related and environmental litigation and
other liabilities.

The Company’s financial condition and performance may be affected by pending litigation, including
asbestos and environmental matters, and other loss contingencies, and by unanticipated liabilities. These litigation
matters and contingencies are described in Note 16 of the Notes to Financial Statements included in Item 8 of this
Annual Report.

Although the Company accounts for its transportation business as a discontinued operation, the Company
remains subject to significant obligations in connection with such operations.

The Company accounts for its transportation business as a discontinued operation. As such, the Company is
attempting to complete its obligations under its remaining contract in this business in such a way as not to expose
the Company to further losses. However, as discussed in Note 16 to the Notes to Financial Statements included
in Item 8 of this Annual Report, the remaining obligations and potential obligations, which include performance
and indemnity obligations, are significant. Therefore, although the Company anticipates that ETI’s current program
will be completed during the third quarter of 2004 and that it has adequately provided for the estimated losses
including warranty obligations to be incurred by ETI, there can be no assurances that the Company will, in fact,
be able to successfully extricate itself from its obligations and potential obligations within the stated time frame
or within the established reserves.

The Company’s level of returns on pension plan assets could affect the Company’s earnings in future periods.
The Company’s net income or loss may be positively or negatively impacted by the amount of income or
expense the Company records for its pension plan. An example of how changes in the Company’s assumptions
related to the Company’s pension plan can affect the Company’s financial statements occurred in 2002. For a
discussion regarding how the Company’s financial statements can be affected by pension plan accounting policies,
see Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations in Item 7 of this
Annual Report and Note 11 of the Notes to Financial Statements included in Item & of this Annual Report.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

At times, the Company enters into forward exchange contracts to manage its exposure against foreign currency
fluctuations on sales transactions denominated in foreign currencies. The contract obligates the Company to
exchange predetermined amounts of the foreign currency at certain dates, or to make an equivalent U.S. dollar
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payment equal to the value of such exchanges. The purpose of the Company’s foreign exchange currency activities
is to protect the Company from the risk that the eventual U.S. dollar cash flows resulting from the sale of products
to international customers will be adversely affected by changes in exchange rates. Gains and losses for effective
hedging activities are included in Other Comprehensive Income and recognized in earnings when the future sales
occur. Gains and losses for ineffective hedges are recorded in income. At December 31, 2003 the Company had
two foreign currency forward contracts with large financial institutions. One for Australian dollars having maturities
of three years to hedge contract payments scheduled to be received within three years. The aggregate notional value
of this contract was $1,500,000, with an aggregate loss of $96,000 based on fair market value. The second contract
is for the delivery of Euros in 2004 has a notional value totaling $2,250,000, with an aggregate loss of $336,000
based on fair market value. Both of these have been recorded in income.

The Company is exposed to credit loss in the event of nonperformance by counterparties on foreign exchange
contracts. The amount of such exposure is generally the unrealized gain or loss on such contracts. The Company
does not hold or issue financial instruments for trading purposes.
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ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

UNITED INDUSTRIAL CORPORATION & SUBSIDIARIES

(Dollars in thousands)

Assets
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents ......
Trade receivables ..............
U.S. Government ............

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

Other, less allowance for doubtful accounts of $556 and $235 for 2003 and 2002, respectively ..

Federal income tax receivable ..
Inventories ....................
Prepaid expenses and other assets
Deferred income taxes .........
Assets of discontinued operations
Total Current Assets .............

Deferred income taxes ...........
Other assets ............ovvvvvnn.

Insurance receivable—asbestos Htigation .............co i i

Property and equipment
Land ...,
Buildings and improvements .. ..
Machinery and equipment ......
Furniture and fixtures ..........

Less: Allowance for depreciation and amortization .............cooviviiiiiininirinnennnnnnon..

Total Assets .....................

Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity

Current Liabilities
Accounts payable ..............

Accrued employee compensation and taXes ........... ...ttt

Customer advances ............
Reserve for contract Josses .....
Other habilities ................

Liabilities of discontinued OPErations .................iniiniiiioniir i iiiiinianaas

Total Current Liabilities ..........
Minimum pension liability ........

Post retirement benefits other than pensions .................ooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiaeiiiian,

Reserve for asbestos litigation . ...
Other liabilities ..................
Shareholders’ equity

Common stock—par value $1.00 per share
Authorized shares 30,000,000; Issued 14,374,148 shares;
Outstanding 13,267,218 shares in 2003 and 13,067,918

shares in 2002 ..............
Additional capital ..............
Retained deficit ................
Cost of shares in treasury:

1,106,930 shares in 2003 and 1,306,230 shares in 2002 .......... ..o,
Accumulated other comprehensive 108S ... ... .

Total Shareholders’ Equity ........

Total Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity.............................c i

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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December 31,

2003 2002
'$ 24,138 $ 3,635
24,570 26,540
8,807 11,148
33,377 37,688
— 15,509
16,968 20,951
2,660 1,351
6,757 4,528
6,139 15,092
90,039 98,754
10,886 11,531
7,710 7,421
20,317 20,343
459 459
38,020 35,244
68,394 67,002
4,715 4,891
111,588 107,59
89,372 86,400
2216 21,196
$151,168  $159,245
$ 10,117 §$ 11,711
11,920 12,043
2,452 6,211
1,681 2,050
5,654 3,682
16,611 12,563
48,435 48,260
6,755 8,276
21,970 22,361
31,595 31,852
1,466 865
14,374 14,374
88,125 92,085
(22,095)  (16,254)
(11,345)  (10,312)
(28,112)  (32,262)
40,947 47,631
$151,168  $159,245




UNITED INDUSTRIAL CORPORATION & SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(Dollars in Thousands, except per share amounts)

Twelve Months Ended December 31,

] 2003 2002 2001
Net sales ........ et e e e e e et et $310,947  $258,767  $238,495
COSE OF SALES ..ttt e 243,589 202,650 184,530
GIOSS PrOfIt ..ottt e 67,358 56,117 53,965
Selling & administrative eXpenses .............ceevereeeinernnnrennses 42,717 38,532 32,880
Asbestos litigation provision—net ...............oiini 717 11,509 —
Other operating expenses—net ........................ e 667 703 434
Total operating iNCOME ........ceuiiniieniiiii it 23,257 . 5,373 20,651
Non-operating income and (expense)
Interest INCOME ...\ venien ittt i e cie e eienaae 463 127 618
(01117 g 111010 ) 111 389 64 1,085
Equity in-net income of joint venture ...................oo 57 99 86
TNTErest EXPENSE ... ueern ettt ettt aaeen (92) (843) an
Other EXPENSES . ..u\uvteeiiiiie ettt aane e, (557 (382) 412)
260 (935) 1,360
Income from continuing operations before income taxes .............. 23,517 4,438 22,011
Provision for income taxes
Federal CUITENT . ... ovne et tet e e et e ettt e e nnnes 9,274 5,432 8,145
Federal deferred ........ovoiiiiiii i e (1,525) (4,933) (152)
R} (= 662 75 (610)
TOtal INCOMIE LAXES vttt er et et tetntsareteeeerenneareeeneaness 8,411 574 7,383
Income from continuing operations ... 15,106 3,364 14,628
Loss from discontinued operations—net of income tax benefit
of $11,274, $23,112 and $5,621 for 2003, 2002 and 2001,
TESPECIVELY .« ..ttt e (20,947 (42,941 (9,265)
Net (I0SS) ICOMIE . ...''eiitititeit e ete ettt iiiiiiieneenanans $ (5841 $(39.077) §$ 5363
Basic earnings per share:
Income from continuing operations ...................ccoeenn. $ 114 $ 030 $ 115
Loss from discontinued operations ..............c.c.ovviieeaa..n. $§ (1.58) $ (3300 $ (0.73)
Net (JOSS) INCOME .. vuvvrrrtereee i e e eeeeeieeeenniiareranenes $ (044) $ (3000 $ 042
~ Diluted earnings per share:
Income from continuing OPerations ................ooveveuunenn, $ 110 $ 028 $ 1.10
Loss from discontinued Operations .................ooveeeeeinnn.. $ (153 $ (313 § (0.70)
Net (1088) INCOME .. ..oiei it ettt et e e ieiaaaeannes $§ (043 $ (2385 $ 040

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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UNITED INDUSTRIAL CORPORATION & SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
"(Dollars in Thousands)

Twelve Months Ended December 31,

2003 2002 2001
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net (108S) NCOME ... . uentt ettt ettt $(5,841)  $(39,077) % 5,363
Adjustments to reconcile net (loss) income to net cash '
provided by (used for) operating activities: .
Loss from discontinued operations, net of income tax benefit ...... 20,947 42,941 9,265
Net asbestos litigation eXpense ...........c.coevvviiiiirnieiinneaen, — 11,509 —
Pension expense (INCOME), NEL .....oooveirirniiininirenreerrannens 6,119 1,321 (2,385)
Income tax refund ... ...t e 16,822 — —_
Depreciation and amortization ...........viiiiiiniieiiirineannaes 5415 8,763 6,413
Noncash compensation charge ...................... e —_ — 346
Deferred inCOME taXES .. .vvvrrreetree et iie it eii it eeeenann (1,525) (4,933) 152
Equity in net income of jOINt VENIUFE ..............c.ccovvverenens, (57 99) - (86)
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Decrease in trade receivables ...............ociiieiiiiiiin 4,311 87 12,443
Decrease (increase) in iNVENLOLIES . ........oovvviverenereeannenns. 3,983 4,763) 11,792
(Increase) decrease in prepaid expenses and other current assets . ... (1,309) 404 1,223 .
Decrease in customer advances ....... e e (3,759) (831) . (2,329
{Decrease) increase in accounts payable, accruals and other

current labilities ... ... it (1,427 7,054 5,665

167115 S 11 A S S (2,849 490 (4,692)
Net Cash Provided by Continuing Operations ...................... 40,835 22,866 43,170
Net Cash Used for Discontinued Operations,

exclusive of income taxes .........ccoooiii i (7,946) (37,806) (45,459)
Net Cash Provided by (Used for) Operating Activities ............. 32,889 (14,940) (2,289)

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from sale of assets for discontinued operations ............. —_ 20,756 —

Increase in amount due from investee for discontinued operations .... (2,122) (3,648) (2,986)

Repayment of advances by investee of discontinued operations ....... 2,122 1,917 2,730

Purchase of property and equipment .............ccooveviininrerenann, (6,213) (5,219) (2,028)

Capital expenditures of discontinued operations ...................... — — (2,610)

Repayment of advances and dividend received by investée ........... — 1,360 2,300

Net Cash (Used for) Provided by Investing Activities ................ (6,213) 15,166 (2,594)

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from exercise of stock options ................coeiiiiiiinn. 5,178 1,825 © 4,063

Dividends .......oovii e (5,315) (3,912) (5,069)

Purchase of treasury shares .............cooiviviiiiiinieeiiirenennnn, (6,036) — ’ —

Proceeds from DOTrOWINES ........ccovieiieiriiiiiiiiiiiriiinieernennns — — 6,300

Payments on long term debt and financing .....................l — — (6,300)

Net Cash Used for Financing Activities ............ccooviieirieriennns (6,173) (2,087) (1,006)

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents ...................... 20,503 (1,861) (5,889)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period ..................... 3,635 5,496 11,385

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period .....................colt. $24,138 $ 3635 $ 5,496

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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UNITED INDUSTRIAL CORPORATION

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1. Nature of Operations

United Industrial Corporation is an advanced technology company applying its resources to the research,
development and production of aerospace and military systems, electronics and components under defense
contracts, and to a lesser extent to energy systems for industry and utilities.

The principal business segments are defense and related products, and energy generating systems. The ground
transportation systems business is included as a discontinued operation. See Notes 2 and 16.

Note 2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Use of Estimates in the Pfepararion of Financial Statements

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the
Financial Statements and the accompanying notes. Actual results could differ from these estimates and such
differences may be material to the Financial Statements.

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its subsidiaries. Significant
intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. The Company includes in income
its proportionate share of the net earnings or losses of unconsolidated investees, when the Company’s ownership
interest is between.20% and 50%. During 2002, the discontinued transportation operations of the Company began
recording 100%, instead of 35%, of Electric Transit Inc.’s (“ETT’s”) losses because of the apparent inability of Skoda,
a.s., the majority owner, to meet its financial obligations under ETT’s shareholder agreement and AAI’s contractual
indemnification of the surety concerning certain of ETI’s performance criteria.

Fair Value Information ]
The carrying amounts for cash, accounts receivable and accounts payable approximate fair value because of
the short term nature of these instruments.

Discontinued Operations

~ The Company accounts for the remaining transportation operations as discontinued operations including its
35% ownership in ETL

- During 2002, the Company sold two transportation overhaul contracts and related assets. The Company
recorded a loss of $21,500,000 associated with this transaction. The proceeds of this sale were approximately
$20,756,000. In addition, the agreement provided for the Company to be released under all performance bonds and
obligations under the conveyed contracts. Further, the Company received a cost plus fee contract to perform work
on the conveyed contracts for the purchaser during a transition period not to exceed six months. These divested
overhaul contracts, and the efforts undertaken by AAI to assist ETI to complete its one remaining contract, as well
as AAT’s equity interest in ETI, are included in the accounting for discontinued operations. See Notes 16 and 17
for additional information.

Cash Equivalents and Marketable Securities

The Company considers all highly liquid investments with maturity of three months or less when purchased
to be cash equivalents.




UNITED INDUSTRIAL CORPORATION

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market. At December 31, 2003 and 2002, approximately 14%
and 21%, respectively, of total inventory were priced by the last-in, first-out (LIFO) method with the remainder
priced at actual or average cost. If the first-in, first-out (FIFO) method of inventory pricing had been used, inventories
would have been approximately $3,149,000 and $2,984,000 higher than reported on December 31, 2003 and
2002, respectively. o .

Revenue and Gross Profit Recognition

The Company generally follows the percentage-of-completion method of accounting for its long-term
contracts. Sales and gross profit are principally recognized as work is performed based on the relationship between
actual costs incurred and total estimated costs at completion. Alternatively, certain contracts provide for the
production of various units throughout the contract period, and sales and gross profit on these contracts are accounted
for based on the units delivered. Amounts representing contract change orders, claims or other items are included
in sales only when they can be reliably estimated and realization is probable. Incentives or penalties, estimated
warranty costs and awards applicable to performance on contracts are considered in estimating sales and profit
rates, and are recorded when there is sufficient information to assess anticipated contract performance. When
adjustments in contract value or estimated costs are determined, any changes from prior estimates are reflected in
earnings in the current period. Anticipated losses on contracts or programs in progress are charged to earnings
when identified. '

Noncontract revenue is recorded when the product is shipped and the title passes or when the services
are provided.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost. The policy of the Company is to provide for depreciation on the
straight-line and declining-balance methods, by annual charges to operations calculated to amortize the cost over
the estimated useful lives of the various classes of property and equipment.

Earnings per Share

Basic earnings per share is based on the weighted average number of common shares outstanding. Diluted
earnings per share gives effect to the assumed exercise of dilutive options, using, where appropriate, the treasury
stock method.

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company has elected to continue to account for its stock-based compensation plans in accordance
with Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees” (APB 25),
whereby compensation cost for stock options is recognized in’ income based on the excess, if any, of the quoted
market price of the stock at the grant date of the award or other measurement date over the amount an employee
must pay to acquire the stock. In addition, the Company furnishes the proforma disclosures required under FASB
Statement No. 148, “Accounting for Stock Based Compensation Transition and Disclosure” (FAS 148), a
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UNITED INDUSTRIAL CORPORATION

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

reconciliation of net earnings and related proforma income and income per common share from continuing
operations is as follows:

December 31,

(Dollars in thousands, except per share amounts) 2003 2002 2001
Income from continuing operations:
AS TEPOTIE ... e ettt e $15,106 $3,864 $14,628
Total employee stock compensation expense determined
under fair value method, netof tax ......................... (716) (785) (746)
PLOfOTTIIA oo e ee it et e et e et e e $14,390 $3,079 $13,882
Income per common share from continuing operations:
As reported:
BasiC ..ot e U $ 1.14 $ 0.30 $ 115
Diluted . ... e $ 1.10 $ 028 $ 1.10
Proforma:
BaSiC i e e $ 1.09 $ 024 $ 109
Diluted ...t $ 1.05 $ 023 $ 1.04

The fair value of each option grant is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing
model with the following weighted-average assumptions used for grants in 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively:
dividend yields of 2.4%, 2.0% and 3.0%; expected volatility of 26%, 44% and 29%; risk-free interest rates of 4.3%,
4.6% and 5.2%; and expected lives of ten years in 2003, 2002 and 2001. In 2003, some of the options granted had
an exercise price that was greater than the current market price on the date of grant, while all of the other options
were granted with an exercise price equal to the market price on the date of the grant. In 2003, the weighted-average
fair value of options granted with their exercise price equal to the current market price at the date of grant was
$4.91. The weighted-average fair value of options granted with their exercise price greater than the current market
price at the date of grant was $4.87. The weighted-average fair value of an option granted was $8.95 and $4.09
for the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

Reclassification
Certain financial statement amounts in the prior years have been reclassified to conformn to current year’s
presentation.

Foreign Currency Contracts

At times, the Company enters into forward exchange contracts to manage its exposure against foreign currency
fluctuations on sales transactions denominated in foreign currencies. The contract obligates the Company to
exchange predetermined amounts of the foreign currency at certain dates, or to make an equivalent U.S. dollar
payment equal to the value of such exchanges. The purpose of the Company’s foreign exchange currency activities
is to protect the Company from the risk that the eventual U.S. dollar cash flows resulting from the sale of products
to international customers will be adversely affected by changes in exchange rates. Gains and losses for effective
hedging activities are included in Other Comprehensive Income and recognized in earnings when the future sales
occur. Gains and losses for ineffective hedges are recorded in income. At December 31, 2003, the Company had
two foreign currency forward contracts with large financial institutions. One is for Australian dollars having
maturities of three years to hedge contract payments scheduled to be received within three years. The aggregate
notional value of this contract was $1,500,000, with an aggregate loss of $96,000 based on fair market value. The
second contract is for the delivery of Euros in 2004 and has a notional value totaling $2,250,000, with an aggregate
loss of $336,000 based on fair market value. The losses on both of these foreign currency forward contracts have
been recorded in income.
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UNITED INDUSTRIAL CORPORATION

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

The Company is exposed to credit loss in the event of nonperformance by counterparties on foreign exchange
contracts. The amount of such exposure is generally the unrealized gain or loss on such contracts. The Company
does not hold or issue financial instruments for trading purposes.

Legal Matters

The Company recognizes a liability for legal indemnification and defense costs when it believes it is probable
a liability has been incurred and the amount can be reasonably estimated. The liabilities are developed based on
currently available information. The accruals are recorded at undiscounted amounts if the Company cannot reliably
determine the timing of the cash payments and the amounts are classified as liabilities on the accompanying
consolidated balance sheets. The Company also has insurance that covers losses on certain claims and legal matters
and records a receivable to the extent that the realization of the insurance is deemed probable. This receivable is
recorded at undiscounted amounts and is classified as a noncurrent receivable in the accompanying consolidated
balance sheets.

New Accounting Pronouncements

In December 2002, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued FASB Statement No. 148, Accounting
for Stock-Based Compensation—Transition and Disclosure. Statement No. 148 amends FASB Statement No. 123,
Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation, to provide alternative methods of transition to Statement No. 123’s
fair value method of accounting for stock-based employee compensation. Statement No. 148 also amends the
disclosure provisions of Statement No. 123 and APB Opinion No. 28, Interim Financial Reporting, to require
disclosure in the summary of significant accounting policies of the effects of an entity’s accounting policy with
respect to stock-based employee compensation on reported net income and earnings per share in annual and interim
financial statements. While the Statement does not amend Statement No. 123 to require companies to account for
employee stock options using the fair value method, the disclosure provisions of Statement No. 148 are applicable
to all companies with stock-based employee compensation, regardless of whether they account for that
compensation using the fair value method of Statement No. 123 or the intrinsic value method of Opinion No. 25.
The adoption of Statement No. 148 did not have a material effect on the Company’s financial statements or results
of operations. :

In January 2003, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 46,“Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities” which
requires the consolidation of variable interest entities, as defined. This interpretation is applicable to variable interest
entities created after January 31, 2003. Variable interest entities created prior to February 1, 2003, must be
consolidated effective December 15, 2003. The adoption of Interpretation No. 46 did not have a material effect
on the Company’s financial statements or results of operations.

During December 2003, the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003 (“the
Act”) was signed into law. The Act incorporates a prescription drug benefit under Medicare as well as federal subsidy
to sponsors of retiree health care benefit plans that provide a benefit that is at least actuarially equivalent to Medicare
Part D. In January 2004, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position (“FSP”) No. FAS 106-1, “Accounting for Disclosure
Requirements Related to the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003.” As
permitted under FSP 106-1, the Company has elected to defer accounting for the effects of the Act until authoritative
guidance on the accounting for the federal subsidy is issued. Additionally, the accrued benefit obligation and
the net periodic postretirement benefit costs included in the Company’s consolidated financial statements does
not reflect the effects of the Act on the Company’s post retirement benefit plan. Upon issuance of authoritative
guidance, and adoption of such guidance, the Company may have to adjust amounts previously reported in the
financial statements.
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UNITED INDUSTRIAL CORPORATION

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

Note 3. Trade Receivables -
Amounts due from the U.S. Government primarily related to long-term contracts of the Company’s defense
segment were as follows: ‘

December 31,
(Dollars in thousands) 2003 2002
Amounts billed ................. ... e e e $ 8,348 $10,179
Unbilled recoverable costs and earned fees ..........cooiiiiiiiniiiininnn., 15,963 15,676
Retainage per contract ProviSions .............veeeeerereeereennrerennrerenns 259 685

$24,570  $26,540

Billed and unbilled amounts include $3,991,000 and $2,617,000 at December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively,
related to contracts for which a subsidiary of the Company is a subcontractor to other government contractors.
Unbilled recoverable costs and earned fees represent amounts that will be substantially collected within one year.
Retainage amounts will generally be billed over the next twelve months.

Other Accounts Receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts was $8,807,000 and $11,148,000, at
December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively, and consisted of receivables from industrial and other non-U.S.
Government customers. The Company continuously evaluates the credit worthiness of its non-U.S. Government
customers and generally does not require collateral.

Note 4. Inventories
December 31,

(Dollars in thousands) 2003 2002
Finished goods and work in progress ...........ccoevviiiiiiieriiiennnneenns $ 3,136 $ 6,151
Costs and earnings related to long-term contracts .............coceeeniinnn.., 55,984 65,031
Deduct progress payments related to long-term contracts .................... (43,218) (51,667)
Costs and earnings in excess of billings ...............coiiiiiiiiiiiiiian, 12,766 13,364
Total finished goods and Work in progress ..........covvvviiiievrvnnneeennn.. 15,902 19,515
Materials and SUPPLES ... .o ovte et e 1,066 1,436

$ 16968 $ 20,951

The inventoried costs associated with incomplete long-term contracts not yet billed to customers include costs
and earnings of $12,766,000 in 2003 and $13,364,000 in 2002. These amounts represent the percentage-of-
completion method of accounting for long-term contracts in excess of the amounts billable to the customer under
the terms of the specific contracts. Estimates of final contract costs are reviewed and revised periodically throughout
the lives of the contracts. Adjustments to the contract costs resulting from the revisions are recorded on a current
basis. The Company recognized pre-tax losses of $4,222,000 and $4,610,000 during 2003 and 2002, respectively,
resulting primarily from revision of cost estimates on certain major long-term contracts.

Note 5. Other Assets

December 31,

(Dollars in thousands) ’ 2003 2002
Intangible PENSION @SSEL .......vuuiiiiii i e $4,085 $4,268
Patents and other intangible assets, Net ..........oveviiiiiiiiiiiiiiiii i 718 940
Other .o 2,907 2,213

$7.710 $7,421
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Patents and other intangible assets represent assets acquired in conmection with the purchase of ACL
Technologies Inc., an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, and are being amortized primarily on a
straight-line basis through 2007. Amortization expense amounted to $222,000 in 2003, $226,000 in 2002 and
$318,000 in 2001. Accumulated amortization amounted to $4,888,000 and $4,666,000 at December 31, 2003 and
2002, respectively. Other includes the investment in a joint venture.

Note 6. Long-Term Debt and Credit Arrangements

On June 28, 2001, the Company and certain of its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Borrowers™) entered into
a Loan and Security Agreement (the “Credit Agreement”) with Fleet Capital Corporation. The Credit Agreement
has a term of three years and provides for letters of credit and cash borrowings, subject to a borrowing base. The
Credit Agreement provides for up to $25,000,000 of credit advances, with a $10,000,000 cash borrowing sublimit.
Credit advances may increase to $32,000,000 provided that amounts in excess of $25,000,000 are cash-
collateralized. All assets of the Borrowers are pledged as collateral under the Credit Agreement. At December 31,
2003 there were no cash borrowings under the Credit Agreement. The letter of credit obligations outstanding at
December 31, 2003 under the Credit Agreement were $3,627,000. During 2003, amendments to the Credit
Agreement were entered into whereby, among other things, financial covenants were modified, the amount of the
Company’s Common Stock that may be repurchased during the term of the Credit Agreement was increased from
$5,000,000 to $20,000,000, and a borrowing base reserve of $6,000,000 on the total credit facility was instituted,
with a $3,000,000 reserve being applied to the $10,000,000 cash sublimit. The covenants that the Company agreed
to included a minimum ratio of total liabilities to tangible net worth, a limitation to the pre-tax losses of the
discontinued transportation operations, a minimum fixed charge coverage ratio, a maximum balance sheet leverage
ratio and a minimum amount of tangible net worth. The Company believes that it will be successful in its ability
to negotiate an extended or new credit agreement with Fleet Capital Corporatlon or to enter into a new credit
agreement with another party.

A subsidiary of the Company, Detroit Stoker, also has a $2,000,000 line of credit with a bank which may be
used for cash borrowings or letters of credit. This agreement expires May 1, 2004. The Company believes that it
will be able to obtain an extension of such agreement. At December 31, 2003, the subsidiary had no cash borrowings
and $395,000 of letters of credit outstanding.

Interest expense was $92,000 in 2003, $843,000 in 2002 and $17,000 in 2001, Interest paid was $92,000 in
2003, $456,000 in 2002 and $36,000 in 2001.

Note 7.- Stock Options

In May 1994, the shareholders approved the 1994 Stock Option Plan as amended, (the “Plan”). The Plan
provides for the granting of options to key employees with respect to the purchase of an aggregate of 2,700,000
shares of common stock. Options granted may be either “incentive stock options,” within the meaning of Section
422A of the Internal Revenue Code, or non-qualified options.

The options are granted at not less than market value at the date of grant, and in accordance with APB Opinion
No. 25 and related-interpretations, no compensation cost has been recognized for grants made under the Plan at
the time of grant. Options are exercisable over a period determined by the Board of Directors, but no longer than
ten years after the date they are granted. Options generally vest one-third each year after a one-year waiting period.

In May 1997, the shareholders approved the 1996 Stock Option Plan for Non-employee Directors, which
provides for the granting of options with respect to the purchase of an aggregate of up to 300,000 shares of common
stock of the Company. Options may be exercised up to one-third as of the date of grant of an option and up to
an additional one-third may be exercised as of the date of each subsequent annual meeting of shareholders, but
no longer than ten years after the date they are granted. The options are granted at not less than market value at
the date of grant.
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A summary of stock option activity under all plans is as follows:

Weighted Average

(Shares in thousands) Number of Shares: Exercise Price
Balance at January 1, 2001 ........... i 1,764 $ 9.17
Granted ....oiiiit i i 349 13.37
Exercised ..o.ovvuniiii e e (436) 9.31
Cancelled ..........oooiii it _(128) 8.88
Balance at December 31, 2001 ... 1,549 10.10
Granted ...o.viiiiiiiie e e e 170 19.25
BXEICISEA .. .ovrr ettt et e e (195) 9.36
Cancelled .........ccooiiiiiiiiiiii e _ M 8.71
Balance at December 31,2002 ..............coooiiiii 1,523 11.22
Granted ... ..ttt e e e 155 16.71
Exercised .. ..o e (555) 9.32
Cancelled ......ooooviiiiiiii _ (4 10.81
Balance at December 31, 2003 ... ..ot ﬁ $12.94
. December 31,
(Shares in thousands) : 2003 20602 2001
EXETCISADIE o vt ettt e e 770 1,070 977
Available for future grants ............cooiiiiiiii e 264 105 274

The weighted average remaining life for options outstanding as of December 31, 2003, is approximately
six years.

The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding at December 31, 2003:

(Shares in thousands) Shares
Range of Exercise Prices Exercisable Outstanding
$ 450608 T.00 .ot ey 39 39
B7.50 10 8 9.8l Lo e 332 332
$10.25 10 $13.00 ..ottt e 237 308
$13.99 10 $20.12 ittt e 162 430
m L9

Note 8. Leases
Total rental expense for all operating leases amounted to $3,778,000 in 2003, $3,699,000 in 2002 and
$3,566,000 in 2001. Contingent rental payments were not significant.

The future minimum rental commitments as of December 31, 2003, for all non-cancelable leases are
- $2,996,000 in 2004; $1,839,000 in 2005; $1,442,000 in 2006; $1,149,000 in 2007; $1,044,000 in 2008; and
$342,000 thereafter. '
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Note 9. Changes in Shareholders’ Equity

» Accumulated
Common Retained other
Shares Common Additional Earnings Treasury Comprehensive Shareholders’
{Dollars in thousands) Outstanding _ Stock Capital {Deficit) Stock Loss Equity
Balance, January 1, 200t ...... 12,435 $14,374  $89,384 $ 26,441 $(15,306) $114,893
Netincome ................... ‘ 5,363 5,363
Cash dividends declared '

(30.40 per share) ........... (5,069) . (5,069)
Stock options exercised ....... 436 624 _ 3,439 4,063
Noncash compensation ........ 638 638 -
Stock options, tax benefit ...... 448 448
Employee awards ............. 1 8 8
Balance, December 31, 2001 ... 12,872 14,374 91,094 26,735  (11,859) 120,344
Net (1088) ..ovvvvvenrvnennnnn (39,077) (39,077)
Minimum pension liability, net

of tax benefit of $17,333 .... , (32,262) _(32,262)
Total comprehensive loss ...... . (71,339)
Cash dividends declared

($0.30 per share) ........... (3,912) (3,912)
Stock options exercised ....... 195 287 1,538 1,825
Stock options, tax benefit ... ... 692 692
Employee awards ............. 1 12 9 ' 21
Balance, December 31, 2002 ... 13,068 14,374 92,085 (16,254) (10,312) (32,262) 47,631
Net (loss) o.ovvevvienenninn... : (5,841) (5,841)
Minimum pension liability, net

of tax expense of $3,161 .... 4,150 4,150
Total comprehensive loss ...... (1,691)
Cash dividends declared o

(80.40 per share) ........... (5,315) : (5,315)
Stock options exercised ....... 555 187 4,991 5,178
Stock options, tax benefit ...... : 1,162 1,162
Treasury stock purchases ...... (358) (6,036) (6,036)
Employee awards ............. 2 6 12 18
Balance, December 31, 2003 ... 13,267 $14,374  $88,125  $(22,095) $(11,345) = $(28,112) $ 40,947

The exercise of stock options that have been granted under the Company’s various stock option plans give
rise to compensation which is includable in the taxable income of the applicable employees and deductible by the
Company for federal and state income tax purposes. Such compensation results from increases in the fair market
value of the Company’s common stock subsequent to the date of grant of the applicable exercised stock options
and, accordingly, in accordance with Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, such compensation is not

recognized as an expense for financial accounting purposes and the related tax benefits are recorded directly in
Additional Capitai.

Note 10. UIC Stock Repurchase

In November 2003, the Board of Directors of the Company authorized the repurchase of up to $10,000,000
of the Company’s common stock. At December 31, 2003, the Company had repurchased 357,600 shares of common
stock for an aggregate amount of $6,036,000 or $16.88 per share. On January 27, 2004, the purchases under this
plan were completed with approximately $1,000 remaining available under the authorization. At that date, the
Company had repurchased 576,100 shares for an aggregate amount of $9,999,000 or $17.36 per share.
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Note 11. Pensions and Other Postretirement Benefits .

The Company sponsors one qualified and several non-qualified pension plans and other postretirement benefit
plans for its employees. The qualified pension plan is funded through a trust. Contributions to this plan is based
upon the projected unit credit actuarial funding method and are limited to amounts that are currently deductible
for tax reporting purposes. Two subsidiaries of the Company sponsor unfunded postretirement health care plans.
Both of these plans are non-contributory for retirees and one is contributory for spouses whose contributions
increased periodically so that the entire cost for spouses was covered by January 2003.

The following table iliustrates the range of target allocation percentages and the actual relative percentage of
plan assets for each major category of plan assets presented on a weighted-average basis as of December 31, 2003
and 2002,

Percentages of Plan Assets
Target Allocation At December 31 -

Plan Assets 2004 2003 2002

Equity Securities .........coovioiiiiiiii 55-65% 65% 46%
DEbBt SECUTTHES .+ v\ttt tr ettt et ie et eie e eeiannas 3545% 33% 52%
Real BState ..ottt e e e 0% 0% 0%
(01117, A 0-5% 2% 2%
8 L6 21 R 100% 100% 100%

UIC employs a total return investment approach whereby a mix of equities and fixed income investments are
used to maximize the long-term return of plan assets for a prudent level of risk. Risk tolerance is established through
careful consideration of plan liabilities, plan funded status, and corporate financial condition. The investment
portfolio contains a diversified blend of equity and fixed income investments. Furthermore, equity investments are
diversified across U.S. and non-U.S. stocks, as well as small and large capitalizations. U.S. equities also are
diversified across actively managed and passively invested portfolios. Other assets such as real estate, private equity,
and hedge funds are not used by UIC at this time. Derivatives may be used to gain market exposure in an efficient
and timely manner; however, derivatives may not be used to leverage the portfolio beyond the market value of the
underlying investments. Investment risk is measured and monitored on an ongoing basis through quarterly
investment portfolio reviews, annual liability measurements, and periodic asset/liability studies. The assets will be
reallocated quarterly or more often to meet the target allocations. Pension investment policies are reviewed by the
Investment Committee at least annually and are updated when necessary.

UIC employs a building block approach in determining the long-term rate of return for plan assets. Historical
markets are studied and long-term historical relationships between equities and fixed-income securities are
preserved consistent with the widely accepted capital market principle that assets with higher volatility generate
a greater return over the long run. Current market factors such as inflation and interest rates are evaluated before
long-term capital market assumptions are determined. The long-term portfolio return is established via a building
block approach with proper consideration of diversification and rebalancing. Peer data and historical returns are
reviewed to check for reasonability and appropriateness. Equity securities are expected to return 10% to 11% over
the long-term, while cash and fixed income is expected to return between 4% and 6%. Based on historical
experience, the Investment Committee expects that the Plan’s asset managers will generate a modest (5% to 1.0%
per annum) premium to their respective market benchmark indices.
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The following table provides a reconciliation of the changes in the pension and other postretirement benefit
plans’ benefit obligations and fair value of assets during each of the years in the two-year period ended December 31,
2003, and a statement of the funded status as of December 31 of both years:

Other Postretirement

Pension Benefits Benefits
(Dollars in thousands) 2003 2002 2003 2002
Change in Benefit Obligation
Benefit obligation at beginning of year ................... $155,753  $148,864  $23,636  $ 23,555
N1 Y (o AU 2,679 2,579 - 179 320
INEEIESE COSE o\ vttt et et e e 10,369 10,521 1,587 1,647
AMENdmMENtS . ..ottt eiert e — 19 — (437)
SettlemMENtS .. .ovvieireiriar et — — — (216)
Actuarial 1085 ...viiirti e 12,178 5,611 1,394 1,035
Plan participant’s contributions ........................... — - 590 293
Benefits paid ......ooiiiii i e (10,934) (11,841) (2,742) (2,561)
Benefit obligation atend of year ...............coooiiiill 170,045 155,753 24,644 23,636
Change in Plan Assets : :
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year ............. $139,019  $161,268 — —
Actual return on plan assets ..........coiiiiiiiiiiiiiin... 25,712 (10,408) — —
Administrative eXpenses ...........ooveeeieiiiereienien.. — — (62) —
Participant contributions ....... O — — 590 293
Employer contributions ...............oooiiiiiiiii, 118 — 2,214 2,268
Benefits paid ...t e (10,934) (11,841) (2,742) (2,561)
Fair value of plan assets atend of year ................... 153,915 139,019 — ' —
(Underfunded) funded status of plans ..................... (16,130) (16,734) (24,644) (23,636)
Unrecognized net transition obligation asset .............. — @) — —
Unrecognized net actuarial [0SS ............ccoovveieiinnnn. 51,659 58,057 2,996 1,637
Unrecognized prior SErvice COSt .........c.vvveenriinnnen. 4,085 4,268 (322) (362)
Net amount recognized ..............cooviieiiiiiiiiiiinn, $ 39,614 $ 45587  $(21,970) $(22,361)

The following table provides the amounts recognized in the statements of financial position as of December 31,
2003 and 2002:

Other Postretirement

Pension Benefits Benefits
(Dollars in thousands) 2003 2002 2003 2002
Accrued benefit liability ..................o $(6,755) $(8,276) $(21,970) $(22,361)
Intangible @SSet . ....ooiiiiiiiiiii it e 4,085 4,268 N/A "N/A
Accumulated other comprehensive loss ................... 42,284 49,595 N/A N/A
Net amount recognized ..............ccoiiiiiiiiiiiiiiin $39,614  $45,587 $(21,970)  $(22,361)

The accumulated benefit obligation of the defined benefit pension plans was $160,671,000 and $147,296,000 at
December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively. As required by accounting standards, a minimum pension liability is recorded
to the extent the accumulated benefit obligation exceeds plan assets. A related intangible asset based on unrecognized
prior service cost and an adjustment to accumulated comprehensive loss (a reduction of shareholders’ equity) is also
recorded. A reduction in shareholders’ equity, net of related income tax benefit, has been separately reported in the amount
of $28,112,000 and $32,262,000 as of December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively.
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The expected employer contributions to the pension and other postretirement beneﬁts for the fiscal year ending
December 31, 2004 are $259,000 and $2,744,000 respectively.

Weighted-average Assumptions Used to Determine Benefit Obligations

Other Postretirement

Pension Benefits Benefits
{Dollars in thousands) 2003 2002 2003 2002
Discount rate ..... e R SR 6.25% 6.75% 6.25% 6.75%
Rate of compensation increase ...................... 4% 4% N/A N/A
Current healthcare trend rate® ....................... N/A N/A 7.00%/5.91%*  7.50%/6.81%*
Ultimate healthcare trend rate ....................... N/A N/A 5.00% 5.00%
Years of ultimate healthcare trend rate* ............. N/A N/A 2008/2005% 2008/2005*

*  defense/energy segments, respectively

Net periodic benefit costs include the following components:

Components of Net Periodic Benefit Cost

Other Postretirement

‘ Pension Beneﬁts Benefits

(Dollars in thousands) » 2003 2002 2001 2003 2002 2001
SEIVICE COSE + . veeet et eiennns $ 2679 $ 2579 $ 1981 §$ 179 $ 320 $ 360
INEErest COSE . ..vvrvierrniereeeerenenenenees 10,369 10,521 10,361 1,587 1,647 1,651
Expected return on plan assets ................ (11,339)  (13,321) (14,835) — — —
Amortization of prior service cost ............ 183 183 196 41) 10 18
Amortization of unrecognized ................

transition aSSES ... ...eeieereineiiieiinaen, 4) (88) (88) — — —
Amortization of net loss (gain) ............... 4,427 1,625 — 93 — —
Settlement—curtailment ...................... — — —_ — (287) (1,933
Benefit cost (income) ............ooeviiennnn., $ 6315 $ 1,499 $ (2,385 $1,818 $1,690 $ 96

Weighted-average Assumptions Used to Determine Net Periodic Benefit Cost for Year

Other Postretirement

. Pension Benefits Benefits
(Dollars in thousands) 2003 2002 2001 2003 2002 2001
Discountrate ..................... 6.75% 1.25%/  7.50%/ 6.75% 7.25%/ 7.50%/
7.50%'  8.00%' 7.50%" 7.75%"
Expected return on plan assets .... 850% 8.50%/  8.50%/ N/A " N/A N/A
’ 10.00%' 10.00%'
Rate of compensation increase .... 4.00% 4.00% 4.00% N/A N/A N/A
Current healthcare trend rate ...... N/A N/A N/A 7.50%/ 8.00%/ 5.25%/4.00%/
. , 6.81%! 7.72%" 8.46%"
Ultimate healthcare trend rate ... .. N/A N/A N/A 5.00% 5.00%/ 5.25%/4.00%/
' 5.50%" 6.50%"
Years of ultimate healthcare :
trend rate ...........oeiieninnn. - N/A N/A N/A  2008/2005' 2008/2005'  2001/2005'

! UIC/Detroit Stoker
2 UIC Medical/UIC Dental/Detroit Stoker
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Net periodic benefit costs for the defense segment are considered contract costs and are included in cost of
sales in the consolidated Statements of Operations. Net periodic benefit costs for other segments are included in
selling and administrative expenses in the consolidated Statements of Operations.

The assumed health care cost trend rate has an effect on the amounts reported. A one-percentage-point change
in the assumed health care cost trend rate would have the following effects.

1-percent point

{Dollars in thousands) . Increase Decrease
Effect on total of service and interest cost components in 2003 ........ $ 41,192 $ (41,187
Effect on postretirement benefit obligation as of December 31, 2003 .. $383,746 $(382,339)

Defined Contribution Plans

The Company sponsors a 401(k) plan with employee and employer matching contributions based on specified
formulas. The Company’s contribution to the 401(k) plan was $3,866,000 in 2003, $3,728,000 in 2002 and
$3,488,000 in 2001.

Note 12. Industry Segment Data

‘The Company has two reportable segments; defense and energy systems. Other includes the corporate office.
The defense segment’s products include unmanned aerial vehicles, training and simulation systems, automated
aircraft test and maintenance equipment, and combat vehicles and ordnance systems. The energy segment
manufactures combustion equipment for biomass and refuse fuels. The transportation business is reflected as a
discontinued operation in the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

The Company evaluates performance and allocates resources based on profit or loss from operations before
income taxes. The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as those described in the summary
of significant accounting policies.

The Company’s reportable segments are business units that offer different products. The reportable segments
are each managed separately because they manufacture and distribute products with different production processes.

Sales to agencies of the U.S:. Government, primarily by the defense segment, were $249,547,000 in 2003,
$161,569,000 in 2002 and $149,047,000 in 2001. No single customer, other than the U.S. Government, accounted
for ten percent or more of net sales in any year. Export sales were $40,064,000 in 2003, $66,366,000 in 2002 and
$54,670,000 in 2001.

(Dollars in thousands) Defense Energy Other Reconciliations Totals
Year Ended December 31, 2003

Net sales ..... e e e eiea $282,425 -$28,522 § — $ - $310,947
Equity profit in joint venture ..................... 57 — — — - 57
Interest iNCOME .. .iiin i eiainenns 1,565 53 361 (1,518) 463
Interest €XPense ......oveeeriineinneenneenarennn. 92 60 1,458 (1,518) . 92
Depreciation.and amortization expense -.......... 4,866 382 167 — 5,415
Segment profit (loss) ............ P FPTTUUUR 21,980 3,897 (2,360) = 23,517
Segment assets ..... e TR 125,646 42,345 - 62970 (79,793) 151,168
Capital expenditures. ......... PP U 15,992 221 — — 6,213
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(Dollars in thousands) . Defense Energy Other Reconciliations Totals
Year Ended December 31, 2002 .
Net SalS . .iviviiti e i e e, $229,215 $29,552 § —  § —  $258,767
Equity profit in joint venture ..................... 99 — — — 99
Interest iNCOME . .vvvvrivr i ier i 1,124 25 234 (1,256) 127
Interest €Xpense ..........ccooviiiiiiiiiiiiiiin, 776 27 1,296 (1,256) 843
Depreciation and amortization expense .......... 4,730 3,967 66 — 8,763
Segment profit (0SS) .....ovvveeriiieiiiiniennnn. 17,113  (10,108) (2,567) — 4,438
Segment assets ..... e e i 134,426 39,290 109,958 (124,429) 159,245
Capital expenditures ................oooiniinnn, 4963 - 256 — — 5,219
Year Ended December 31, 2001
NEt SAIES . .vvnier e eie i e eeiaennn, $208,575 $29,920 $ — —  $238,495
Equity profit in joint venture ..................... g6 . — _ — 86
Interest INCOME . ..vvvvvr et iiiiieen e iieiaennns 1,223 107 265 77 618
Interest EXPense ......vuuuunenriiae e 232 — 762 w77 17
Depreciation and amortization expense .......... 5,589 755 69 —_ 6,413
Segment Profit .............ccoiiiiiiiiiiiiai, 18,422 3,042 547 — 22,011
Segment assets ........ooiieiiiiiiiiiiiiiiei, 120,735 32,379 128,878 1 (28,417) 253,575
Capital expenditures ..............cooeiiviiinnan. 1,601 426 1 — 2,028
December 31, ‘
(Dollars in thousands) » ' 2003 ’ 2002 2001
Assets : ’
Total assets for reportable segments ............c..oviiiienintn $230,961  $283,674  $ 281,992
Elimination of intercompany tax receivable ........................ (8,948) p— —
Elimination of intercompany receivable ............................ (383) (21,719) .-
Reclassification of receivables from ETI ..................oe. ‘ — ' —_ (1,828)
Assets of discontinued operations ...............coiiiiiiiineiien.. 6,139 15,092 109,734
Elimination of investment in consolidated subsidiaries ............. (61,024) 98,157y (126,413)
Reclassification of deferred tax liabilities ........................... (15,578) (19,645 (9,910)
Total consolidated aSSES ......vvviriinernieriiieieieenrrieraennes  $151,168  $159,245  $ 253,575

Other Significant Items
-Elimination of intercompany interest @ ...........cooeveeieevieenn... $ 1,518 $ 1,256  $ 977

Segment profit (loss) includes research and development costs amounting to $5,013 000 in 2003, $4,588 OOO
in 2002 and $5,520,000 in 2001, principally in the defense segment.

Note 13. Income Taxes ,

The liability method is used in accounting for income taxes. Under this method, deferred tax assets and
liabilities are determined based on differences between financial reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities
and are measured using the enacted tax rates and laws that will be in effect when the differences are expected to
reverse. In addition, the effect on deferred taxes of a change in tax rates is recognized in the'period that includes
the enactment date.

42




UNITED INDUSTRIAL CORPORATION

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS-—Continued)

Following is a reconciliation of the difference between total tax expense and the amount computed by applying
the federal statutory income tax rate to income from continuing operations before income taxes for the years ended
December 31: '

(Dollars in thousands) 2003 2002 2001

Federal income taxes at statutory rate ............ e s $7,996 $1,508 $7.884
State and local income taxes, net of federal income tax benefit '
(including a reduction of $651 in 2001 of a $1,000

tax reserve established in 1997) ...................... P ' 434 50 (519)
Non-taxable iCOmE .....vuvviniririet i eaeeees, P 412) (772) —
11014 Tc2 O 1 T O 393 212) 18
Income Taxes—Continuing OPerations .............coeeevereerreceninnnnnn. $8,411 $ 574 $7,383

The Company recorded income tax benefits-from its discontinued operations during 2003, 2002 and 2001.
Current income taxes receivable associated with these benefits in 2002 are classified as income taxes receivable
in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets at December 31, 2002. During 2003, the Company received a
tax refund of $16,822,000 related to the net carryback of the tax loss from discontinued operations in 2002 to
prior years. :

No Federal income tax payments were made in 2003, 2002 and 2001.

The Company has approximately $3,998,000 of federal and $12,000,000 of state net operating loss carry
forwards that expire in various years beginning in 2010. The Company also has a state research and development
credit carry forward of approximately $340,000, which expires in 2007. For financial reporting purposes, a valuation
allowance of $1,200,000 has been recognized to offset the deferred tax assets related to these carry forwards.

Deferred income tax balances:

December 31,
(Dollars in thousands) B 2003 A 2002
Deferred Tax Assets
Net Operating Loss and credit carry forwards ...y $ 2,560 $ 99
Asbestos HtZation FESEIVE .............ouuuruiirerererereeemmiorananan. e 4,100 4,179
Pension plans .............qc..... e e 442 660
Losses on long-term contracts not currently deductible .................... ... 2,422 2,298
Postretirement benefits and other employee benefits other than pensions .......... 7,899. . 7,683
Product warranty and other provisions ............c.cceeieveeerirerernurnnineerees, 933 1,097
Vacation pay aCCruals .........viiiniiiniiii i i e i e 1,252 ~ 1,007
61111 XN 676 249
Total Deferred Tax Assets ...... PP 20,284 18,163
Valuation allowance for deferred tax assets ........cvvvviinviiieiriinerreeneeecnns C(1,200) (990)
Net deferred tax aSSELS .. .. e.vre v erensivnatern et etearennneeenanes P . 15,084 17,173
Deferred Tax Liabilities B
Tax over book depreciation .........i.....eireeeueeamreeeiineeeniererineeeenns . (898) (435)
71 T=7 P . (543) (679)
Total Deferred Tax Liability .............. R Y . (1,44 (1,114)
Net Deferred Tax ASSet .....ovvvvivnnnn. e e s $17.643 $16,059
The net deferred tax asset is classified as follows: '
Net current deferred INCOME 1AK ASSEES ... evenrnrereee e re e, $ 6,757 $ 4,528
Net noncurrent deferred INCOME TAX ASSELS ... v''rvreirnrernreraneerrrrinnernenns $10,886 $11,531
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Note 14. Other Operating Expenses, Net, Other Income, Net, and Other Expenses
‘ ) Year Ended December 31,

(Dollars in thousands) ) 2003 2002 2001
Other Operating Expenses, Net

Change in deferred compensation liability ...................oooi $238 $(232) $ (212)
Amortization of intangibles ............. i i 222 226 318
Amortization of facility consolidation costs .............ccoiiiiiiniinn.... 302 284 328
Expenses related to the closing of an indirect subsidiary .................... — 425 —
1 11 95) — —
Total other operating eXpenses, Nt ..........oieiereriminiiririrerereinnnnn. $667 $ 703 $ 434
Other Income, Net

INSUTANCE TECOVETY—TIEL ..\ n e ttttitee e eeee e e e aanee e e e raaseeees $ 34 $ — $ 842
Royalties and COMIMISSIONS . .....uvvirineriinei it e 70 13 127
Exchange rate fluctuations ..............ooiiiiiiiiii i 122 — —
Rental income ............ e e e 56 — —
Other ........... R RTRERTR TP IRRE G 107 51 116
Total Other INCOME, NEL ... .ottt ittt ie et ie e iaaaaas $389 $ 64 $1,085
Other Expenses }

Exchange rate fluctuations ... $ — $ — $ 182
Uncollectible interest receivable ...........c.ooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiann, 214 — —
Write-off of proposed acquisition costs ...............ooiiiiiiiiiii — — 159
Professional fees for environmental remediation ..................... e 334 309 —
Miscellaneous MEMS .....ovuuivrerre e e ereineeennnnes U 9 73 71
Total Other EXPENSE ... .uvuerirt i it inntiettteteererenenereeeeneens $557 $ 382 $ 412

Note 15. Selected Quarterly Data (Unaudited)

2003 2002

(Dollar amounts in thousands, except Quarter Quarter
per share data and stock prices) 4th 3rd 2nd 1st 4th 3rd 2nd 1st
Net sales from

continuing operations ........ $83,195 $ 69,273 $86,037 $72,442 $ 69,463 $67,109 $ 65,328 $ 56,867
Gross profit from

continuing operations ........ 20,267 15,540 17,505 14,046 18,288 15406 11,618 10,805
Income (loss) from

continuing operations ........ 6,473 2,801 4,194 1,638 (3,312) 4.462 1,683 1,031
Loss from discontinued

Operations ................... (1,936) (16,751) (1,286) (974) (16,407) (1,844) (12,430) (12,260)
Net income (108S) .............. 4,537 (13,950) 2,908 664 (19,719) 2,618 (10,747) (11,229)
Basic earnings (loss) per share:

Continuing operations ....... $ 048 % 021 % 032 % 013 % (0258 034 $ 013 % 0.08

Discontinued operations ... .. 0.14) (1.26) (0.10) (0.08) (1.26) (0.149) (0.96) (0.95)

Net income (loss) ........... 0.34 (1.05) 022 005 . (151 0.20 (0.83) (0.87)
Diluted earnings (loss) per share -

Continuing operations ....... 0.47 0.21 0.31 0.12 0.25) 032 0.12 0.08

Discontinued operations ..... 0.14) (1.23)  (0.09) (0.07) (1.26) - (0.13) (0.90) (0.90)

Net income (loss) ........... 0.33 (1.03) 0.21 0.05 (1.51y  0.19 (0.78)  (0.82)
Dividends declared per share 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 — 0.10
Stock Prices:

High ...l $ 1825 § 17.86 $ 1690 § 16.15 $ 21.00 $ 2390 $ 26.05 $ 22,96

Low ..o $ 1590 $ 1480 $ 12.10 $ 1136 $ 12.02 $ 1660 $ 21.30 $ 15.04

44




UNITED INDUSTRIAL CORPORATION

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

The Company’s common stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchange. The approximate number of
shareholders of record as of February 15, 2004 was 1,752.

Note 16. Commitments and Contingencies

Asbestos
History

The Company and its Detroit Stoker subsidiary have been named as defendants in asbestos-related personal
injury litigation. Neither the Company nor Detroit Stoker fabricated, milled, mined, manufactured or marketed
asbestos, and neither the Company nor Detroit Stoker made or sold insulation products or other construction
materials that have been identified as the primary cause of asbestos-related disease in the vast majority of claimants.
Rather, Detroit Stoker made several products, some of the parts and components of which used asbestos-containing
material fabricated and provided by third parties. Detroit Stoker stopped the use of asbestos-containing materials
in connection with its products in 1981. :

As of this date, the Company and Detroit Stoker have not gone to trial with respect to any asbestos-related
personal injury claims, although there is no assurance that trials may not occur in the future. Accordingly, as of
this date, neither the Company nor Detroit Stoker have been required to pay any punitive damage awards, although
there can be no assurance this might not occur in the future. Cases involving the Company and Detroit Stoker
typically name 80 to 120 defendants, although some cases have as few as 6 and as many as 250 defendants.

Defenses

Management continues to believe that a majority of the claimants in pending cases will not be able to
demonstrate that they have been exposed to the Company’s and Detroit Stoker’s asbestos-containing products or
suffered any compensable loss as a result of such exposure. This belief is based in large part on two factors: the
limited number of asbestos-containing products and betterments manufactured by the Company and Detroit Stoker
and the Company’s and Detroit Stoker’s access to historical sales, service, and other historical business records
going back over 100 years, which allow the Company and Detroit Stoker to determine to whom Detroit Stoker’s
products were sold, the date of sale, the installation site and the date products were removed from service. In
addition, because of the limited and restricted placement of the asbestos containing products, even at sites where
a claimant can verify his or her presence during the same period those products were installed, liability of the
Company and Detroit Stoker cannot be presumed because even if an individual contracted an asbestos-related
disease, not everyone who was employed at a site was exposed to the Company’s and Detroit Stoker’s asbestos-
containing products. These factors have allowed the Company and Detroit Stoker to effectively manage their
asbestos-related claims. ’

Settlements

Settlements are made without any admission of liability. Settlement amounts may vary depending upon a
number of factors, including the jurisdiction where the action was brought, the nature and extent of the disease
alleged and the associated medical evidence, the age and occupation of the claimant, the existence or absence of
other possible causes of the claimant’s alleged iliness, and the availability of legal defenses, as well as whether
the action is brought alone or as part of a group of claimants. Before paying any settlement amount, the Company
and Detroit Stoker require proof of exposure to their asbestos-containing products and proof of injury to the plaintiff.
In addition, the claimant is required to execute a full and unconditional release of the Company, Detroit Stoker
and associated parties, from any liability for asbestos-related injurie$ or claims. .
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Insurance Coverage

The insurance coverage available to the Company and Detroit Stoker is substantial. Following the institution
of asbestos litigation, an effort was made to identify all of its primary and excess insurance carriers from 1940
through 1990. There were approximately 40 such carriers, all of which were put on notice of the litigation. In
November of 1999, a Participation Agreement was entered into among the Company, Detroit Stoker and its primary
insurance carriers. The Participation Agreement is an advance understanding that supplements all of the contracts
of insurance, without altering the coverage of the contracts, that creates an administrative framework within which
the insurers and the Company and Detroit Stoker can more efficiently and effectively manage the large quantity
of on-going litigation. Any party may terminate the Participation Agreement, without cause, by giving the other
parties 60 days prior written notice. Termination of the Participation Agreement does not affect any rights or
obligations of the parties that have accrued under the agreement on or before the effective date of the termination,
nor does it affect any rights outside of the agreement.

Although the carriers can opt out of the Participation Agreement on 60 days notice, management does not
believe that this will occur in the immediate or near term. For example, unless a carrier professes to have met the
limits of its liability, it would have to consider the potentially greater costs of permitting the Company and Detroit
Stoker to handle their own cases. Further, opting out of the Participation Agreement does not exculpate liability
on the part of the carrier.

The Company retained a consulting firm with expertise in the field of evaluating insurance coverage and the
likelihood of recovery for claims, such as costs incurred in connection with asbestos-related injury claims. In 2002,
that firm worked with the Company to project the insurance coverage of the Company and Detroit Stoker for
asbestos-related claims. The insurance consultant’s conclusions were based primarily on a review of the Company’s
and Detroit Stoker’s coverage history, application of reasonable assumptions on the allocation of coverage consistent
with industry standards, an assessment of the creditworthiness of the insurance carriers, and the experience of and
a review of the report of the asbestos consultant described below. The insurance consultant also considered the
Participation Agreement.

_ Based on the assumptions employed by and the report prepared by the insurance consultant, other variables,
and the report prepared by the asbestos consultant, the Company recorded an estimated insurance recovery as of
December 31, 2002, of $20,343,000 reflecting the estimate determined to be probable of being available to mitigate
the Company’s and Detroit Stoker’s potential asbestos liability through 2012.

Quantitative Claims Information :

As of December 31, 2003, the Company and Detroit Stoker were named in asbestos litigation pending in
Maryland, Michigan, Mississippi and North Dakota. As of December 31, 2003, there were approximately 19,117
pending claims, compared to approximately 13,608 pending claims as of December 31, 2002, and approximately
295 pending claims as of December 31, 2001. Because claims are often filed and disposed of by dismissal or
settlement in large numbers, the amount and timing of settlements and the number of open claims during a particular
period can fluctuate from period to period. In addition, most of these lawsuits do not include specific dollar claims
for damages, and many include a number of plaintiffs and multiple defendants. Therefore, the Company cannot
provide any meaningful disclosure about the total amount of the damages sought. In addition, the direct asbestos-
related expenses of the Company and Detroit Stoker for defense and indemnity for the past five years were
not material, ‘ ’

A significant increase in the volume of asbestos-related bodily injury cases arose in Mississippi beginning in
2002 and extended through mid-year 2003. This peak in the volume of claims in Mississippi was apparently due
to the passage of tort reform legislation (applicable to asbestos-related injuries), which became effective at the end
of 2002 and which resulted in a large number of claims being filed in Mississippi by plaintiffs seeking to ensure
their claims would be governed by the law in effect prior to the passage of tort reform. As of December 31, 2003,
all 18,652 claims pending in Mississippi are associated with cases filed before January 1, 2003.
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The Company and Detroit Stoker have obtained dismissals of many pending claims. In 2003 and 2002, the
Company and Detroit Stoker were able to have approximately 461 and 65 claims, respectively, dismissed. Those
dismissals included 80 claims out of 83 claims in Michigan that had been scheduled for trial in October 2003. The
remaining three claims were subsequently dismissed in January 2004. During 2003, the Company and Detroit Stoker
settled two pending claims, and during 2002, they settled one pending claim. Although these historical figures
provide some insight into the Company’s and Detroit Stoker’s experience with asbestos litigation, no guarantee
can be made as to the dismissal and settlement rate the Company and Detroit Stoker will experience in the future.

In 2002, the Company engaged a consulting firm with expertise in the field of evaluating asbestos bodily-injury
claims to assist the Company in projecting the future asbestos-related liabilities and defense costs of the Company
and Detroit Stoker. The methodology used by this asbestos consultant to project future asbestos-related costs is
based primarily on estimates of the labor force exposed to asbestos in the Company’s and Detroit Stoker’s products,
epidemiological modeling of asbestos-related disease manifestation, and estimates of claim filings and settlement
and defense costs that may occur in the future. Using this information, the asbestos consultant estimated the number
of future claims that would be filed, as well as the related costs that would be incurred in resolving those claims.
The Company’s and Detroit Stoker’s claims history prior to 2002 was not a significant variable in developing the
estimates because such history was not sxgmﬁcant as compared to the numiber of claims filed in 2002.

Projecting future asbestos costs is subject to numerous vanables that are extremely difficult to predict. In
addition to the significant uncertainties surrounding the number of claims that might be received, other variables
include the type and severity of the disease alleged by each claimant, the long latency period associated with asbestos
exposure, dismissal rates, costs of medical treatment, the impact of bankruptcies of other companies that are co-
defendants in claims, uncertainties surrounding the litigation process from jurisdiction to jurisdiction and from case
to case, and the impact of potential changes in legislative or judicial standards. Furthermore, any predictions with
respect to these variables are subject to even greater uncertainty as the projection petiod lengthens. In light of these
inherent uncertainties, the Company’s and Detroit Stoker’s limited claims history prior to 2002 and consultation
with its asbestos and insurance consultants, the Company believes that ten years is the most reasonable period for
recognizing a reserve for future costs, and that costs that might be incurred after that period are not reasonably
estimable. As a result, the Company also believes that its ultimate net asbestos-related contingent lability (i.e., its
indemnity or other claim disposition costs plus related legal fees less insurance recoveries) cannot be estimated
with certainty. : : ‘

Given the inherent uncertainty in making future projections, the Company plans to have the projections of
current and future asbestos claims periodically re-examined, and the Company will update them if needed based
on the experience of the Company and Detroit Stoker and other relevant factors such as changes in the tort system
and the resolution of bankruptcies of various asbestos defendants.

Based on the assumptions employed by and the report prepared by the asbestos consultant and other variables,
the Company recorded a reserve for its estimated bodily injury liabilities for asbestos-related matters through 2012
in the amount of $31,852,000 as of December 31, 2002; including damages and defense costs.

The asbestos lia{bility for the twelve months ended December 31, 2003 decreased by $257,000 due to the
payment of claim-related expenses.

Asbestos-related balances are included in the following balance sheet accounts:

December 31,

- 2003 2002
Insurance receivables for asbestos related liabilities .............. $20,317,000 $20,343,000
Asbestos-related liabilities ...t $31,595,000 $31,852,000

After considering the efforts of both consultants and based upon the facts as now known, including the
reasonable possibility that claims will be received and paid over the next 50 year period, the Company believes
that although asbestos claims could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial condition or results
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of operations in a particular reporting period, asbestos claims should not have a material adverse effect on the
Company’s long term financial condition, liquidity or results of operations. No assurances can be given, however,
as to the actual amount of the Company’s-and Detroit Stoker’s liability for such present and future claims or
insurance recoveries, and the differences from estimated amounts could be material.

Reform LegLs[atlon

The outlook for federal legxslatlon to provide national asbestos litigation reform continues to be uncertain.
The Company is not certain as to what contributions and the duration of such contributions that the Company and
Detroit Stoker would be required to make pursuant to such legislation. No assurances can be given, however, that
the proposed bill or any other asbestos legislation will ultimately become law, or when such action might occur.

State of Arizona Department of Environmental Quality v. UIC, et al.

On May 19,1993, the Company was named as one of three defendants in a civil action brought pursuant to
the Comprehensive Environmental Response Compensatlon and Liability Act (“CERCLA”) by the Arizona
Department of Environmental Quality (“ADEQ”) in the United States District Court for the District of Arizona.
ADEQ sought remediation of a manufacturing site in the State of Arizona operated by U.S. Semiconductor Products,
Inc. (“U.S. Semiconductor’), a manufacturer of semiconductors formerly owned by the Company. ADEQ alleged
that from 1959 until the Company sold U.S. Semiconductor in 1961, U.S. Semiconductor disposed of
tricholoroethylene, a “hazardous substance,” and other hazardous substances under CERCLA, onto the ground and
into various pits and drains located on the site.

In 1996, the Company entered into a consent decree with ADEQ. Pursuant to the consent decree, the Company
is required to complete a Remedial Investigation/Feasibility Study (“RI/FS™), pay $125,000 for past response costs,
pay quarterly Arizona oversight costs (averaging less than $10,000 annually) and pay $125,000 for future response
costs plus a graduated percentage of the cleanup costs for the site if those costs are in excess of $10,000,000 but
less than $40,000,000. The Company’s liability for future response costs under the consent decree is capped at
$1,780,000 in addition to the $125,000 that the Company has already paid. In connection with the RI/FS, the
Company has retained a consultant at an average annual cost of $200,000. The Company understands that the
Remedial Investigation will be submitted for ADEQ approval during the month of March 2004. Assuming timely
ADEQ approval, the Company will submit the Feasibility Study in June 2004. Management believes that it will
reach closure with ADEQ on an acceptable basis to the Company following approval of the Feasibility Study. No
assurances can be given, however, as to the actual extent to which the Company may be determined to have further
liability, if at all.

Michigan Department of Natural Resources

Detroit Stoker was notified in March 1992 by the Michigan Department of Natural Resources (“MDNR”) that
it is a potentially responsible party in connection with the cleanup of a former industrial landfili located in Port
of Monroe, Michigan. MDNR is treating the Port of Monroe landfill site as a contaminated facility within the
meaning of the Michigan Environmental Response Act (“MERA”). Under MERA, if a release or potential release
of a discarded hazardous substance is or may be injurious to the environment or to the public health, safety or
welfare, MDNR is empowered to undertake or compel investigation and response activities in order to alleviate
any contamination threat. Management believes it would be considered a de minimus potentially responsible party
and does not believe that the resolution of this matter will have a materially adverse effect on the Company’s
financial condition or results of operations. Detroit Stoker intends to aggressively defend these claims. No
assurances can be given, however, as to the actual extent to which the Company may be determined to be liable
if at all.

Other Performance Guarantees

In connection with certain of its contracts, the Company commits to certain performance guarantees. The ability
of the Company to perform under these guarantees may, in part, be dependent on the performance of other parties,
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including partners and subcontractors. If the Company is unable to meet these performance obligations, the
performance guarantees could have a material adverse effect on product margins and the Company’s results of
operations, liquidity or financial position. The Company monitors the progress of its partners and subcontractors
and does not believe that their performance will adversely affect these contracts as of December 31, 2003. No
assurances can be given, however, as to the Company’s liability if the Company’s partners or subcontractors are
unable to perform their obligations.

Discontinued Transportation Operations Performance and Payment Indemnity Obligations

In connection with the discontinued transportation operations, AAI owns a 35% share of ETI. Skoda a.s. owns
the remaining 65% share of ETI. ETI’s one remaining production contract is with MUNI and involves the design
and manufacture of 273 electric trolley buses (ETBs). In executing its contract with MUNI, ETI has entered into
subcontracts with AAI certain Skoda operating affiliates and others. Both AAI and the Skoda operating affiliates
have essentially completed their initial delivery requirements and are now subject to warranty requirements, which
will continue through 2014. Currently, ETI is in the process of completing the final assembly and delivery of the
remaining ETB’s. At March 1, 2004, ETI had delivered 271 of the 273 ETB’s in the MUNI order. In addition, ETI
is completing a retrofit program that incorporates final design changes for many of the previously delivered buses.
The Company expects ETI’s retrofit program to be completed during the third quarter of 2004.

The Company and AAI have agreed to certain indemnification obligations related to surety bonds required
by the MUNI customer. ' '

The first of these surety bond indemnification obligations is associated with advance payments received by
ETI that related to the MUNI contract. In January 2003, this advance payment bond was reduced from $20,000,000
to $9,100,000 and reduced again in August of 2003 to $1,350,000. In February 2004, MUNT authorized the release of
this bond in its entirety. The release of this bond is related to the MUNI customer’s acceptance of certain deliveries.

In addition, there is a surety bond that guarantees ETI’s performance under the MUNI contract. AAI has agreed
to indemnify the surety, if necessary, for up to approximately $14,300,000 (or 35% of the original bond amount).
Unless a claim is made against this bond, AAI’s related indemnification obligation is contractually required to be
released upon ETI providing a warranty bond at the conclusion of the production phase of the MUNI contract.

Thirdly, there is a surety bond that guarantees payment to subcontractors and vendors for labor and materials
provided to ETI under the MUNI contract, for which AAI has also agreed to indemnify the surety, if necessary,
for up to approximately $14,800,000 (again, 35% of the original bond amount). During the fourth quarter of 2003
it became apparent that ETT would be unable to pay AAI amounts due on its subcontract and secunded services
receivables. At December 31, 2003, the Company believes it has adequately provided for the uncollectibility of
these receivables. As a result of the non-payment of the receivables, AAI filed a claim with the surety of the labor
and materials bond seeking recovery. Because the claim is still pending, the Company cannot at this time estimate
the amount of such a recovery, if any, or when it may be received.

Finally, AAI previously executed an indemnity agreement to indemnify the surety up to 35% of the warranty
bond amount, which would be expected to be about $20,000,000 in total. It is possible that the warranty bond surety
may demand that the Company indemnify for a greater percentage of such amount, and perhaps up to 100%, and
to provide collateral for such indemnity.

The ability of ETI to perform under its obligations is, in part, dependent on the performance of other parties,
including AAI the Skoda operating affiliates and other subcontractors. Thus, the ability to timely perform under
the MUNI contract is, to a significant extent, outside of ETI’s control. Skoda’s operating affiliates have delivered
products and services under their subcontracts with ETI through January 2004. Following the bankruptcy
declaration by Skoda a.s. in 2001 in the Czech Republic, effective in 2002, the discontinued transportation
operations of the Company began recording 100%, instead of 35%, of ETI’s losses. This was necessitated by the
Company’s and AAI’s various indemnity obligations described in detail above, which exceed the amount of the
losses recorded. The additional losses recorded by the Company for Skoda’s 65% share of ETI’s losses totaled
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$16,171,000 and $17,264,000 during 2003 and 2002, respectively. Since January 1, 2002, AAI has recorded
$33,435,000 of losses related to ETI that represent Skoda’s 65% share. If Skoda continues to fail to provide ETI
with additional funding, or if ETI is unable to meet its performance or payment obligations, the AATl indemnification
obligations to the surety could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s results of operations, liquidity and/or
financial condition. For this reason, AAI monitors the progress of ETI, the Skoda subcontractors, and ETI’s
other subcontractors.

AAI has agreed to provide up to $3,000,000 of funds to ETI pursuant to a callable on demand revolving credit
agreement. At December 31, 2003 this credit agreement expired and there were no borrowings under this agreement
by ETL ' ' “ ‘

As noted above, although AAI has essentially completed its subcontract with ETT on the MUNI program, it
has continued to support ETI as a provider of seconded services, to allow ETI to satisfy its remaining commitments
to MUNL The apparent inability of Skoda a.s. to fund its obligations to ETI under the shareholders’ agreement,
coupled with the additional losses expected to be incurred by ETI have caused the Company to reassess its continued
support of ETI while ETI pursues opportunities to mitigate the cost growth of the MUNI program.

In February 2004, an agreement in principle was reached among ETIL, AAI and MUNI to settle ETT’s contract
disputes with MUNI. Pursuant to the proposed settlement, MUNI would relieve ETI of its warranty and bonding
obligations, as well as other obligations under the contract, except for delivery of all electric trolley buses ordered
and performance of a defined scope of work related to the deliveries. In exchange, MUNI would receive a release
from any claims that ETI might assert, a cash payment (to be offset by MUNI from payments remaining due under
the contract), and certain other consideration. AAI would agree to guaranty certain obligations of ETI, make a cash
payment to MUNI, and provide other consideration, in exchange for a release from its warranty and all further
obligations under its subcontract with ETI. As a result of the release of ETI from its performance bonding obligation,
AAI would be released from its indemnification of the surety. The proposed settlement is subject to the approval
of the Board of Directors of San Francisco’s Municipal Transportation Agency and the Company’s Board of
Directors. Management believes that these agreements, if executed, will not have a material adverse effect on the
Company’s liquidity or results of operations. No assurances can be given as to whether the settlement will be
executed or its timing.

ETI's Dayton electric trolley bus contract required a performance bond of about $16,000,000 that was
outstanding at December 31, 2002. The Company had agreed to jointly and severally indemnify the surety, if
necessary, under that bond. In February 2003, the Company was released from this $16,000,000 bond.

On July 26, 2002, the Company sold two transportation overhaul contracts with the New Jersey Transit
Corporation and Maryland Transit Administration and related assets and liabilities to ALSTOM Transportation, Inc.
(“ALSTOM”). The Company agreed to indemnify ALSTOM against certain breaches by AAI of representations
and covenants pursuant to the Master Agreement (“Agreement”). Certain of such indemnity claims are subject to
a requirement that notice be given within nine months of the closing and are subject to a maximum exposure of
$4,250,000. Other indemnification claims are not so limited.

On March 3, June 5 and November 5, 2003, and on January 15, 2004, ALSTOM raised certain indemnification
matters totaling about $8,500,000 to the Company to be discussed by ALSTOM’s and the Company’s respective
managements. The Company continues to evaluate documentation concerning ALSTOM’s original and three
revisions detailing alleged claims. These matters are still pending and the Company is unable to determine whether
the Company may have any liability with respect thereto, and if so, to what extent. AAI is also evaluating its
counterclaims against ALSTOM. If the respective senior management representatives should fail to resolve the
issues informally, the Agreement requires the parties to submit to mediation and then binding arbitration in lieu
of litigation.
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Other Lawsuits and Claims

In the normal course of its continuing and discontinued business, various lawsuits, claims and procedures have
been or may be instituted or asserted against the Company. Based on currently available facts, except as otherwise
set forth above, the Company believes that the disposition of matters pending or asserted will not have a material
adverse effect on our consolidated financial position, results of operations or liquidity.

Note 17. Discontinued Transportation Operation

Summary results of the transportation segment that have been classified separately as discontinued operations,
were as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

(Dollars in thousands) . 2003 2002 22001

T U S $13204 $27,447 $47,439
Loss before inCOME.tAXES ........o.oviiiiiitiniiiiiiii it $(32,221) $(66,053) $(14,386)
Income tax benefit ....... e e e (11,274) (23,112) (5,621)
Net loss from discontinued operations ...............ccciiivviirninneiannn.. $(20,947) $(42,941) $ (9,265

Year Ended December 31,

(Dollars in thousands) 2003 2002 2001
Net cash, after. tax, used for discontinued operations

L A (01 $(20,947) $(42,941) $ (9,265)
Loss on sale of assets ..... N — 21,500 —_
Decrease (increase) in trade receivable .............cooiiiiiiiiiiiiiin... 908 16,473 9,772)
Decrease (increase) in inVENLOLIES .........vvnviviiinieneinernernrannns ST 9,003 5,104 (21,974
(Decrease) increase in Customer advances ..............c.c.ooeeeeeneneeeeenn. (1,087) (4,556) 491
Decrease in income taxes ...... e e e (958) (22,641 (5,380)
(Decrease) increase in accounts payable ............... oo

and other current liabilities ..ot e (1,733) (5,785) 14
| 170 (=0 11 1=) G P 6,868 5,248 427
Net cash, after tax, used for discontinued operations ........................ $ (7,946) $(37,806) $(45,459)
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Assets and liabilities of the discontinued operations were as follows:

December 31,

(Dollars in thousands) 2003 2002 2001
Assets

Trade teceivables from ETT ..ot e $39322 $25961 $ 20,895
188 AllOWANCES .. .vrit e e e e (39,322) (25,053) (1,673)
JETSS 1170 o =< S 10 9,013 73,236
Prepaid expenses and other current assets .................. e 51 51 51
Deferred taXeS ..ottt e 5,028 4,070 7,497
Investment in BT ..ottt e e e e e 1,050 1,050 1,050
Other receivables from BT ...t 9,111 2,935 1,205
eSS AllOWAIICES .. vvvertt et e et e e T (9,111) (2,935) (1,205)
Property and equipment .. .....co.iuiiii e i — — 5,800
TOtA] ASSEES v e ittt ettt ettt e e $ 6,139 $15092 $106,856
Liabilities .

ACCOUNES PAYADIE .. ...vtiti $ 376 $ 1,674 $ 7,118
Accrued employee compensation and taXeS .......cvvvviierrieriiniriiianns, 617 1,052 1,393
CUStOMETr AdVANICES ..\ iitt ettt e ettt ee e net et einenanennnnns — 1,087 35,983
Provision for contract 10SSES . ......c.uuiuiniiiee i ciiaiaieiaeanas 11,266 1,450 6,522
(713 T= 4,352 7,300 6,511
Total Liabilities .. ....vovreeereeeeeeinenannnns P $ 16,611 $12563 § 57,527

The Company has provided for ETI’s inability to pay the trade receivables from ETI ($39,322,000 in 2003,
relating to AAI’s subcontract on the MUNI program) and the other receivables from ETI (89,111,000 in 2003,
relating to AAI’s secunded services arrangement) as part of its recognition of 100% of ETI’s losses.

Note 18. Investment in Unconsolidated Investees

Discontinued Transportation Operations

During the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, the sales, cost of sales, gross loss and cash drain
recognized by the discontinued transportation operation on subcontracts with ETI are as follows:

(Dollars in thousands) 2003 2002 2001

T $15,040 $ 13,614 $29,975

COSt Of SALES o\ ittt i ittt e s 15,040 20,175 31,351

G085 1088 ittt et e § — $(6561) $(1,376)
Cash Arain . ...ooiiii i e e $4,357) $(11,729) $(8,946)

AAT also performs work for ETI pursuant to a unit rate secunded services agreement. During 2003, 2002 and
2001 the discontinued transportation operation experienced a cash drain related to this arrangement of $195,000,
$1,730,000 and $6,176,000, respectively.

In 2003 the transportation operation recorded a loss of $24,879,000 related to its equity interest in the net loss
of ETI and the estimated losses through completion of the remaining contract. This loss included a provision of
$8,708,000 related to the Company’s 35% equity share of the estimated losses by ETT, and a $16,171,000 provision
related to the 65% equity share of Skoda of ETI’s estimated losses for the reasons specified in Note 16 above. In
2002 the transportation operation recorded a loss of $26,560,000 (net of a $1,828,000 reserve previously recorded
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by the Company) related to the net loss of ETI and the estimated losses of ETI through completion of the remaining
contract. This loss included a provision of 9,296,000 related to the Company’s 35% equity share of estimated losses
by ETI, and a $17,264,000 provision related to the 65% equity share of Skoda of ETI’s estimated losses, :again
for the reasons specified in Note 16 above. The transportation operation recorded a loss of $180,000 in 2001 related
to its equity interest in the net loss of ETI.

Summary financial information of the ETI entity is as follows:

December 31,

(Dollars in thousands) 2003 2002 2001

L@ ¢ 1L N T1-) ¢ $ 13,032 $ 72,542 $131,794
Plant Property and Equipment and Other Assets...................oeevine. 193 1,482 3,058
Current Liabilities .......c.ovviiiii i e 83,708 119,627 152,070
NS AT 1 1 N 82,828 64,766 14,580
Gross Loss . ..ovviiiiiiii i e (24,879)  (28,388) (514)
L A 7 - G $(24,879) $(28,388) $ (514)

Included in the current liabilities above are amounts due to the Company’s subsidiary, AAI, of $53,764,000,
$52,687,000 and $20,683,000 in 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. These amounts have been fully reserved for,
as future collectibility is not expected.

Continuing Operations

The Company also has a 50% interest in Pioneer UAV, Inc. The Company’s investment was $1,519,000,
$1,462,000 and $2,724,000 in 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. The Company had no advances to the investee
at December 31, 2003, 2002 or 2001. The Company’s share of the venture’s profits were $57,000, $99,000 and
$86,000 in 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

Note 19. Earnings per Share
The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted earnings per share:

2003 2002 2001
Basic Weighted Average Shares................coovvviiiiiniiinn 13,219,000 13,021,000 12,697,000
Effect of Dilutive securities:
Employee and non-employee director stock options ........... 443,000 677,000 592,000

Diluted Weighted Average Shares ..............cccooiviviinnn.. 13,662,000 13,698,000 13,289,000
Basic Earnings (Loss) per Share: :

Income from continuing Operations ............ccceevviviinninn. $ 114§ 030 $ 1.15

Loss from discontinued operations .............c.covevvevnennnnns (1.58) (3.30) (0.73)

Net (10SS) ICOME ..ot e e ee e ie e eenanans (0.44) (3.00) 0.42
Diluted Earnings (Loss) per Share:

Income from continuing operations ............................ 1.10 0.28 1.10

Loss from discontinued operations ...............ovvviveniiinns (1.53) (3.13) (0.70)

Net (LOSS) INCOME ... ivnteriet et e ereeeinreanierenrannnens $ 0.43) $ (2.85) $ 0.40

Note 20. Restructuring Charge

On October 31, 2003, the Company closed its New York City office and relocated the corporate activities
handled at that location to its existing facility in Hunt Valley, Maryland. Accordingly, the Company recorded a
charge of $546,000 related to severance costs for the former employees at that location and a charge of $355,000
related to the closure of the New York City office, for a total charge of $901,000, which is included in selling and
administrative expenses in the consolidated statement of operations. The total related reserve was $822,000 as of
December 31, 2003.
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- Effective May 17, 2002, Detroit Stoker ceased the foundry operation conducted by its wholly owned subsidiary,
Midwest Metallurgical Laboratory, Inc. (Midwest). In conjunction with the ceased operations the Company wrote
off the value of all of Midwest’s assets and incurred severance and other cash charges totaling approximately
$1,287,000 related to the restructuring including operating losses of Midwest. In addition, the Company accelerated
depreciation of its foundry facility during the foundry’s operating period in 2002. Depreciation of this facility was
$3,420,000 during 2002. There was no related reserve as of December 31, 2003 and 2002.
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Report of Independent Auditors

Board of Directors and Shareholders
United Industrial Corporation
Hunt Valley, Maryland

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of United Industrial Corporation and subsidiaries
as of December 31, 2003 and 2002, and the related consolidated statements of operations and cash flows for each
of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2003. These financial statements are the responsibility of
the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on
our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States. Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used
and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.
We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated
financial position of United Industrial Corporation and subsidiaries at December 31, 2003 and 2002, and the
consolidated results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2003 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

March 10, 2004
Harrisburg, Pennsylvania
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

The Company’s management evaluated, with the participation of the Company’s principal executive and
principal financial officers, the effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act™)), as
of December 31, 2003. Based on their evaluation, the Company’s principal executive and principal financial officers
concluded that the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of December 31, 2003,

There has been no change in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-
15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act) that occurred during the Company’s fiscal quarter ended December 31,
2003, that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting.
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PART III

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

Reference is made to the information to be set forth in the section entitled “Election of Directors” in the
definitive proxy statement involving the election of directors in connection with the 2004 Annual Meeting of
Shareholders of United (the “Proxy Statement”), which section (other than the Compensation Committee Report,
Audit Committee Report and Performance Graph) is incorporated herein by reference. The Proxy Statement will
be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission not later than 120 days after December 31, 2003, pursuant
to Regulation 14A of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

The information required with respect to executive officers is set forth in Part I of this report under the heading
“Executive Officers of the Registrant,” pursuant to Instruction 3 to paragraph (b) of Item 401 of Regulation S-K.

- The Company has adopted a Code of Ethics for the Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer, and certain
other Senior Officers (the “Code of Ethics”). The Code of Ethics is publicly available on the Company’s website
at http://www.unitedindustrial.com. Amendments to the Code of Ethics and any grant of a waiver from a provision
of the Code of Ethics requiring disclosure under applicable Securities and Exchange Commission or New York
Stock Exchange rules will be disclosed on the Company’s website. The Code of Ethics may also be requested in
print by writing to the Company’s Investor Relations Department at United Industrial Corporation, 124 Industry
Lane, Hunt Valley, MD 21030.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Reference is made to the information to be set forth in the section entitled “Election of Directors” in the Proxy
Statement, which section (other than the Compensation Committee Report, Audit Committee Report and
Performance Graph) is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT
AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

‘Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans
The following table provides information with respect to compensation plans (including individual
compensation arrangements) under which equity securities of United are authorized for issuance to employees or

non-employees (such as directors, consultants, advisors, vendors, customers, suppliers or lenders), as of
December 31, 2003:

Number of securities

Number of securities remaining available for
to be issued Weighted-average future issuance under
upon exercise of exercise price of equity compensation plans
outstanding options, outstanding options, (excluding securities
Plan category . warrants and rights  warrants and rights reflected in column (a))
@ (b) (©
Equity compensation plans approved by
security holders ................... 1,109,300 $12.94 263,517
Equity compensation plans not approved by
security holders .................. ..ol — — _
Total ..... O 1,109,300 $12.94 263,517

|

Reference is made to the information to be set forth in the section entitled “Voting Rights” and “Security
Ownership of Management” in the proxy statement, which sections are incorporated herein by reference.
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ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS

Reference is made to the information to be set forth in the section entitled “Election of Directors” in the Proxy
Statement, which section (other than the Compensation Committee Report, Audit Committee Report and
Performance Graph) is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

Reference is made to the information to be set forth in the section erititled “Appointment of Auditors™ or relating
to accounting fees and services in the Proxy Statement, which section is incorporated herein by reference.
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PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES AND REPORTS ON FORM 8-K

(@) (1)and (2) -

3)
@@ -
(3a@)i) -
3)b) -
(10)(@) -
(10)(b) -
(10)(e) -

(10)d) -

(10)e) -
(10X -

(10)(g) -

(10)¢h) -

0 -
(10 -
100 -

o -
(10)(m) -

(10)n) -
(10)(0) -

(10)p) —

(10Xq) -
(10)(r) -

(10)(s) —
10)(t) -

The response to this portion of Item 15 is submitted as a separate section of this report entitled
“List of Financial Statements and Financial Statement Schedules”.

Exhibits

Restated Certificate of Incorporation of United (1).

Certificate of Amendment of Restated Certificate of Incorporation of United (2).
Amended and Restated By-Laws of United (3).

United Industrial Corporation 1994 Stock Option Plan, as amended (4).

United Industrial Corporation 1996 Stock Option Plan for Nonemployee Directors (5).

Loan and Security Agreement dated as of June 28, 2001 among United and certain
of its subsidiaries, as Borrowers, and Fleet Capital Corporation, as Lender (the “Loan
Agreement”) (6).

Pledge Agreement dated as of June 28, 2001 among United and certain of its subsidiaries, as
Pledgors, and Fleet Capital Corporation, as Lender (6).

‘Waiver, Amendment and Consent Agreement dated as of March 6, 2002 among United and

certain of its subsidiaries, as Borrowers, and Fleet Capital Corporation, as Lender, to the Loan
Agreement (7).

Second Amendment and Consent Agreement dated as of June 28, 2002 among United and
certain of its subsidiaries, as Borrowers, and Fleet Capital Corporation, as Lender, to the Loan
Agreement (8).

Third Amendment and Waiver Agreement dated as of March 21, 2003 among United and certain of
its subsidiaries, as Borrowers, and Fleet Capital Corporation, as Lender, to the Loan Agreement (9).

Fourth Amendment dated as of March 31, 2003 among the Company and certain of its
subsidiaries, as Borrowers, and Fleet Capital Corporation, as Lender, to the Loan Agreement (10).

Fifth Amendment dated as of September 30, 2003 among the Company and certain of its
subsidiaries, as Borrowers, and Fleet Capital Corporation, as Lender, to the Loan Agreement (10).

Letter from Fleet Capital Corporation to the Company dated November 12, 2003, amending the
Loan Agreement (10).

Sixth Amendment dated as of November 17, 2003 among the Company and certain of its

. subsidiaries, as Borrowers, and Fleet Capital Corporation, as Lender, to the Loan Agreement.

Seventh Amendment dated as of December 31, 2003 among the Company and certain of its
subsidiaries, as Borrowers, and Fleet Capital Corporation, as Lender, to the Loan Agreement.

Employment Agreement dated as of June 18, 2003 between the Company and Frederick M.
Strader (11).

Employment Agreement, dated December 8, 1998, between United and Richard R. Erkeneff (1).

Amendment No. 1 dated as of June 1, 2001 to the Employment Agreement dated as of
December 8, 1998 by and between United and Richard R. Erkeneff (6).

Amendment No. 2 and Amendment No. 3 dated as of December 20, 2002 to the Employment
Agreement dated as of December 8, 1998 by and between United and Richard R. Erkeneff (9).

Employment Agreement, dated March 3, 2000, between United and Susan Fein Zawel (12).

Amendment to Employment Agreement, dated January 2, 2003, between United and Susan Fein
Zawel (9).

Employment Agreement, dated March 3, 2000, between United and Robert Worthing (12).
Success Bonus Agreement, dated April 10, 2002, between United and Robert Worthing (13).
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(10)(uw) -  Amendment to Employment Agreement, dated January 2, 2003, between United and Robert

Worthing (9).

(10)(v) =  Employment Agreement, dated March 3, 2000, between United and James H. Perry (12).
(10)(w) —  Success Bonus Agreement, dated April 10, 2002, between United and James H. Perry (13).
(10)(x) -  Amendment to Employment Agreement, dated January 2, 2003, between United and James H.

Perry (9).

(10)(y) -  Master Agreement, dated as of March 27, 2002, between ALSTOM Transportation Inc. and AAI

Corporation (7).

(10)(z) - Amendment to Master Agreement, dated as of July 26, 2002, between ALSTOM Transportation

Inc. and AAI Corporation (14).

(14) - United’s Code of Ethics for the Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer and certain other
Senior Officers — available on United’s website at http://www.unitedindustrial.com.

21y - Subsidiaries of United.

23) - Consent of Independent Auditors.

(31.1) - Certification of Chief Executive Officer of the Company pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002. )

(31.2) - Certification of Chief Financial Officer of the Company pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002.

(32.1) - Certification of the Chief Executlve Officer of the Company pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

(32.2) - Certification of the Chief Financial Officer of the Company pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

(1) Incorporated by reference to United’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1998.

@

3)
4

(5

(©)
(M
(®)
)

Incorporated by reference to United’s Registration Statement Form S-§ filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on July 21, 1998.

Incorporated by reference to United’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1995.
Incorporated by reference to United’s Registration Statement on Form S-8, filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on November 20, 2003.

Incorporated by reference to United’s Registration Statement on Form S-8 filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on June 26, 1997.

Incorporated by reference to United’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2001.
Incorporated by reference to United’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2001.
Incorporated by reference to United’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2002.
Incorporated by reference to United’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2002.

(10) Incorporated by reference to United’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30,

2003.

(11) Incorporated by reference to United’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2003.
(12) Incorporated by reference to United’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,

1999.

(13) Incorporated by reference to United’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31,

2002.

(14) Incorporated by reference to United’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange

Commission on August 12, 2002.

(b) Reports on Form 8-K

On November 13, 2003, the Company filed a Current Report on Form 8-K announcing the financial results
for the quarter ended September 30, 2003.
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Financial Statement Schedules
Year ended December 31, 2003

United Industrial Corporation

Hunt Valley, Maryland
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Form 10-K—Item 15(a) (1) and (2)

UNITED INDUSTRIAL CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

List of Financial Statements and Financial Statement Schedules

The following consolidated financial statements of United Industrial Corporation and subsidiaries are included
in Item 8 of this Annual Report:

Consolidated Balance Sheets—December 31, 2003 and 2002
Consolidated Statements of Operations—
Years Ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Years Ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001

Notes to Financial Statements

The following consolidated financial statement schedule of United Industrial Corporation and subsidiaries is
included in Item 15(d):

Schedule 11 Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

All other schedules for which provision is made in the applicable accounting regulation of the Securities
and Exchange Commission are not required under the related instructions or are inapplicable and, therefore, have

been omitted.

62




.

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of United Industrial Corporation and subsidiaries as
of December 31, 2003 and 2002, and for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2003, and have
issued our report thereon dated March 10, 2004. Our audits also included the financial statement schedule listed
in Item 15(a) of this Annual Report (Form 10-K). This schedule is the responsibility of the Company’s management.
Our responsibility is to express an opinion based on our audits.

In our opinion, the financial statement schedule referred to above, when considered in relation to the basic
financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly in all material respects the information set forth therein.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

March 10, 2004
Harrisburg, Pennsylvania
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Schedule II—Valuation and Qualifying Accounts
United Industrial Corporation and Subsidiaries
December 31, 2003

Col. A Col. B Col. C : Col. D Col. E
4 @) o , o
Balance at Charged to . Charged to . . Balance at
Beginning Costs and "Other Accounts Deductions End of
Description of Period Expenses (Describe) (Describe) Period

Year ended December 31, -2003:
Deducted from asset accounts:

Allowance for doubtful ‘
ACCOUNTS. .. ..uvvnirneinann.. $ 235,000  $321,000 : $ 556,000

Product warranty liability.......... $ 960,000 $ 120,000(A) $ 840,000

Year ended December 31, 2002:
Deducted from asset account:

Allowance for doubtful
ACCOUNLS. ... vvunserannnnnn. $ 235,000 $ 235,000

Product warranty liability.......... $1,650,000  $566,000 $1,256,000(A) $ 960,000

Year ended December 31, 2001:
Deducted from asset account:
Allowance for doubtful

ACCOUNES. ..o vveeeeennnnes $ 235,000 $ 235,000
Product warranty liability.......... $5,154,000 $3,504,000(A) $1,650,000

(A) Product warranty expenditures.




SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant
has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

UNITED INDUSTRIAL CORPORATION
(Registrant)

By: /s/ Frederick M. Strader
Frederick M. Strader, President

Date: March 12, 2004

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by
the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the date indicated.

Name Date
/s/ Warren G. Lichtenstein March 12, 2004

Warren G. Lichtenstein,
Chairman of the Board and Director

/s{ Thomas A. Corcoran March 12, 2004
Thomas A. Corcoran, Director

/s/ Richard R. Erkeneff _ March 12, 2004
Richard R. Erkeneff, Director

/s/ Glen Kassan March 12, 2004
Glen Kassan, Director

/s/ Robert F. Mehmel March 12, 2004
Robert F. Mehmel, Director

/s/ Joseph S. Schneider March 12, 2004
Joseph S. Schneider, Director

/sf Frederick M. Strader March 12, 2004

Frederick M. Strader,
President and Chief Executive Officer

/s/ James H. Perry March 12, 2004

James H. Perry,
Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
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EXHIBIT INDEX
Restated Certificate of Incorporation of United (1).
Certificate of Amendment of Restated Certificate of Incorporation of United (2).
Amended and Restated By-Laws of United (3).
United Industrial Corporation 1994 Stock Option Plan, as amended (4).
United Industrial Corporation 1996 Stock Option Plan for Nonemployee Directors (5).

Loan and Security Agreement dated as of June 28, 2001 among United and certain of its subsidiaries,
as Borrowers, and Fleet Capital Corporation, as Lender (the “Loan Agreement”) (6).

Pledge Agreement dated as of June 28, 2001 among United and certain of its subsidiaries, as
Pledgors, and Fleet Capital Corporation, as Lender (6).

Waiver, Amendment and Consent Agreement dated as of March 6, 2002 among United and
certain of its subsidiaries, as Borrowers, and Fleet Capital Corporation, as Lender, to the Loan
Agreement (7).

Second Amendment and Consent Agreement dated as of June 28, 2002 among United and
certain of its subsidiaries, as Borrowers, and Fleet Capital Corporation, as Lender, to the Loan
Agreement (8). .

Third Amendment and Waiver Agreement dated as of March 21, 2003 among United and
certain of its subsidiaries, as Borrowers, and Fleet Capital Corporation, as Lender, to the Loan
Agreement (9).

Fourth Amendment dated as of March 31, 2003 among the Company and certain of its
subsidiaries, as Borrowers, and Fleet Capital Corporation, as Lender, to the Loan Agreement (10).

Fifth Amendment dated as of September 30, 2003 among the Company and certain of its
subsidiaries, as Borrowers, and Fleet Capital Corporation, as Lender, to the Loan Agreement (10).

Letter from Fleet Capital Corporation to the Company dated November 12, 2003, amending the
Loan Agreement (10).

Sixth Amendment dated as of November 17, 2003 among the Company and certain of its
subsidiaries, as Borrowers, and Fleet Capital Corporation, as Lender, to the Loan Agreement.

Seventh Amendment dated as of December 31, 2003 among the Company and certain of its
subsidiaries, as Borrowers, and Fleet Capital Corporation, as Lender, to the Loan Agreement.

Employment Agreement dated as of June 18, 2003 between the Company and Frederick M.
Strader (11).

Employment Agreement, dated December 8, 1998, between United and Richard R. Erkeneff (1).

Amendment No. 1 dated as of June 1, 2001 to the Employment Agreement dated as of
December 8, 1998 by and between United and Richard R. Erkeneff (6).

Amendment No. 2 and Amendment No. 3 dated as of December 20, 2002 to the Employment
Agreement dated as of December 8, 1998 by and between United and Richard R. Erkeneff (9).

Employment Agreement, dated March 3, 2000, between United and Susan Fein Zawel (12).

Amendment to Employment Agreement, dated January 2, 2003, between United and Susan Fein
Zawel (9).

Employment Agreement, dated March 3, 2000, between United and Robert Worthing (12).
Success Bonus Agreement, dated April 10, 2002, between United and Robert Worthing (13).

Amendment to Employment Agreement, dated January 2, 2003, between United and Robert
Worthing (9).
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(10)(v) -  Employment Agreement, dated March 3, 2000, between United and James H. Perry (12).

(10)(w) = Success Bonus Agreement, dated April 10 2002 between United and James H. Perry (13).

(10)(x) -  Amendment to Employment Agreement, dated January 2, 2003, between United and James H.
Perry (9).

(10)y) -  Master Agreement, dated as of March 27, 2002, between ALSTOM Transportatron Inc. and AAT
Corporation (7)

(10)(z) -  Amendment to Master Agreement, dated as of July 26, 2002, between ALSTOM Transportation
" Inc. and AAI Corporation (14). . ’
(14) - . United’s Code of Ethics for the Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer and certain other
Senior Officers — available on United’s website at http://www.unitedindustrial.com.

21 - Subsidiaries of United.

(23) - Consent of Independent Auditors. : .

(31.1) = Certification of Chief Executive Officer of the Company pursuant to Sectron 302 of the Sarbanes--
Oxley Act of 2002.

(31.2) - Certification of Chief Financial Officer of the Company pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002.

(32.1) - Certification of the Chief Executive Officer of the Company pursuant to Section 906 of the

Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

(1) Incorporated by reference to United’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
. 1998,

(2) Incorporated by reference to United’s Regrstratron Statement Form S- 8 filed wrth the Securities and
Exchange Commission on July 21, 1998.

(3) Incorporated by reference to United’s Annual Report on Form 10-X for the year ended December 31,
1995.

(4). Incorporated by reference to United’s Registration Statement on Form S-38, filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on November 20, 2003.

(5) Incorporated by reference to United’s Registration Statement on Form S-8 filed with the Securities and

- - Exchange Commission on June 26, 1997,

(6) Incorporated by reference to United’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quaner ended June 30,
2001.

(7) Incorporated by reference to United’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
2001.

(8) Incorporated by reference to United’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30,
2002.

(9) Incorporated by reference to Umted’s Annual Report on Form 10 K for the year ended December 31,
2002.

(10) Incorporated by reference to United’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30,
2003.

(11) Incorporated by reference to Umted’s Quarterly Report on Form 10- Q for the quarter ended June 30,
2003.

(12) Incorporated by reference to Umted s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
1999.

(13) Incorporated by reference to United’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31,
2002.

(14) Incorporated by reference to United’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on August.12, 2002.
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Exhibit 10 (k)

SIXTH AMENDMENT AGREEMENT

THIS SIXTH AMENDMENT AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”) is made and entered into as of the {17%]
day of November, 2003, by and among FLEET CAPITAL CORPORATION (“Lender”), a Rhode Island corporation
with an office at 200 Glastonbury Boulevard, Glastonbury, Connecticut 06033; and UNITED INDUSTRIAL
CORPORATION, a Delaware corporation, and the following of its subsidiaries: AAl CORPORATION (“AAT),
a Maryland corporation, DETROIT STOKER COMPANY, a Michigan corporation; AAT ENGINEERING
SUPPORT INC., a Maryland corporation, and AAIVACL TECHNOLOGIES, INC., a Maryland corporation (each
a “Borrower” and collectively the “Borrowers”). Capitalized terms used, but not defined, herein shall have the
meanings given to such terms in the Credit Agreement (defined below). ‘

WHEREAS, the Borrowers and the Lender are parties to the Loan and Security Agreement, dated as of June 28,
2001, as amended by the Waiver, Amendment and Consent Agreement dated as of March 6, 2002, the Second
Amendment and Consent Agreement dated as of June 28, 2002, the Third Amendment and Waiver Agreement dated
as of March 21, 2003, the Fourth Amendment to Loan Agreement dated as of March 31, 2003 and the Fifth
Amendment Agreement dated as of September 30, 2003 (as amended, the “Credit Agreement”); and

WHEREAS, the Borrowers have requested and the Lender has agreed to amend the Credit Agreement, all
on the terms and conditions set forth herein.

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises, and in reliance thereon, and for other good and
valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto hereby
agree as follows:

Amendments. Subject to the satisfaction in full, on or prior to the Agreement Effective Date, of the conditions
precedent set forth in Section 3 below, the Credit Agreement is hereby amended as follows:

The first sentence of Section 1.1.1 of the Credit Agreement is amended and restated in its entirety to
read as follows:

1.1.1 Loans and Reserves. Lender agrees, for so long as no Default or Event of Default exists, to make
Revolving Loans to Borrowers from time to time, as requested by the Designated Borrower in the manner
set forth in Section 3.1.1 and, in the case of LIBOR advances, Section 3.1.4 hereof, up to a maximum principal
amount at any time outstanding equal to the lesser of (i) the Borrowing Base at such time, minus the LC Amount
and reserves, if any, including, without limitation, reserves for Environmental Claims, and (ii) 10,000,000,
minus the Sublimit Reserve Amount.

The third sehtence of Section 1.1.1 of the Credit Agreement is amended and restated in its entirety
to read as follows:

Notwithstanding the amount of the Maximum Credit Facility referred to above and anything to the contrary
stated in this Agreement, but subject to the right of the Lender to demand repayment at any time of any Overadvance,
if the aggregate of all Loans outstanding hereunder and all LC Amounts exceeds at any time the Minimum Credit
Facility, the Borrowers shall deliver to the Lender Cash and Cash Equivalents equal to the excess of the sum of
the Loans and LC Amounts over the Minimum Credit Facility, which Cash and Cash Equivalents shall be held
by the Lender as additional cash collateral for the Obligations and which may be applied by the Lender to the
Obligations upon the occurrence and during the continuance of any Event of Default.

Section 8.3.2 of the Credit Agreement is amended and restated in its entirety to read as follows:

© 8.3.2 Maximum Balance Sheer Leverage Ratio: not permit the ratio of UIC and its Subsidiaries’ (a) total
liabilities, as determined on a consolidated basis in accordance with GAAP (but, without duplication, including
all LC Amounts as liabilities), to (b) Tangible Total Net Worth, to exceed (w) 3.50 to 1.00 as at March 31,
2003 or June 30, 2003, (x) if the Supplier Bond Claim Proceeds have been recognized or received by one or
more of the Borrowers on or before September 30, 2003, 3.50 to 1.00 as at September 30, 2003, (y) if the
Supplier Bond Claim Proceeds have not been recognized or received by one or more of the Borrowers on or
before September 30, 2003, 4.25 to 1.00 as at September 30, 2003 (z) if the Supplier Bond Claim Proceeds
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have been recognized or received by one or more of the Borrowers on or before December 31, 2003, 3.50
to0 1.00 as at December 31, 2003, (aa) if the Supplier Bond Claim Proceeds have not been recognized or received
by one or more of the Borrowers on or before December 31, 2003, 4.25 to 1.00 as at December 31, 2003,
and (bb) 4.00 to 1.00 as at March 31, 2004 or as at the end of any fiscal quarter thereafter.

Section 8.3.3 of the Credit Agreement is amended and restated in its entirety to read as follows:

8.3.3 Losses From Discontinued Transportation Division: not permit the pre-tax losses incurred by UIC
and its Subsidiaries as a result of the cessation of business of their transportation division to be more than
(a) if the Supplier Bond Claim Proceeds have been recognized or received by one or more of the Borrowers
on or before December 31, 2003, $10,000,000 in the aggregate for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2003,
(b) if the Supplier Bond Claim Proceeds have not been recognized or received by one or more of the Borrowers
on or before December 31, 2003, $33,000,000 in the aggregate for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2003,
{c) $7,000,000 in the aggregate for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2004 and (d) $1.00 in the aggregate
for any fiscal year ending on or after December 31, 2005.

The following definitions in Appendix A of the Credit Agreement are amended and restated in their
entirety as follows:

Minimum Credit Facility—$25,000,000, minus a reserve in the amount of $6,000,000 or such lesser
amount as may be determined from time to time by Lender in the exercise of its sole discretion.

Sublimit Reserve Amount—a reserve in the amount of $3,000,000 or such lesser amount as may be
determined from time to time by Lender in the exercise of its sole discretion.

Transportation Division Addback Amount—with respect to any fiscal period, the amount of losses
incurred by UIC and its Subsidiaries during such period as a result of the cessation of business of their
transportation division, provided that the Transportation Division Addback Amount shall not exceed (i)
$1,500,000 with respect to the fiscal quarter ending March 31, 2003; (ii) $3,000,000 in the aggregate with
respect to the two fiscal quarters ending June 30, 2003; (ii1) if the Supplier Bond Claim Proceeds have been
recognized or received by one or more of the Borrowers on or before September 30, 2003, $4,500,000 in the
aggregate with respect to the three fiscal quarters ending September 30, 2003; (iv) if the Supplier Bond Claim
Proceeds have not been recognized or received by one or more of the Borrowers on or before September 30,
2003, $22,500,000 in the aggregate with respect to the three fiscal quarters ending September 30, 2003; (v)
if the Supplier Bond Claim Proceeds have been recognized or received by one or more of the Borrowers on
or before December 31, 2003, $5,500,000 in the aggregate with respect to the fiscal year ending December 31,
2003; (vi) if the Supplier Bond Claim Proceeds have not been recognized or received by one or more of the
Borrowers on or before December 31, 2003, $23,500,000 in the aggregate with respect to the fiscal year ending
December 31, 2003; (vii) if the Supplier Bond Claim Proceeds have not been recognized or received by one
or more of the Borrowers on or before December 31, 2004, $2,000,000 in the aggregate with respect to any
fiscal quarter ending during the 2004 fiscal year and $2,000,000 in the aggregate with respect to the fiscal year
ending December 31, 2004 (e.g. if all $2,000,000 of the Transportation Division Addback Amount is used for
the fiscal quarter ending March 31, 2004, then no additional Transportation Division Addback Amount is
permitted for any subsequent fiscal quarter); and (viii).if the Supplier Bond Claim Proceeds have been
recognized or received by one or more of the Borrowers on or before December 31, 2004, $0.00.

Conditions to Effectiveness of Agreément. This Agfeement shall become effective as of September 30, 2003
only when the following conditions shall have been satisfied (the date of satisfaction of such conditions being
referred to herein as the “Agreement Effective Date”):

The Lender shall have executed this Agreement and shall have received a copy of this Agreement duly
executed by the Borrowers.

The Borrowers shall have paid a fee of $7,500 to Lender in consideration of the waiver set forth herein.

The Borrowers shall have paid to counsel for the Lender the amount of reasonable fees and
disbursements owed to such counsel in connection with this Agreement and matters related hereto.
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The Lender shall have received such other information, approvals, opinions, documents or instruments
as it may reasonably request.

Representations and Warranties. In order to induce the Lender to enter into this Agreement, the Borrowers
jointly and severally represent and warrant to the Lender that, as of the Agreement Effective Date, after giving effect
to the effectiveness of this Agreement, the following statements are true and correct in all material respects:

Authorization of Agreements. The execution and delivery of this Agreement by each Borrower and its
performance under the Credit Agreement as amended by this Agreement (the “Amended Agreemen?’’) are
within each such Borrower’s corporate powers and have been duly authorized by all necessary corporate
action on the part of each such Borrower.

No Conflict. The execution and delivery by each Borrower of this Agreement and the performance by
each Borrower of the Amended Agreement do not contravene any such Borrower’s certificate of
incorporation or by laws or any other contractual restriction where such a contravention has a reasonable
possibility of having a Material Adverse Effect or contravening any law or governmental regulatlon or court
decree or order binding on or affecting any such Borrower.

Binding Obligation. This Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by each Borrower and this
Agreement and the Amended Agreement constitute the legal, valid and binding obligations of each Borrower,
enforceable against each Borrower in accordance with their respective terms, except as may be limited by
bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or similar laws relating to or limiting creditors’ rights
generally and by general principles of equity.

Governmental Approval, Regulation, etc. No authorization or approval or other action by, and no notice
to or filing with, any governmental authority or regulatory body or any other Person is required for the due
execution, delivery or performance of this Agreement by any Borrower.

Incorporation of Representations and Warranties from Credit Agreement. Other than as amended hereby
each of the representations and warranties set forth in Section 7 of the Credit Agreement is true and correct.

Acknowledgement. Each Borrower acknowledges and agrees that each of the Security Documents to which
it is a party or otherwise bound shall continue in full force and effect. Each Borrower hereby agrees and confirms
that each Security Document to which it is a party or otherwise bound and all Collateral encumbered thereby will
continue to guaranty or secure, as the case may be, the payment and performance of all obligations guaranteed or
secured thereby, as the case may be, and that none of the Borrowers has any defense, offset, counterclaim or right
of recoupment with respect to the Obligations of the Borrowers under the Amended Agreement.

Miscellaneous.

Effect on the Credit Agreement and the Other Loan Documents. Except as specifically set forth herein,
the terms, provisions and conditions of the Credit Agreement and the other Loan Documents shall remain
in full force and effect and are hereby ratified and confirmed and the Borrowers remain bound to pay and
perform their obligations thereunder.

Applicable Law. THIS AGREEMENT SHALL BE DEEMED TO BE A CONTRACT MADE UNDER
AND GOVERNED BY THE INTERNAL LAWS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK, WITHOUT GIVING
EFFECT TO SUCH LAWS RELATING TO CONFLICTS OF LAWS.

Headings. The various headings of this Agreement are inserted for convenience only and shall not affect
the meaning or interpretation of this Agreement or any provision hereof.

" Counterparts and Incorporation. This Agreement may be executed by the parties hereto in several
counterparts and by the different parties on separate counterparts, each of which shall be deemed to be an
original and all of which shall constitute together but one and the same instrument. Following execution and
delivery of this Agreement, any reference to the Credit Agreement shall be deemed a reference to such
document as hereby amended.
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Severability. Any provision of this Agreement which is prohibited or unenforceable in any jurisdiction
shall, as to such provision and such jurisdiction, be ineffective to the extent of such prohibition or
unenforceability without invalidating the remaining provisions of this Agreement or affecting the validity
or enforceability of such provisions in any other jurisdiction.
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IN WITNESS WHEREGOF, this Sixth Amendment Agreement has been duly executed and delivered as of the
day and year first above written.

FLEET CAPITAL CORPORATION

/s/ Matt Bourgeois
Name: Matt Bourgeois
Title: Vice President

UNITED INDUSTRIAL CORPORATION

/s/ James Perry
Name: James Perry
Title: Vice President

AAI CORPORATION

/s/ James Perry
Name: James Perry
Title: Vice President

DETROIT STOKER COMPANY

/s! James Perry
Name: James Perry
Title: Vice President

AAI ENGINEERING SUPPORT INC.

/s/ James Perry
Name: James Perry
Title: Vice President

AAI/ACL TECHNOLOGIES, INC.

/s/ James Perry
Name: James Perry
Title: Vice President
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Exhibit 10 (1)

SEVENTH AMENDMENT AGREEMENT

THIS SEVENTH AMENDMENT AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”) is made and entered into as of the
31st day of December, 2003, by and among FLEET CAPITAL CORPORATION (“Lender”), a Rhode Island
corporation with an office at 200 Glastonbury Boulevard, Glastonbury, Connecticut 06033; and UNITED
INDUSTRIAL CORPORATION, a Delaware corporation, and the following  of its subsidiaries: AAI
CORPORATION (“AAT), a Maryland corporation, DETROIT STOKER COMPANY, a Michigan corporation; AAI
ENGINEERING SUPPORT INC., a Maryland corporation, and AAVACL TECHNOLOGIES, INC., a Maryland
corporation (each a “Borrower” and collectively the “Borrowers™). Capitalized terms used, but not defined, herein
shall have the meanings given to such terms in the Credit Agreement (defined below).

WHEREAS, the Borrowers and the Lender are parties to the Loan and Security Agreement, dated as of June 28,
2001, as amended by the Waiver, Amendment and Consent Agreement dated as of Ma:hh 6, 2002, the Second
Amendment and Consent Agreement dated as of June 28, 2002, the Third Amendment and Waiver Agreement dated
as of March 21, 2003, the Fourth Amendment to Loan Agreement dated as of March 31, 2003, the Fifth Amendment
Agreement dated as of September 30, 2003 and the Sixth Amendment Agreement dated as of November 17, 2003
(as amended, the “Credit Agreement”); and

WHEREAS, the Borrowers have requested and the Lender has agreed to amend the Credit Agreement, all
on the terms and conditions set forth herein.

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises, and in reliance thereon, and for other good and
valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto hereby
agree as follows:

Amendments. Subject to the satisfaction in full, on or prior to the Agreement Effective Date, of the conditions
precedent set forth in Section 2 below, the Credit Agreement is hereby amended as follows:

Clause (iii) of Section 8.2.7 of the Credit Agreement is amended and restated in its entirety to read as
follows:

(iii) stock repurchases in an aggregate amount not to exceed $20,000,000 during the. term of this
Agreement. .

Section 8.3.2 of the Credit Agreement is amended and restated in its entirety to read as follows:

8.3.2 Maximum Balance Sheet Leverage Ratio: not permit the ratio of UIC and its Subsidiaries’ (a) total
liabilities, as determined on a consolidated basis in accordance with GAAP (but, without duplication, including
all LC Amounts as liabilities), to (b) Tangible Total Net Worth, to exceed (w) 3.50 to 1.00 as at March 31,
2003 or June 30, 2003, (x) if the Supplier Bond Claim Proceeds have been recognized or received by one or
more of the Borrowers on or before September 30, 2003, 3.50 to 1.00 as at September 30, 2003, (y) if the
Supplier Bond Claim Proceeds have not been recognized or received by one or more of the Borrowers on or
before September 30, 2003, 4.25 to 1.00 as at September 30, 2003 (z) if the Supplier Bond Claim Proceeds
have been recognized or received by one or more of the Borrowers on or before December 31, 2003, 3.50
to 1.00 as at December 31, 2003, (aa) if the Supplier Bond Claim Proceeds have not been recognized or received
by one or more of the Borrowers on or before December 31, 2003, 4.25 to 1.00 as at December 31, 2003,
and (bb) 4.25 to 1.00 as at March 31, 2004 or as at the end of any fiscal quarter thereafter.

The first paragraph of the definition of “Borrowing Base’” in Appendix A to the Credit Agreement
is amended and restated in its entirety as follows:

Borrowing Base—as at the date of determination thereof an amount equal to 75% of the aggregate
amount of Eligible Accounts arising from Government Contracts; plus 70% of the aggregate amount
of Eligible Accounts arising from Non-Government Contracts; plus 30% of Eligible Inventory; plus up
to $2,703,000 of Appraised Machinery and Equipment; plus up to $10,000,000 of Cash or Cash
Equivalents to be held at the Bank or such higher amount as is required by the third sentence of Section
1.1.1 of the Agreement; plus the Real Property Overadvance; minus, at any time that any contracts or
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transactions are outstanding under any foreign exchange facility provided by the Bank or the Lender
or any Affiliate thereof to any of the Borrowers, $750,000; minus the aggregate amount of Landlord
Waiver Reserves; minus a reserve in the amount of $6,000,000; provided that the Borrowing Base shall
be increased by an amount equal to the Real Property Valuation in accordance with Section 10.3 hereof
and shall be decreased by the amount of any payments of the Real Property Overadvance pursuant to
Section 3.3.1 or any other provision of this Agreement.

The deﬁmtmn of “Tangible Total Net Worth” appearing in Appendix A of the Credlt Agreement
is amended and restated in’ lts entlrety as follows:

Tangtble Total Net Worth—means the sum of (i) Consolidated net worth of UIC and its Subsidiaries minus
any intangible assets, plus (i) the value of the shares of stock of UIC held in treasury by UIC in an aggregate amount
not to exceed $20,000,000, all as determined in accordance with GAAP.

Conditions to Effectiveness of Agreement. This Agreement shall become effective as of December 31 2003
only when the following conditions shall have been satisfied (the date of satisfaction of such conditions bemg
referred to herein as the “Agreement Effective Date™):

The Lender shall have executed this Agreement and shall have received a copy of this Agreement duly
executed by the Borrowers.

The Borrowers shall have paid a fee of $10,000 to Lender in consideration of the amendments set forth
herein.

The Borrowers shall have paid to counsel for the Lender the amount of reasonable fees and
disbursements owed to such counsel in connection with this Agreement and matters related hereto.

The Lender shall have received such other mformatlon, approvals, opinions, documents or instruments
as it may reasonably request. «

Representations and Warranties. In order to induce the Lender to enter into this Agreement, the Borrowers
jointly and severally represent and warrant to the Lender that, as of the Agreement Effective Date, after giving effect
to the effectiveness of this Agreement, the following statements are true and correct in all material respects:

- Authorization of Agreements. The execution and delivery of this Agreement by each Borrower and its
performance under the Credit Agreement as amended by this Agreement (the “Amended Agreement”) are
within each such Borrower’s corporate powers and have been duly authorized by all necessary corporate
action on the part of each such Borrower. '

No Conflict. The execution and delivery by each Borrower of this Agreement and the performance by
each Borrower of the Amended Agreement do not contravene any such Borrower’s certificate of
incorporation or by laws or any other contractual restriction where such a contravention has a reasonable
possibility of having a Material Adverse Effect or contravening any law or governmental regulation or court
decree or order binding on or affecting any such Borrower.

Binding Obligation. This Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by each Borrower and this
Agreement and the Amended Agreement constitute the legal, valid and binding obligations of each Borrower,
enforceable against each Borrower in accordance with their respective terms, except as may be limited by
bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or similar laws relating to or limiting creditors’ rights
generally and by general principles of equity.

Governmental Approval, Regulation, etc. No authorization or approval or other action by, and no notice
to or filing with, any governmental authority or regulatory body or any other Person is required for the due
execution, delivery or performance of this Agreement by any Borrower.

Incorporation of Representations and Warranties from Credit Agreement, Other than as amended hereby
each of the representations and warranties set forth in Section 7 of the Credit Agreement is true and correct.

Acknowledgement. Each Borrower acknowledges and agrees that each of the Security Documents to which
it is a party or otherwise bound shall continue in full force and effect. Each Borrower hereby agrees and confirms
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that each Security Document to which it is a party or otherwise bound and all Collateral encumbered thereby will
continue to guaranty or secure, as the case may be, the payment and performance of all obligations guaranteed or
secured thereby, as the case may be, and that none of the Borrowers has any defense, offset, counterclaim or right
of recoupment with respect to the Obligations of the Borrowers under the Amended Agreement.

Miscellaneous.

Effect on the Credit Agreement and the Other Loan Documents. Except as specifically set forth herein,
the terms, provisions and conditions of the Credit Agreement and the other Loan Documents shall remain
in full force and effect and are hereby ratified and confirmed and the Borrowers remain bound to pay and
perform their obligations thereunder.

Applicable Law. THIS AGREEMENT SHALL BE DEEMED TO BE A CONTRACT MADE UNDER
AND GOVERNED BY THE INTERNAL LAWS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK, WITHOUT GIVING
EFFECT TO SUCH LAWS RELATING.TO CONFLICTS QF LAWS.

Headings. The various headings of this Agreement are inserted for convenience only and shall not affect
the meaning or interpretation of this Agreement or any provision hereof.

Counterparts and Incorporation. This Agreement may be executed by the parties hereto in several
counterparts and by the different parties on separate counterparts, each of which shall be deemed to be an
original and all of which shall constitute together but one and the same instrument. Following execution and
delivery of this Agreement, any reference to the Credit Agreement shall be deemed a reference to such
document as hereby amended.

Severability. Any provision of this Agreement which is prohibited or unenforceable in any jurisdiction
shall, as to such provision and such jurisdiction, be ineffective to the extent of such prohibition or
unenforceability without invalidating the remaining provisions of this Agreement or affecting the validity
or enforceability of such provisions in any other jurisdiction.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Seventh Amendment Agreement has been duly executed and delivered as of

the day and year first above written.

FLEET CAPITAL CORPORATION

/s/ Matt Bourgeois
Name: Matt Bourgeois
Title: Vice President

UNITED INDUSTRIAL CORPORATION

/s/ James Perry
Name: James Perry
Title: Vice President .

AAI CORPORATION

/s/ James Perry
Name: James Perry
Title: Vice President

DETROIT STOKER COMPANY

/s/ James Perry
Name: James Perry
Title: Vice President

AAI ENGINEERING SUPPORT INC.

/s/ James Perry
Name: James Perry
Title: Vice President

AAT/ACL TECHNOLOGIES, INC.

/s/ James Perry

Name: James Perry
Title: Vice President
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EXHIBIT 21
SUBSIDIARIES OF UNITED INDUSTRIAL CORPORATION
March 4, 2004
Approximate
State Percentage of
(or jurisdiction) Voting Securities
in which Owned by
Name . Incorporated Immediate Parent
AAT COTPOration ........ovuuuuree ettt e ceiai s Maryland 100%(a)
AAI Engineering Support, Inc. ... Maryland 100 (b)
AAT/ACL Technologies, Inc. ...........cooiiiiiiii i Maryland 100 (b)
AAI/ACL Technologies Europe Limited .................cooiiiiiiiiinn, Great Britain 100 (c)
AAT Australia Pty Ltd. ... Australia 100 (b)
AAI Romania Technologies, SR.L. ... Romania 100 (b)
Detroit Stoker COMPANY .........cvvueviriiiiiniiiiiiiiiier i, Michigan 100 (a)

(a) Percentage owned by United Industrial Corporation.
(b) Percentage owned by AAI Corporation.
{c) Percentage owned by AAI/ACL Technologies, Inc.

All of the subsidiaries listed above are included in the consolidated financial statements of United.
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EXHIBIT 23

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statement (Form S-8, No. 33-57065)
pertaining to the United Industrial Corporation 401(k) Retirement Savings Plan, in the Registration Statements
(Form S-8, Nos. 333-110619, 333-85819, 33-53911, 333-19517 and 333-59487) pertaining to the United Industrial
Corporation 1994 Stock Option Plan, and in the Registration Statement (Form S-8, No. 333-30103) pertaining to
the United Industrial Corporation 1996 Stock Option Plan for Nonemployee Directors, of our reports dated
March 10, 2004, with respect to the consolidated financial statements of United Industrial Corporation included
in this Annuval Report (Form 10-K) of United Industrial Corporation, and with respect to the financial staternent
schedule included in this Annual Report (Form 10-K). :

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

March 10, 2004
Harrisburg, Pennsylvania
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EXHIBIT 31.1

Certification Pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

I, Frederick M. Strader, certify that:

1. T have reviewed this Annual Report on Form. 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2003 of United Industrial
Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state
a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements
were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly
present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as
of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls
and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to
be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including
its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the
period in which this report is being prepared;

b. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report
our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period
covered by this report based on such evaluation; and '

c. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred
during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual
report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal
control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of
directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over
financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process,
summarize and report financial information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant
role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 12, 2004 , /s/ Frederick M. Strader

Frederick M. Strader
Chief Executive Officer
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EXHIBIT 31.2

Certification Pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

I, James H. Perry, certify that:

1. T have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2003 of United Industrial
Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state
a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements
were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly
present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as
of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls
and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to
be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including
its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the
period in which this report is being prepared;

b. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report
our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period
covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

c. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred
during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual
report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal
control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of
directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over
financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process,
summarize and report financial information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant
role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 12, 2004 /s/ James H. Perry

James H. Perry
Chief Executive Officer
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EXHIBIT 32.1

Certification Pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

1, Frederick M. Strader, as Chief Executive Officer of United Industrial Corporation (the “Company™) certify,
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to my
knowledge:

a. the accompanying Form 10-K Annual Report for the year ended December 31, 2003 as filed with
the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the “Report”) fully complies with the requirements
of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

b. the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial
condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: March 12, 2004 /s/ Frederick M. Strader

Frederick M. Strader
Chief Executive Officer

EXHIBIT 32.2

Certification Pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

1, James H. Perry, as Chief Financial Officer of United Industrial Corporation (the “Company”) certify, pursuant
to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to my knowledge:

a. the accompanying Form 10-K Annual Report for the year ended December 31, 2003 as filed with
the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the “Report”) fully complies with the requirements
of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

b. the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial
condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: March 12, 2004 /s/ James H. Perry

James H. Perry
Chief Financial Officer
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